Tuberculosis challenges: mycobacterial culture confirmation and disease recurrence

Thesis submitted to the University of Leicester for the degree of Doctor of Medicine

by

Dr Andrew Rosser

BSc MBBS, MSc MRCP (Infectious Diseases) FRCPath DMT&H

Department of Infection, Immunity and Inflammation

University of Leicester

August 2018

Abstract

Tuberculosis challenges: mycobacterial culture confirmation and disease recurrence

Andrew Rosser

Background

Tuberculosis (TB) is global pandemic. The ongoing challenges of TB control include inadequate diagnostics and treatment. Culture is the reference standard for laboratory confirmation of disease. However, extrapulmonary TB (EPTB) culture confirmation is low. Successful treatment of TB is compromised by TB recurrence. The epidemiology is poorly characterised in the UK.

Methods

Two studies were conducted. The first, a nested case-control study examined the epidemiology of TB recurrence in Leicester. Cases were identified from the Leicester TB service database (TBIT) and matched to controls on a ratio of one-to-two on date of notification. Multivariate conditional logistic regression examined risk factors for recurrence. The second, a pilot diagnostic study, compared the number of mycobacteria isolated from EPTB samples in the presence or absence of resuscitation promoting factor-containing culture supernatant (CS). Diagnostic performance was assessed by a composite reference standard.

Results

From a cohort of 4628 patients, 82 TB recurrences occurred (1.8%); 84% were relapses and 16% reinfections. On multivariate analysis, smoking (OR 3.8; p=0.04), grade 3-4 adverse drug reactions (OR 5.6; p=0.02), ethnicity 'Indian subcontinent' (OR 8.5; p<0.01), ethnicity 'other' (OR 31.2; p=0.01) and receipt of immunosuppressants (OR 6.8; p<0.01) were independent predictors of TB recurrence.

In 8 of 19 samples, CS-dependent differentially culturable tubercle bacilli (DCTB) were present. The peripheral lymphocyte count (PLC) positively correlated (p=0.04) with CS most probable number assay counts. CS increased culture sensitivity from 36 to 43%; specificity remained at 100%.

Conclusion

Within Leicester, TB recurrence was infrequent, predominantly due to relapse. The identification of an elevated recurrence risk amongst the ethnic group contributing most cases to the national TB burden presents an opportunity to improve individual and population health.

CS may improve culture diagnostic performance although larger studies are required. The PLC represents a candidate biomarker of host CS-DCTB populations.

Declaration

I declare that this thesis has been written by myself and the contents of this thesis are solely my own work except where acknowledgment has been given.

I designed the study entitled "A study of tuberculosis recurrence in Leicester". I codesigned the study entitled "Enhancing the culture of extrapulmonary tuberculosis with resuscitation promoting factor". I obtained ethical approval for both studies. All patients recruited into the latter study were personally seen by me and written informed consent obtained as dictated by study ethics. All clinical samples from patients suspected of having TB were processed by me and I undertook all the laboratory experimentation. All study data was collected personally by me and entered into appropriate databases. I undertook all statistical modelling and analysis with some guidance from the Stata forum (https://www.statalist.org/forums/) and a local statistician (Matthew Richardson). I prepared all manuscripts for published papers arising from this MD thesis and these were edited by my co-authors. During the review process, further edits were suggested by reviewers.

Chapter 1 contains subsections published in two papers arising from this thesis:

- Rosser A et al. Resuscitation-promoting factors are important determinants of the pathophysiology in Mycobacterium tuberculosis infection. Critical Reviews in Microbiology. 2017; 43(5): 621-630
- Rosser A et al. Recurrent tuberculosis in the pre-elimination era. The International Journal of Tuberculosis and Lung Disease. 2018; 22(2): 139-50

Chapter 2 is an expanded version of the work published as: Rosser A et al. A nested casecontrol study of predictors for tuberculosis recurrence in a large UK Centre. BMC Infectious Diseases 2018 18(1):94.

Chapter 3 is an expanded version of the work published as: Rosser A et al. Differentially Culturable Tubercule Bacilli are Generated During Non-Pulmonary Tuberculosis Infection. American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine. 2018; 197(6): 818-82

No part of this thesis has been submitted in any previous application as part of a higher degree.

Andrew Rosser

Acknowledgments

I would like to thank Dr Manish Pareek and Dr Galina Mukamolova, my supervisors, for supporting me through this period of research and providing me with much needed encouragement and guidance.

All the consumables required for my research were very kindly funded by a grant from the Dowager Countess Eleanor Peel Trust. I would particularly like to thank Professor Martin Wiselka and the Clinical Research Department at the University Hospitals of Leicester for supporting my living expenses during my OOPR.

Obolbek Turapov, Sarah Glen, Maria Luisa Crossati and Ben O'Connor helped me develop my laboratory competencies quickly and greatly aided me through my early days in basic science research. Without the clinical staff of the Department of Infection and Tropical Medicine and the Department of Respiratory Medicine at the University Hospitals of Leicester as well the TB nursing service, I could not have recruited as many patients as I did within the time frame of my research. Hemu Patel kindly helped me set up my project in the microbiology laboratory at the Leicester Royal Infirmary and kept my samples safe. Jo Lee was amazingly organised and kept me informed of all patients with presumptive TB. I am appreciative of the clear statistical advice provided to me by Matthew Richardson.

I owe my medical and non-medical colleagues in both the Department of Medical Microbiology and Department of Infection and Tropical Medicine a great debt for the support they provided me during my research time. Particular thanks to Ashna and Linda for ordering medical notes for me.

I would particularly like to thank the patients involved in the extrapulmonary TB study who underwent investigations with the aim of generating research to benefit those who will unfortunately develop TB in the future. Their altruism was inspirational.

Shivantha Rajiv Shunmugarutnam deserves a big thanks for helping me keep focused in the early days of my research.

Finally, but also firstly, thank you to my wife Chris whose help and constant encouragement made me finish the thesis.

Table of Contents

Abstract	2
Declaration	3
Acknowledgments	4
Table of Contents	5
Research output arising directly from this body of work 1	0
List of abbreviations 1	1
List of figures 1	4
List of tables 1	6
Chapter 1. Introduction 1	8
1.1 Epidemiology 1	8
1.1.1 History 1	8
1.1.2 Worldwide epidemiology 1	8
1.1.3 European epidemiology1	9
1.1.4 England epidemiology2	20
1.1.5 East Midlands epidemiology2	21
1.2 The organism	22
1.3 Pathogenesis	23
1.4 Risk factors for TB acquisition and reactivation2	24
1.5 TB and HIV	25
1.6 Clinical features	26
1.7 Diagnosis of tuberculosis	26
1.7.1 Symptomatic screening	26
1.7.2 Microscopy	26
1.7.3 Culture	26
1.7.4 Histology	27
1.7.5 Radiological diagnosis2	27

1.7.6 Molecular diagnostics:	28
1.7.7 Interferon gamma release assays	29
1.7.8 Other diagnostic approaches	29
1.8 TB Treatment	29
1.9 TB recurrence	31
1.9.1 Defining TB recurrence	31
1.9.2 Reinfection and relapse as mechanisms of TB recurrence	31
1.9.3 Molecular genotyping to delineate mechanisms of TB recurrence	32
1.9.4 TB recurrence rates	32
1.9.5 Contribution of relapse and reinfection to the TB recurrence burden	33
1.9.6 Risk factors for TB recurrence	34
1.9.7 Sequelae of tuberculosis recurrence	38
1.9.8 Recurrence and TB control	39
1.10 Background to the project	40
1.11 Thesis aims and objectives	40
Chapter 2: A study of tuberculosis recurrence in Leicester	42
2.1 Introduction	42
2.2 Methods	42
2.2.1 Study setting, design and data source	42
2.2.2 Study population and variables	43
2.2.3 Inclusion and exclusion criteria	43
2.2.4 Definitions	43
2.2.5 Molecular strain typing	45
2.2.6 Epidemiological analysis	46
2.2.7 Statistical analysis	46
2.2.8 Ethical approval	48
2.3 Results	49

2.3.1 Description of study cohort	49
2.3.2 Site of Tuberculosis disease	52
2.3.3 Incidence and duration of recurrence	53
2.3.4 Reinfection versus relapse	55
2.3.5 Drug resistance	56
2.3.6 Factors associated with TB recurrence on conditional logistic regression anal	lysis
	57
2.4 Discussion	60
2.4.1 Recurrence incidence	60
2.4.2 Contribution of relapse and reinfection to recurrence	60
2.4.3 The clinical impact of recurrence	61
2.4.4 Risk factors for TB recurrence	62
2.4.5 Study limitations	64
2.5 Conclusion	66
2.6 Priorities for Further Research	67
Chapter 3: Enhancing the culture of extrapulmonary tuberculosis with resuscitation-	
promoting factor	69
3.1 Introduction	69
3.2 Methods	72
3.2.1 Study setting and design	72
3.2.2 Study definitions	72
3.2.3 Sample storage and processing	73
3.2.4 Mycobacterial growth assays	76
3.2.5 Mycobacterium tuberculosis identification and typing	77
3.2.6 Effect of culture supernatant on clinical sample time-to-positivity determined	1
using a BacTec MGIT 960 system	79
3.2.7 Reference standard and units of analysis	79
3.2.8 Statistical analysis	80

3.2.9 Ethical approval	80
3.3 Results	81
3.3.1 Patient recruitment and study population	81
3.3.2 Assay validation	83
3.3.3 MPN and CFU growth assays	86
3.3.4 The diagnostic impact of culture supernatant supplementation	87
3.3.5 The impact of Rpf-containing CS on MGIT time-to-positivity	88
3.3.6 Measures of bacterial load and their correlation with host factors	89
3.4 Discussion	91
3.4.1 EPTB disease results in CS-DCTB formation	91
3.4.2 Effect of culture supernatant on culture performance	92
3.4.3 Mycobacterium growth indicator tubes	93
3.4.4 Study limitations	94
3.5 Conclusion	95
3.6 Future Directions	96
Chapter 4: Final discussion and conclusions	98
Appendix 1: Multiple imputation diagnostics	100
1.1 Missing data	100
1.1.1 Missing data summary	100
1.1.2 Missing data pattern	101
1.2 Distribution of imputed continuous variables	102
1.3 Multiple Imputation Code	104
1.3.1 Stata command	104
1.3.2. Multiple imputation output	104
1.4. Post imputation analysis	105
1.4.1 Pre and post imputation mean and SD	105
1.4.2 Trace plots	106

1.4.3 Kernel Density Plots	. 108
1.5 Conditional logistic regression diagnostics	. 112
1.5.1 Variance inflation factors	. 112
1.5.2 Table of dropped variables	. 113
Appendix 2: MIRU-VNTR data for case control study	. 114
Appendix 3 Indications for immunosuppression	. 116
Appendix 4: Preparation of freeze dried culture supernatant	. 117
4.1 Culture supernatant production	. 117
4.2 Culture supernatant filtration	. 117
4.3 Freeze drying	. 118
Appendix 5: 24 locus MIRU-VNTR primer sequences by locus	. 119
Appendix 6: 24 locus MIRU-VNTR number of repeats by locus	. 120
Appendix 7: MIRU-VNTR typing of reference laboratory compared to UoL	. 121
Appendix 8: Study isolates MIRU-VNTR typing results	. 122
Appendix 9: Culture positive samples laboratory & processing data	. 123
Appendix 10: Culture negative samples laboratory & processing data	. 125
Appendix 11: Mycobacterial Growth Indicatory Tube Data	. 127
Appendix 12: Verification of ethical status of TB recurrence project	. 128
References	. 129

Research output arising directly from this body of work

Oral presentation:

 Title 'enhancing the culture of extrapulmonary tuberculosis with resuscitation promoting factors' presented at the Acid Fast Club summer meeting, Porton Down, Salisbury, 7-8th of July 2016.

Publications:

- Rosser A, Stover C, Pareek M, Mukamolova GV. Resuscitation-promoting factors are important determinants of the pathophysiology in Mycobacterium tuberculosis infection. Critical Reviews in Microbiology. 2017; 43(5): 621-630. doi: 10.1080/1040841X.2017.1283485. PMID: 28338360
- Rosser A, Pareek M, Turapov O, Wiselka MJ, Mukamolova GV. Differentially Culturable Tubercule Bacilli are Generated During Non-Pulmonary Tuberculosis Infection. American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine. 2018; 197(6): 818-82. doi: 10.1164/rccm.201705-1048LE. PMID: 28880570
- Rosser A, Richardson M, Wiselka MJ, Free RC, Woltmann G, Mukamolova GV, Pareek M. A nested case-control study of predictors for tuberculosis recurrence in a large UK Centre. BMC Infectious Diseases. 2018; 18(1): 94. doi: 10.1186/s12879-017-2933-4. PMID: 29486715
- Rosser A, Marx FM, Pareek M. Recurrent tuberculosis in the pre-elimination era. The International Journal of Tuberculosis and Lung Disease. 2018; 22(2): 139-50. doi: 10.5588/ijtld.17.0590. PMID - 29506610

List of abbreviations

ADC	Albumin Dextrose Catalase
ATT	Anti-tubercular treatment
ART	Anti-retroviral therapy
BCG	Bacillus Calmette–Guérin
CAS	Central African strain
CFU	Colony forming unit
CI	Confidence Interval
CRS	Composite reference standard
CS	Culture supernatant
CSF	Cerebrospinal fluid
CXR	Chest x-ray
DM	Diabetes mellitus
DMARD	Disease modifying anti-rheumatic drug
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
DS-TB	Drug-susceptible TB
EAI	East African / Indian
EBUS	Endobronchial ultrasound
eGFR	Estimated glomerular filtration rate
ELISA	Enzyme linked immunosorbent assay
gDNA	Genomic DNA
HIV	Human immunodeficiency virus
IQR	Interquartile range
LAMP	Loop mediated isothermal amplification

LN	Lymph node
LPA	Line probe assay
LTBI	Latent tuberculosis infection
MDR	Multidrug resistant
MGIT	Mycobacteria growth indicator tube
MIRU-VNTR	Mycobacterial interspersed repetitive unit-variable number of tandem repeat
MODS	Microscopic observation drug susceptibility
MPN	Most probable number
Mtb	Mycobacterium tuberculosis
NAAT	Nucleic acid amplification test
NTM	Non-tuberculous mycobacteria
OADC	Oleic Acid Albumin Dextrose Catalase
OR	Odds ratio
PCR	Polymerase chain reaction
PHE	Public Health England
PLC	Peripheral lymphocyte count
PLWH	People living with HIV
PMM	Predictive mean matching
POC	Point-of-care
Rpf	Resuscitation promoting factor
RR-TB	Rifampicin resistant TB
РҮ	Person years
RFLP	Restriction fragment length polymorphism
SD	Standard deviation
12	

ТВ	Tuberculosis
TBM	TB meningitis
TLA	Thin layer agar
TTP	Time-to-positivity
UHL	University Hospitals of Leicester NHS Trust
UHL-MD	University Hospitals of Leicester NHS Trust Microbiology Department
UK	United Kingdom
UoL	University of Leicester
VIF	Variance inflation factor
WCC	White cell count
WGS	Whole genome sequencing
WHO	World Health Organisation
XDR	Extensively drug-resistant
ZN	Ziehl-Neelsen

List of figures

1.1 Estimated Global TB incidence rates for 2016	19
1.2 TB case notifications and rates for England 2000-2016	21
1.3 TB incidence from 2000-2016 in the East Midlands	22
2.1 Flow diagram of study cases and controls included in the data analysis	50
2.2 Kaplan-Meier curve showing cumulative percentage recurrence in 4628 notified	ed TB
patients	54
3.1 Sample decontamination flow chart	75
3.2 Flow diagram describing patient flow in the study	81
3.3 Concordance demonstrated between the culture cell counts as determined by N CFU assays	/IPN and 83
3.4 A gel showing amplification products from PCRs targeting 16S rRNA & rpoB	
	84
3.5 Example 24 locus MIRU-VNTR gel from patient 36	85
3.6 Mycobacterial subpopulations present in extrapulmonary tuberculosis samples	
	86
A1.1 Missing data summary prior to imputation of missing values	100
A1.2 Pattern of missing data prior to imputation of missing values	101
A1.3 Distribution of data for the variable 'Haemoglobin'	102
A1.4 Distribution of data for the variable 'Weight'	102
A1.5 Distribution of data for the variable 'White Cell Count'	103
A1.6 Distribution of data for the variable 'Creatinine'	103
A1.7 Stata output generated from imputation of variables missing data	104
A1.8 Imputation trace plot for variable 'Creatinine'	106
A1.9 Imputation trace plot for variable 'Haemoglobin'	106

A1.10 Imputation trace plot for variable 'White Cell Count'	107
A1.11 Imputation trace plot for variable 'Weight'	107
A1.12 Kernel Density plot of imputations 1-20 for variable 'Creatinine'	108
A1.13 Kernel Density plot of imputations 1-20 for variable 'Haemoglobin'	109
A1.14 Kernel Density plot of imputations 1-20 for variable 'White Cell Count'	110
A1.15 Kernel Density plot of imputations 1-20 for variable 'Weight'	111
A4.1 Freeze drying machine	118

List of tables

1.1 Risk groups for TB reactivation	24
2.1 Cohort demographics	51
2.2 Site of disease in the primary episode in patients with and without recurrent di	isease
	52
2.3 Change in site of disease between primary and recurrent TB episodes	53
2.4 Incidence rate of TB recurrence by period of follow up after treatment comple	tion
	53
2.5 Sensitivity analysis of the recurrence definition cut off	55
2.6 Demographics of cases of relapse and reinfection	56
2.7 The change in sensitivity profile in recurrence patients with paired isolates	57
2.8 Factors associated with tuberculosis recurrence on conditional logistic regress	ion
	58
2.9 Factors associated with tuberculosis recurrence on conditional logistic regress	ion
(p<0.2 on univariate analysis)	59
3.1 Primer sequences for Mycobacterium tuberculosis identification	78
3.2 Patient baseline characteristics	82
3.3 The impact of Rpf-containing CS on EPTB culture diagnostic performance	87
3.4 The effect of storage conditions on culture diagnostic performance	88
3.5 The effect of culture supernatant supplementation on MGIT time to positivity	
	89
3.6 The correlation of host and bacillary factors to MPN_CS log10 bacterial count	s
	90
A1.1 The pre and imputation mean and standard deviation values	105
A1.2 The variance inflation factors for variables considered for multivariate conditional	
logistic regression analysis	112

A1.3 Variables dropped from the multivariate conditional logistic regression analy	ysis due
to suspected multiple collinearity	113
A2.1 MIRU-VNTR genotyping data of paired isolates	114
A2.2 Remaining MIRU-VNTR genotyping data of paired isolates	115
A3.1 Indications for treatment with immunosuppressants	116
A5.1 MIRU-VNTR forward and reverse primer sequences by locus	119
A6.1 MIRU-VNTR numbers of repeats by locus	120
A7.1 MIRU- VNTR typing for Birmingham reference laboratory compared to Uo	L
	121
A8.1 Results of UoL MIRU-VNTR typing of study isolates	122
A9.1: Culture positive sample data	123
A10.1 Culture negative sample data	125
A11.1 Mycobacterial Growth Indicator Tube information	127

Chapter 1. Introduction

1.1 Epidemiology

1.1.1 History

Tuberculosis (TB) is a disease long a part of human history (1). From the 17th to the early 19th century in both Europe and North America, TB was responsible for 1 in 5 adult deaths (2). Between 1830-1950 the TB epidemic waned, notably this was prior to both the introduction of TB treatment in the 1940s and the routine use of the *Mycobacterium bovis* bacillus Calmette-Guérin (BCG) vaccine in the 1950s (3-5). In industrialised countries, rates continued to fall up to 1985 (6). In some developing countries there was evidence of disease stabilisation but in others such as South Africa, TB remained a significant cause of morbidity and mortality (6, 7).

From the mid-1980s, there was an upsurge in TB incidence in many areas worldwide which lead the World Health Organization (WHO) to declare in 1993 that TB was a global public health emergency (8). One of the principle drivers was emergence of Human Immunodeficiency Virus (HIV) infection (9-11). Other factors implicated in the recrudescence of TB included an increase in migrants from high prevalence to low prevalence areas; population aging; transmission in institutions such as prisons, hospitals and homeless shelters; socio-economic breakdown in areas such as the former Soviet Union and an increase in drug resistance (12).

Following the initiation of the TB control programs in 1995 (see section 1.11) global TB incidence eventually began to fall in 2004 from a peak of circa 170 cases per 100,000 population (1). The reduction in TB incidence from 2000-2016 has averaged 1.4% per year (1).

1.1.2 Worldwide epidemiology

In 2016, approximately 10.4 million people worldwide developed active TB of whom 1.7 million died making TB the top cause of death globally from a single infectious organism (1). Worldwide, a total of 476,774 recurrent ('relapse') cases were notified, representing 7.2% of incident cases (13). 1.2 million of new TB cases were HIV positive, of whom 0.4 million cases died (1). Pulmonary TB (PTB) accounted for 85% of notifications, ranging between 76% in the Eastern Mediterranean Region to 92% in the WHO Western Pacific Region (1). In 2015, 83% of 5.9 million new and retreatment patients were successfully treated (1).

There were approximately 490,000 cases of multidrug resistant (MDR) TB and a further 110,000 patients with rifampicin-resistant TB (RR-TB) who were eligible for MDR-TB treatment in 2016 (1). 47% occurred in China, India and the Russian Federation(1). Of the MDR-TB cases examined for second line drug resistance, 20% were resistant to fluoroquinolones and 6.2% of cases were extensively drug resistant (XDR) TB (1). MDR-TB case detection and treatment coverage was insufficient with 153119 (26%) of MDR-TB cases diagnosed and 129689 (22%) of people enrolled in MDR-TB treatment programs. 8511 people started XDR-TB treatment (1).

Figure 1.1 Estimated Global TB incidence rates for 2016 (1)



1.1.3 European epidemiology

323,000 incident TB cases were reported in the WHO European region in 2015 and an estimated 32,000 died (14). 27.2% of notified cases had been previously treated for TB (14). Since 2006, incidence has fallen on average by 5.4% per year up to 2015 (14). Similarly, mortality has declined 7.4% per year between 2006-2015 (14). There were an estimated 74,000 MDR-TB cases, accounting for 16% of new and 48% of previously treated cases (14). Of the MDR-TB cases undergoing second line phenotypic drug susceptibility testing, 23% were XDR (14). Overall, of those completing TB treatment commenced in 2014, 76.0% were classified as cured or treatment completed (14).

Seventy nine percent of notified cases were classified as PTB with bacteriological confirmation (nucleic acid amplification tests (NAAT) / acid fast bacillus (AFB) smear / culture) achieved in 61.4% of cases (14). 12.4% of cases were notified as EPTB with seven

countries reporting more than 30% of incident cases as EPTB (14). No data on bacteriological confirmation of EPTB was provided (14).

The age and sex distribution of TB varies significantly between European countries (14). Rates in males and females are typically similar until the age of 25 with a male predominance in older age groups (14). Of countries reporting HIV -TB co-infection data, 88.3% TB patients were tested of whom 9.0% were HIV positive (14). Foreign born nationals represent 6.3% of cases notified although in certain countries they represent the majority of notified cases, for example Sweden (89.5%) (14). This disproportionate burden in foreign-born persons in high income countries is likely due to an interaction between immigration from high TB burden countries and the reactivation of remotely acquired latent TB infection (LTBI) in the first five years after arrival in the host country (15).

1.1.4 England epidemiology

5,664 cases of TB were notified in England in 2016 giving an incidence rate of 10.2 per 100,000 population (16). This represents a continuing fall from a peak incidence of 15.6 per 100,000 population in 2011 (see Figure 1.2). 6.5% of notified cases had a previous diagnosis of TB at least 12 months before their current notification (16). 83.4% of people with an expected treatment duration of less than 12 months in 2015 completed treatment and 5.3% died by the last recorded outcome (16).

1,469 TB cases occurred in the UK-born population with a TB incidence rate of 3.2 per 100,000 population, down 10.5% from 2014 (16). 61.7% of cases were from the White ethnic group, 20.3% were South-Asians and 12.8% from Black-ethnic groups (16). Amongst non-white ethnic groups, the TB incidence was three-to-fourteen times higher than the White population (16).

In the non-UK born population, 4,096 cases were notified representing 73.6% of the total TB burden in England (16). The TB incidence in this population was 49.4 per 100,000 population falling from a peak of 100.7 cases per 100,000 population in 2005 (16). The most common countries of birth for foreign born cases included India (24.8% of total non-UK born cases), Pakistan (15.7%), Somalia (5.2%) and Bangladesh (4.4%) (16).

TB predominantly affected males (59.1% of cases) and those between 25-29 years of age (16). 3.8% of cases were co-infected with HIV (2015 data). PTB accounted for 3,041 (53.9%) of cases. Amongst non-UK born cases, 2103 (51.4%) had extrapulmonary TB (EPTB). 76% of PTB and 48% of EPTB were culture confirmed. 59 cases (1.7%) had MDR-TB/ RR-TB and 10 (0.18%) had XDR-TB.



Figure 1.2 TB case notifications and rates for England 2000-2016 (16)

1.1.5 East Midlands epidemiology

In 2016, 342 cases were reported in the East Midlands with an estimated incidence rate of 7.2 per 100000 population (see Figure 1.3) (17). Within the city of Leicester TB rates were 37.3 cases per 100,000 population, a slight increase from 2015 (36.2 cases per 100,000 population) (17). The number of cases in the East Midlands has fallen compared to 2015 (3.9%) however this was lower than the yearly decline from 2012-2015 (10%) (17).

Of cases with a recorded country of birth, 72.0% were non-UK born. Of these, 38.6% were Indian, 9.1% Pakistani and 4.6% from Romania (17). Amongst UK-born, 68.8% of cases were from the White ethnic group and 17.2% were Indian (17). The annual TB incidence in non-UK born was 48.2 cases per 100,000 population, 21 fold higher than that in the UK born population (2.3 per 100,000 population) (17).

TB incidence rates were highest in males (58% of total cases) and those aged 30-39 years old (17). 54.1% of cases had PTB. 78.% of PTB but only 50.3% of EPTB cases were culture confirmed (17). 3.9% of cases had MDR-TB of which 1.5% were XDR (17). 3.8% of cases over 15 years of age were co-infected with HIV (17). 16 (5.2%) of cases were previously diagnosed with TB more than 12 months before their current notification (17). Of the patients diagnosed in 2014 with an expected treatment duration of less than 12 months, 76.5% completed treatment and 5.6% had died by 12 months after treatment initiation (17).



Figure 1.3 TB incidence from 2000-2016 in the East Midlands (17)

1.2 The organism

Mycobacteria are members of the order *Actinomycetales* along with *Rhodococcus*, *Corynebacterium*, and *Nocardia* (18). *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* (*Mtb*) is the member of the *Mtb* complex (MTBC). MTBC is composed of genetically related mycobacterial species which cause TB in discrete hosts (19). *Mtb*, *M. africanum* and *M. cannetti* are human specific pathogens; *M. microtti* infects principally rodents; *M. pinnipedi* seals and sea lions; *M. caprae* goats and sheep; *M. orygis* cows, oryxes, gazelles, rhesus monkeys of South Asian origin and humans; *M. bovis* has an expanded host range including bovids and humans (20, 21).

Mycobacteria are non-motile, non-sporing, Gram positive bacilli with a replication time of 12-24 hours (19). The cell wall is rich in mycolic acids which convey acid fastness, resistance to acidic and alkaline conditions, desiccation and various antibiotics (22). *Mtb* typically respires aerobically utilising carbohydrates however during host infection it switches predominantly to fat metabolism (23). *Mtb* is facultatively intracellular and predominantly infects macrophages during the early stages of infection (24), however *Mtb*

deoxyribonucleic acid (DNA) has been detected in other tissues including adipose tissue, splenic and liver cells (25, 26).

1.3 Pathogenesis

Mtb is transmitted primarily by the inhalation of aerosols measuring less than 5 μ m in diameter containing viable bacilli (27). Upon reaching the alveoli, *Mtb* is phagocytosed by resident macrophages and dendritic cells (28). Innate lymphoid cells produce interleukin-17 & interferon γ (IFN γ) and may provide protection against *Mtb* infection (29). Neutrophils are abundant during infection and play a role in restricting early *Mtb* growth (30, 31). Despite internalisation, *Mtb* can continue to replicate within the cell (32)

Favourable outcomes to Mtb infection require a fine balance of innate and adaptive immune responses (33). Following initial infection, myeloid cells sense Mtb through cell surface receptors producing chemokines leading the further cellular recruitment and IL-10 production which limits macrophage responses to Mtb (28). Myeloid cells help initiate an adaptive immune response by facilitating CD4 T helper₁ (TH₁) and T helper₁₇ (TH₁₇) differentiation (28). TH₁ cells promote inflammatory cell recruitment and enhancing macrophage killing of Mtb (28, 34, 35). TH₁₇ cells have a central role in protective immunity to Mtb, particularly in the early stages of infection (36-38). Macrophages and Tcells are key to granuloma formation which ultimately controls the primary infection in most patients but in 90% of cases fails to kill Mtb bacilli and provides a sanctuary site for non-replicating bacilli to latently infect the host, known as latent TB infection (LTBI). (28, 39, 40). At present, the physiological status of these bacilli is unknown, however it is hypothesised that conditions within the granulomas may vary leading to heterogeneous populations consisting of replicating and non-replicating cells (41, 42). Differential killing of Mtb at the onset of adaptive immunity may lead to the formation of heterogeneous lesions, some of which may be sterilised whilst others may progress to maximum bacillary load (43). In approximately 5% of newly infected cases, there is rapid progression to active TB within 2 years (44).

Although patients with LTBI are a clinically homogenous group lacking any signs or symptoms of active TB, it is thought that LTBI is in fact a range of infection states ranging from a sterilizing host immune response to subclinical active infection at high risk of reactivation (45). It is hypothesized that the immune system hinders bacterial replication and if this is upset by factors such as immunosuppression due to diabetes mellitus, HIV or malnutrition, then bacillary replication resumes leading to reactivation and clinical disease.

(42, 46). The mechanism(s) by which bacillary replication resumes are as yet unresolved but may involve cell wall alterations by enzymes called resuscitation promoting factors (Rpf) (47).

Risk factor	TB relative risk (vs. gen population)	Reference
Advanced HIV infection	9.9	(48)
TNFα blocker therapy	1.6-25.1	(49)
Silicosis	2.8	(50)
Immigrants from high TB incidence countries	2.9-5.3	(51)
Poorly controlled diabetes mellitus	1.7	(48)
Chronic renal failure	2.4	(48)
Healthcare workers	2.5	(52)
Tobacco smoking	2-3.4	(53-55)

Table 1.1 Risk groups for TB reactivation

Abbreviation: TNF α - tumour necrosis factor α

Rpfs are a family of bacterial proteins, able to resuscitate non-replicating bacteria that were discovered in *Micrococcus luteus* which possesses a single *rpf* gene (56). Studies of sputum using most probable number (MPN) and colony forming unit (CFU) assays have revealed the presence of *Mtb* populations with different cultivation requirements including those growing on solid agar; those growing in 7H9 liquid medium; those only revealed in 7H9 liquid medium supplemented with Rpf-containing culture supernatant (CS) and Rpf-deficient CS respectively (57, 58). These populations are collectively termed differentially culturable tubercle bacilli (DCTB) (58, 59). The physiology of Rpf and the clinical, diagnostic and treatment implications of DCTB are discussed in section 3.1.

1.4 Risk factors for TB acquisition and reactivation

The risk factors for developing TB can be divided into those for acquiring infection and those for progression to active disease (44).

Various factors combine to determine risk of acquiring infection following exposure including the proximity and duration of contact (60-62), infectiousness of the individual case such as smear positivity (63) and behavioural factors such as smoking, alcohol use and indoor pollution (44).

The lifetime risk of latent TB reactivation is approximately 10% (64-66), although may be significantly higher in specific risk groups (see Table 1.1).

1.5 TB and HIV

Approximately 36.7 million people were infected with HIV at the end of 2016, of whom 19.5 million were accessing antiretroviral therapy (ART) (67). 1.2 million people living with HIV (PLWH) developed TB in 2015 of whom 0.4 million died (1).

HIV impacts the natural history of TB in numerous ways: it increases the risk of progression from primary infection to disease (68); in those with LTBI, the risk of reactivation is increased from an approximate 8-10% lifetime risk to about a 10% per year risk (69); HIV elevates the risk of recurrence due to reinfection (70) (see section 1.10 for further information).

HIV predominantly targets activated Thelper₁ (TH₁) cells using CD4 as the main receptor and chemokine receptors CCR5 or CXCR4 as co-receptors (71). HIV infection reduces TH₁ cells counts through both cellular destruction and lower proliferation (72). Since, TH₁ cells are central to the control of *Mtb* infection, HIV has a deleterious effect on the host immune control of *Mtb* (73). This occurs shortly after HIV seroconversion (74), correlating with the rapid loss of *Mtb* specific TH₁ cells (75). As TH₁ cells counts decline, the risk of TB increases in a stepwise fashion (76). Those with CD4 counts <100 cells mm⁻³ are at ten times the risk of TB compared to those with \geq 500 cells mm⁻³ (77).

At CD4 counts >350 cells mm⁻³, TB presentations are similar to those patients without HIV (78). HIV positive patients are more likely to be AFB smear negative compared to HIV negative (79). At lower CD4 counts, PTB still predominates (78), however there is an increasing proportion of extrapulmonary disease (80), the risk of which is inversely proportional to the CD4 count (81). At CD4 counts < 200 cells mm⁻³, TB patients may have atypical chest x-ray (CXR) signs such as middle / lower lobe infiltrates, pleural effusion, fewer cavitations or even a normal CXR (69, 82). Below CD4 counts of 75 cells mm⁻³, pulmonary findings may be absent and miliary TB characterised by multiple organ involvement and mycobacteraemia is more common (65). Asymptomatic subclinical tuberculosis with negative AFB-smear sputum microscopy and CXR but with positive TB culture is common for HIV-associated TB and may constitute 10% of the total TB burden in endemic areas (83, 84).

In patients without active TB, commencing antiretroviral therapy (ART) reduces the risk of progression to active TB (85). In those with active TB, prompt ART initiation reduces mortality, particularly at lower CD4 counts(86, 87).

1.6 Clinical features

TB is classified by site of disease. PTB is defined by involvement of the lung parenchyma and/or tracheobronchial tree whilst EPTB affects any tissues or organs outside the lungs (88). Classical PTB presents with a collection of symptoms including chronic cough, shortness of breath, expectoration, haemoptysis, night sweats, fever and weight loss (65). The symptoms of EPTB depend upon the site affected, most commonly lymph nodes or lung pleura (82). Patients with LTBI lack any clinical and /or radiological signs of disease (89).

1.7 Diagnosis of tuberculosis

1.7.1 Symptomatic screening

Patients presenting with a cough persistent for more than two to three weeks with/without compatible signs and/or symptoms should be suspected of having TB (90). Symptomatic screening for TB is a simple low-cost method to identify patients requiring further investigation with a CXR, sputum smear microscopy and/or culture where available (91).

1.7.2 Microscopy

Clinical samples may be stained for the presence of AFBs by Ziehl-Neelsen (ZN) or fluorescence auramine phenol methods (92). These methods are cheap, quick, easy-to-use and suitable for low resource settings (93), also identifying those patients who are the most infectious (94). As ZN AFB-smear microscopy has a detection limit of 10,000 cells ml⁻¹, the diagnostic performance for expectorated sputum is low with a sensitivity between 34-80% (95). The sensitivity for EPTB specimens ranges between 0-40% (96).

1.7.3 Culture

Culture is the laboratory standard method for the confirmation of *Mtb* infection (97). It is commonly performed using both solid and liquid modalities (92). Solid culture conventionally uses egg based media such Löwenstein-Jensen (LJ) medium (92, 98). Automated liquid culture methods such as the BacTecTM MGITTM 960 system detect mycobacterial growth by measuring oxygen consumption or CO₂ production (92). Culture is inherently slow with on average a primary culture taking 2-4 weeks and antibiotic susceptibility another 2-4 weeks, totalling 4-8 weeks for organism identification and phenotypic susceptibility testing (99, 100). Cultures of *Mtb* require 10-100 bacilli ml⁻¹ to become positive (98, 101), exhibiting a sensitivity of 80-93% and specificity of 98% (101, 102). Sample type can influence sensitivity, for example, one study found gastric aspirates were superior to induced sputum in children (103). The diagnostic performance of EPTB culture is lower with sensitivities of 30-80% (104). Reasons for lower EPTB culture sensitivity include the irregular distribution of mycobacteria through the sample, its paucibacillary nature and the lack of an efficient processing technique applicable to all EPTB samples (105).

Using novel approaches, culture can be accelerated whilst maintaining sensitivity. Thin layer agar (TLA) or microscopic observation drug susceptibility (MODS) are quicker than regular culture, inexpensive and accurate (106), although they require specialised laboratory settings (107). One research group has shown that the optimisation of media, atmospheric conditions and bacterial identification through autofluoresence can reduce detection time to 72 hours although this was very labour intensive and was conducted in a well-equipped research laboratory (108). Other authors found that *Mtb* can occasionally be recovered from otherwise culture negative samples by supplementing standard liquid 7H9 culture medium with Rpf-containing CS or recombinant Rpf and can improve time-to-positivity (TTP) of sputum samples cultured in mycobacterium growth indicator tubes (MGIT) (57, 58, 109). However, at present, Rpf are unstable and difficult to produce (57). Currently, no study has evaluated the effect of Rpf supplementation on culture diagnostic performance.

1.7.4 Histology

Histological examination is frequently used for EPTB diagnosis (96). Characteristic appearances include granulomatous inflammation with or without caseation and Langerhans cells (110). Sensitivity ranges between 90-100% although specificity is frequently lower (111-114), as conditions including non-tuberculosis mycobacteria (NTM) infection and sarcoidosis have overlapping histological appearances (96, 110, 115).

1.7.5 Radiological diagnosis

CXR is the initial imaging modality for patients with presumptive TB (101). Although highly sensitive, CXR interpretation is beset by poor specificity and observer inconsistency (116). CXRs may be normal in patients with PTB (117). Computed tomography (CT) of the thorax is an effective diagnostic approach when CXRs are unremarkable providing information on disease activity such as 'tree-in-bud' appearance, consolidation and cavitation (118). However these signs are not restricted to PTB and microbiological evaluation is still required (118).

Radiological imaging is used to investigate EPTB providing radiographic evidence of disease. CT is favoured for lymphadenitis and abdominal TB whilst magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) is preferred for central nervous system (CNS) and musculoskeletal TB (119).

1.7.6 Molecular diagnostics:

Line probe assays (LPAs) are endorsed by the WHO for the detection of drug resistance (1). DNA is extracted from patient specimens or culture isolates; specific regions of DNA are amplified by PCR and amplification products hybridised with probes which detect specific resistance associated mutations (120). First line LPAs detect rifampicin and isoniazid resistance and second line LPAs fluoroquinolone and injectable drug resistance (1). LPAs are rapid but are unable to detect all resistance associated mutations (120).

Xpert[®] MTB/RIF (Cepheid, Sunnyvale, California, USA) is an automated, simple-touse, cartridge based NAAT platform that detects *Mtb* directly from clinical samples providing a rifampicin resistance profile within 2 hours (121). It is suitable for point-ofcare (POC) testing in low resource settings (122). A Cochrane review of Xpert[®] MTB/RIF use in adults with PTB showed pooled sensitivity for AFB smear positive patients was 89% and specificity 99% and 67% and 99% in AFB smear negative cases. For rifampicin resistance detection, pooled sensitivity was 95% and specificity 98%, although culture and phenotypic susceptibility testing is still recommended (123).NAATs exhibit several deficiencies including the inability to detect antibiotic resistant subpopulations of *Mtb* present in a larger sensitive population (heteroresistance) (124) and the inability to distinguish live from dead bacilli precluding their use to monitor treatment responses (118).

The performance of Xpert[®] MTB/RIF in EPTB varies by sample type. A recent metaanalysis concluded that sensitivity when compared to culture in lymph node samples was 81% and 83% for TB meningitis (TBM) although only 46% for pleural TB. This fell to 81%, 63% and 21% respectively when compared to a composite reference standard (CRS) (125). The WHO recommend Xpert[®] MTB/RIF as the initial diagnostic test for TBM (121).

Xpert[®] MTB/RIF Ultra is a redesign of Xpert[®] MTB/RIF with the aim of improving sensitivity in patients with paucibacillary disease or HIV (126). The new assay exhibits a 1

log₁₀ lower limit of detection (15.6 vs. 112.6 CFU/ml) (127). Using culture as the gold standard, sensitivity compared to Xpert[®] MTB/RIF was 78.9% vs. 66.1% for smear-negative disease and 97.8% vs 98.9% for smear positive disease (127). Performance in the detection of rifampicin resistance was equal (127).

A loop mediated isothermal amplification (LAMP) assay was approved by the WHO as replacement for AFB smear microscopy in patients at low risk of MDR-TB (1). The LAMP assay can be read visually within one hour and requires little infrastructure useful for operation in low resource settings (1, 128)

In most settings, the susceptibility of *Mtb* isolates is determined phenotypically, where the growth or metabolic activity of the isolate is evaluated in the presence of antituberculous drugs (129). Whole genome sequencing (WGS) of isolates provides substantial information including the genotypic prediction of drug resistance from known resistance associated loci and the characterisation of *Mtb* DNA strain-type patterns (130). Previously a research tool, implementation in the clinical diagnostic microbiology laboratory is considered feasible (131)

1.7.7 Interferon gamma release assays

Current commercial IFNγ release assays (IGRAs) include QuantiFERON[®] TB Gold produced by Qiagen and T-SPOT[®] produced by Oxford Immunotec. IGRAs quantify the *ex-vivo* cellular immune response to culture filtrate protein 10kDa (CFP-10) and ESAT-6 (132). They are primarily used for the diagnosis of latent TB infection (LTBI) and are unsuitable to rule in or rule out active TB using whole blood or extra-sanguineous fluids (133). Unlike the tuberculin skin test, IGRAs are unaffected by BCG vaccination status, however they are at most 80% sensitive and cannot discriminate patients at high risk of progression to active TB (132, 134).

1.7.8 Other diagnostic approaches

Adenosine deaminase is a biomarker used for TB in pericardial, pleural, ascitic and cerebrospinal fluid (104). It exhibits varied sensitivity and specificity depending on the cut off chosen (104).

1.8 TB Treatment

Patients with LTBI who are at increased risk of developing active disease require treatment (65) including PLWH, house hold contacts of PTB cases, those receiving anti-TNF therapies, organ transplants, silicosis and end stage renal disease (135). LTBI treatment has

a low incidence of adverse side effects and reduces disease reactivation by 69% (136). Current UK treatment options include 6 months of isoniazid (preferred in PWLH) or 3 months of isoniazid and rifampicin (137).

The standard regimen in the UK for drug susceptible tuberculosis (DS-TB) is two months of rifampicin, isoniazid, pyrazinamide and ethambutol followed by a continuation phase of 4 months of rifampicin and isoniazid (137). This is extended to 10 months in cases of CNS involvement (137). The standard regimen attains a 95% cure rate under clinical trial conditions and 90% under programmatic conditions (65). Unfortunately, a proportion of apparently successfully treated patients will develop recurrent TB either due to endogenous reactivation (relapse) or exogenous reinfection, which is largely influenced by the effectiveness of local TB treatment and control programs (138).

Treatment guidelines for RR-TB/MDR-TB were updated by the WHO in 2016 (139). Patients with PTB who have not been previously treated with second line drugs, in whom resistance to fluoroquinolones and second line injectables (amikacin, kanamycin or capreomycin) is considered unlikely may be treated with a 9-12 month shorter regimen (139). Patients infected with *Mtb* resistant to components of the shorter regimen, who are pregnant or with EPTB should be treated with the standard longer regimen (139). The longer regimen consists of five active TB drugs including pyrazinamide, a fluoroquinolone, a second line injectable agent and two other drugs such as ethionamide, cycloserine, linezolid or clofazimine with a total treatment duration of 20 months (139). Regimens are optimised following phenotypic drug susceptibility testing (65). XDR TB is more difficult to treat although cure rates of over 80% have been reported (140). New drugs including pretomanid and sutezolid, which are currently being assessed in clinical trials, may improve XDR-TB cure rates (1).

1.9 TB recurrence

1.9.1 Defining TB recurrence

The WHO defines TB 'relapse' (recurrence) as 'relapse patients that have been previously treated for TB, were declared cured or treatment completed at the end of their most recent course of treatment and are diagnosed with a recurrent episode of TB (either a true relapse or a new episode of TB caused by reinfection' (88). However, in practice, the definition of recurrent TB employed varies significantly between studies. For example, the recurrent episode may be defined by: bacteriological confirmation of recurrent disease (141); histological/radiological/clinical evidence of recurrent disease with a compatible response to TB treatment (142, 143); reinitiation of TB treatment by a physician(144); renotification of disease to public health authorities (145). Similarly, studies differ in the length of time that must have passed after the 1st episode before a 2nd episode can be defined as recurrence rather than treatment failure. In some studies, it is at least 3 months(146) or 12 months(147) after treatment completion whereas others count recurrences occurring the first day after treatment finished (148).

At present, despite the publishing of the WHO definition of TB recurrence (88), there is no international consensus definition, thus authors continue to define recurrence differently and heterogeneity persists between studies. This introduces bias the estimation of recurrence rates and hinders comparison between settings (138, 149)

1.9.2 Reinfection and relapse as mechanisms of TB recurrence

Recurrent TB is composed of two distinct although clinically indistinguishable pathological processes, reinfection and relapse (150, 151). Relapse occurs when patients fail eliminate residual *Mtb* bacilli during treatment which subsequently reactivate possibly after many years to cause a second episode of TB and those with reinfection exogenously acquire infection with a new strain of TB (151).

Debate about whether reinfection or relapse is the primary mechanism of recurrence has taken place over the last few decades. Stead proposed in the 1960s the 'unitary concept of pathogenesis' which stated that TB commences with a primary infection and subsequent bouts of active TB are due to the reactivation of dormant bacilli (152). However, others considered exogenous reinfection to play a significant pathogenic role (153, 154). Through the use of molecular genotyping techniques, it has become clear that both processes contribute to the recurrence of TB within a population (70, 141, 144, 147, 148, 155-173).

1.9.3 Molecular genotyping to delineate mechanisms of TB recurrence

A number of molecular genotyping techniques have been developed which generate straintype DNA patterns for individual isolates. Methods include IS6110 restriction fragment length polymorphism (RFLP) typing (155), spoligotyping (174), mycobacterial interspersed repetitive unit variable number of tandem repeat (MIRU-VNTR) typing (161), and WGS (161).

Comparison of the strain-type DNA patterns generated by these methods is used to differentiate reinfection from relapse (138). Where patterns are indistinguishable, this is considered to be a case of relapse and where they differ, a case of reinfection. Studies (excluding WGS) differ in their definition of reinfection by 1(168), 2(160) or even 3(167) band differences, the cut off set to allow for errors in genotyping methods and strain evolution within the host (175). WGS determines the genetic distance between strains by calculating the number of single nucleotide polymorphisms, with values of $\leq 6(161)$ and ≤ 10 (176) defining relapse and ≥ 1306 (161) and >100 (176) reinfection in two studies. Of the current methods available, WGS is best able to resolve relapse and reinfection with other methods frequently generating inconsistent results (161).

There are limitations to using differences in strain type patterns between episodes to delineate mechanisms of recurrence. For example, reinfection may be misclassified as relapse where population strain diversity is low or individuals are repeatedly infected from the same source case and relapse misclassified as reinfection due to strain evolution, mixed infection or laboratory cross-contamination (175).

1.9.4 TB recurrence rates

Patients with DS-TB who adhere to the standard four drug course in the clinical trial setting experience recurrence rates of 1-2% by 24 months after treatment completion (177). Outside of clinical trials, proportions vary significantly. For example, Dobbler et al report 0.5% of patients developed TB recurrence in an Australian study that ran over 13 years (178) whereas Li et al reported that 16.7% of patients had recurrent TB in a Chinese study run over a 5 years (179). The level of TB recurrence is also described by the incidence rate represented in person years of follow up (PYs). Rates quoted in studies range between 0.34 to 10.3 per 100 PYs (147, 158). This variability stems from differences in the local epidemiology of recurrence as well as differences in recurrence definitions used (149).

Within the UK setting, data describing the level of TB recurrence is limited (180). Public Health England (PHE) Annual TB reports from 2010-2016 state that 6-7% of patients notified with TB have had a previous episode of TB more than 12 months before their current notification. Published studies examining TB recurrence in various UK settings show lower proportions of recurrence. For example, Crofts et al examined TB notifications in England and Wales for the period 1998-2005 and found 1.4% of patients developed recurrent TB (145). Two other studies examined TB notifications in Blackburn between 1978-1987 and in Northwick Park Hospital between 2002-2013 and found TB recurrence proportions of 3.1% (143) and 0.4% (180) respectively. Thus, the current understanding of TB recurrence rates in the UK is principally derived from TB notification data. The discrepancies between Annual TB reports and published data as well as the inability to check the veracity of notification data call into question the accuracy of this data and indicates the need for further well conducted studies.

1.9.5 Contribution of relapse and reinfection to the TB recurrence burden

The relative proportion of TB recurrence due to relapse and reinfection varies significantly between studies. Where the TB incidence is less than 20 per 100,000 population, the proportion of reinfection is low including: 16% in the Netherlands (163); 23% in Italy (181); 26% in Denmark (167); 4-31% in the USA(144, 160, 168, 173). Where TB incidences are between 20-50 cases per 100,000 population, the reinfection level was: 23% in Spain (182); 25% in Iran (183); 44% in Gran Canaria (164). Where TB incidences are higher than 50 cases per 100,000 population, the reinfection proportion was: 18% in Uganda (169); 31% in India (155); 31% Brazil (184), 33% in Malawi (166); 35-77% in South Africa (157, 158, 162, 165, 172); 53% in Taiwan (141). Several factors account for these differences including the level of TB incidence, which when higher, raises the likelihood of TB transmission and thus reinfection (141). Additionally, HIV is a known risk factor for reinfection (70, 144, 158, 159, 166, 185), thus population differences in HIV prevalence may affect reinfection rates (141). Finally, where the length of follow up or observation time is longer, the proportion of reinfection rises as relapse rates are higher closer to the end of treatment whereas the reinfection risk is constant over time (138).

At present, there is no published data detailing the relative contribution of relapse and exogenous reinfection to TB recurrence in the UK. This information is important to more precisely direct TB control and prevention efforts at a local level (169).

1.9.6 Risk factors for TB recurrence

The risk factors for recurrent TB are categorised into host and bacillary risk factors after non-MDR-TB treatment. The risk factors among individuals who completed an episode of MDR-TB treatment are also presented.

1.9.6.1 Socio-demographic

There is some but inconsistent evidence about an association between age and recurrent TB. Crofts et al found that children between 0-14 years of age were at lower risk of recurrence compared to 15-44 year-olds (145); Goswami et al demonstrated that patients aged 20-45 years of age were at greater risk than those under 20 years (186); Golub et al reported that those aged 40-49 years were at lower risk compared to those under 30 (187); Kim et al showed that patients aged 65 years or older were at greater risk than those under 45 years (188).

Male gender is a strong independent predictor of TB recurrence. Hung et al found that males were twice as likely to experience recurrence than females and Millett et al found that males experienced up to four times higher risk (189, 190). The former suggested the observed association between male gender and recurrence may be due to residual confounding of other risk factors more prevalent in men such as smoking (190).

Low socioeconomic status is reported as a significant risk factor for recurrence. In a nationwide study conducted in Taiwan, individuals earning less than New Taiwan (NT)\$19200 (US\$605) a month were found to be at elevated risk of recurrent TB compared to those earning NT\$30,300 (US\$954) or more a month (190). Other socio-economic determinants including unemployment (173, 191), homelessness (192), use of public transport (173) and inner city residence (147) were independently associated with recurrent TB.

Foreign country of birth and immigration are associated with TB recurrence across a range of studies (160, 189, 193). Migrants to Spain were at elevated risk compared to the native population (189). Among Mexican immigrants in the USA who experienced two consecutive episodes of TB within 12 years of immigration reinfection was a more common cause of recurrence than reactivation compared to native residents (160). Conversely, in a study conducted in California, individuals born in the USA were found to be at greater risk of recurrence than those elsewhere (193).

Particular ethnic groups are at elevated risk of recurrence. These included indigenous groups vs. non-indigenous in Taiwan (194); South Asians (Indians, Bangladeshis and

Pakistanis) in the UK compared to the white population (145), and non-Hispanic white ethnicity vs. non-white ethnicities in the USA (144, 195).

1.9.6.2 Co-morbidities

HIV type-1 infection is consistently associated with recurrence across high and low burden settings (145, 147, 162, 171, 173, 188, 193, 196-198). Several studies demonstrate that HIV infection is associated with recurrence due to reinfection but not relapse (70, 144, 158, 159, 166, 185) although not all studies could confirm this result (168, 169, 181). The degree of immunosuppression as measured by the peripheral CD4 lymphocyte count is inversely associated with recurrence risk. Golub et al found that a CD4 count of between 200-349 cells mm⁻³ measured during the initial TB diagnosis was associated with a lower risk of recurrence compared to patients with counts of less than 200 cells mm⁻³ (187). Similarly Pulido et al found a CD4 count of less than 100 cells mm⁻³ were at greater risk compared to those with higher counts (199). Two studies found no association between CD4 count and recurrence risk (158, 197).

The impact of antiretroviral therapy (ART) on TB recurrence was examined by Golub et al who showed a lower likelihood of recurrence (187). This was supported by a metaanalysis of 7 papers by Khan et al who showed patients not on ART were at greater risk of subsequent relapse (200). The relationship between duration of the initial TB treatment episode and the risk of recurrence in HIV positive patients was examined by in several cohort studies. Receiving more than 37 weeks of TB treatment was associated with a lower recurrence risk (196, 199) compared to shorter durations. Similarly, 12 months of TB treatment vs. 6 months was associated with lower rate of recurrence (1.9% vs. 9.0% p=<0.01) (201). These three studies predated the widespread use of ART. Likewise, Nahid et al showed the extension of the standard 6-month TB treatment course was associated with a reduced risk of recurrence in a cohort where 47% of patients had received no ART (170).

Diabetes mellitus is independently associated with TB recurrence (190, 191, 194). Only Lee et al. explored the degree to which blood sugar control (as measured through glycated haemoglobin) affected recurrence risk. They found that patients with no measurement of glycated haemoglobin were at higher risk of recurrence compared to those with at least one measurement and suggested better glycaemic control through better adherence to diabetes care and improved glucose monitoring may explain their findings (194).

Low peripheral blood haemoglobin levels were an independent predictor of TB recurrence in a study conducted in Uganda with patients with concentrations less than 12g/dl at greater risk compared to those with higher values (169).

Chronic lung disease (CLD) was independently associated with TB recurrence(144, 190). Hung et al found this risk was independent of smoking status (190) whereas Pettit et al found significant interaction between CLD and smoking (144).

Low Vitamin D levels were identified as a risk factor for recurrent TB in one study. Those patients with serum levels <75nmol/L were at greater risk than those with higher levels although no association was in patients with levels <50nmol/L when compared to higher values(202).

Several life-style factors are associated with recurrent TB. Patients who habitually smoke are at greater risk of TB recurrence (203). This was quantified in one study who demonstrated that those who smoke more than 20 cigarettes a day are more likely to experience TB recurrence than those smoking less than 20 a day (191). A combined history of alcohol/injecting drug/non-injecting drug use (188), alcoholism (204) and intravenous drug use (189) are independently associated with recurrent TB.

1.9.6.3 Clinical factors and extent of disease

Bodyweight measured at TB treatment initiation and failure to gain weight during TB treatment are reported to be associated with TB recurrence. One study found that patients of 50-69kg were at lower risk than those under 50kg (194), whilst another demonstrated that weight loss at the time of diagnosis of more than 10% (compared to less than 10%) was associated with recurrent TB (191). Furthermore, the failure to gain more than 5% of bodyweight within the first two months of TB treatment was independently associated in both studies (191, 205).

The presence of pre-treatment pulmonary cavitation as assessed by CXR is associated with TB recurrence (191, 206, 207). In two studies employing genotyping, relapse was described as the underlying mechanism in this association (158, 167). Residual cavitation at the end of therapy is also a risk factor for relapse (158). Post treatment scarring increased the risk of recurrence in one study when three or more predefined vertical zones on a CXR were involved compared to no zones (198).

Site of disease is an important determinant of TB recurrence risk. In one study, compared to patients with PTB, those with EPTB sited in lymph nodes, lung pleura and 2
more or more sites were at lower risk of recurrence (145). In those patients with PTB and concomitant EPTB, the risk of recurrence was elevated (146, 206).

1.9.6.4 Treatment supervision and adherence

Low adherence to the standard 6-month course of TB-treatment and irregular treatment increases the risk of TB recurrence (208). Anaam et al. showed an association between failure to take >80% of prescribed doses in the continuation phase of TB treatment (191) and the risk of recurrence. Thrice weekly dosing compared to daily dosing is also associated with an increased recurrence risk (206). The relationship between supervised (vs. self-administered) therapy and the risk of recurrence was assessed by two studies. El-sahly et al found supervised therapy was associated with a lower recurrence risk (173) whereas Kim et al. found no such association (188).

1.9.6.5 Bacillary risk factors

Infection with specific *Mtb* strains is associated with TB recurrence. A study conducted in Vietnam identified infection with the Beijing strain was associated with an increased risk (209). Similarly, Burman et al found that those infected with the Beijing strain were at greater risk of relapse in a study (195). This finding was limited to individuals of the Asian-Pacific Islander race who were resident in the USA or Canada. A study conducted in Malawi demonstrated increased relapse risk due to the East African Indian (EAI) / Central Asian strain (CAS) (159). Interestingly, they undertook a genome wide association analysis and found no genomic variants significantly associated with relapse.

Pre-treatment drug resistance appears to increase the likelihood of TB recurrence. Isoniazid mono-resistance was inconsistently associated with recurrence risk. Guerra-Assunção et al found an elevated risk of relapse (159) whereas Pascopella et al found a reduced risk of recurrence (193). The authors for the latter study suggested this finding may be due to (intended) intensified or extended TB treatment in patients with known mono-resistance (193). Pyrazinamide mono-resistance was also associated with TB recurrence (193).

Pre-treatment sputum smear-positive compared to smear-negative TB increases the likelihood of TB recurrence (188, 192, 193). Furthermore, a lack of culture conversion after two months of TB treatment is associated with recurrent TB (195). When assessed by meta-analysis, sputum AFB-smear positivity at 2-months of treatment had a sensitivity of 24% (95% confidence interval (CI) 12-42%) and specificity of 83% (95%CI 72-90%) to

predict recurrence. Similarly, 2-month culture positivity displayed a sensitivity of 40% (95%CI 25-56%) and specificity of 85% (95%CI 77-91%) (210).

1.9.6.6 Risk factors in multidrug- and extensively drug-resistant TB cohorts

Few studies examined risk factors for TB recurrence amongst patients with MDR-TB and extensively drug-resistant (XDR) TB in low-burden settings. Among successfully treated MDR-TB patients, pre-XDR and XDR resistance profiles (211), pre-treatment pulmonary cavitation as seen on CXR(211), diabetes mellitus (212) and previous TB treatment (213) were reported to be associated with the risk of TB recurrence.

1.9.6.7 Risk factors present in the UK population

At present, the understanding of risk factors for TB recurrence in the UK is solely derived from a study by Crofts et al (145). They found that HIV co-infection and South Asian ethnicity independently increased the risk of TB recurrence whilst individuals aged 0-14 years or over 65 years were at lower risk (145). This study was derived from notifications of TB cases to the UK enhanced TB surveillance system which at that time collected a limited number of data points (145). They were therefore unable to examine many relevant factors which may predispose to TB recurrence within the UK population, to control for confounding or to check the accuracy of notification data to minimize information bias. Therefore, the risk factors for TB recurrence remain poorly characterised in the UK. This information is needed to identify susceptible groups so enabling medical and public health inventions to be optimally focused (189, 214).

1.9.7 Sequelae of tuberculosis recurrence

Recurrent TB has significant patient and public health implications. On a patient level, individuals diagnosed with recurrent TB may have more extensive pulmonary disease (215) and develop chronic airflow limitation (216). Patients also experience poorer outcomes, for example recurrent TB is associated with lower cure rates (217), an increased likelihood of default (218) and higher mortality (219) than the treatment of new TB.

On a public health level, patients with recurrent TB experience higher levels of drug resistant disease (220). For example, in a study in New York 27% of patients with recurrent TB accrued resistance to additional drugs compared to their first episode of TB (196). This has financial implications for the healthcare system as the treatment of drug resistant TB is expensive compared to drug sensitive disease (221). Furthermore, recurrent TB contributes towards ongoing transmission of *Mtb* (222). For example, in a study

conducted in Cape Town, South Africa den Boon et al reported that previously treated patients made up 56% of smear positive TB cases (223). However, at present, the precise contribution which recurrent TB makes to overall TB transmission is unknown.

Presently, the public health and patient impacts of recurrent TB in the UK are unknown, information crucial to determining whether recurrent TB is a public health priority and should be included as part of a comprehensive TB control strategy.

1.9.8 Recurrence and TB control

One indicator of the effectiveness of a TB control program is the TB recurrence rate (145, 147, 171, 180). Increases above expected levels highlight the need to strengthen core elements of the TB control strategy, namely the effective detection and treatment of TB cases (138, 193). Active detection ensures that infectious cases are promptly identified and treated so minimising transmission (172, 224), although whether this is superior to passive case finding is uncertain (225). Furthermore, ensuring patients are effectively treated reduces recurrence due to relapse, so minimising transmission which consequently decreases recurrence due to reinfection (138).

Understanding the local epidemiology of TB recurrence is crucial to intervening effectively as relapse and reinfection are optimally tackled through specific interventions. In settings where reinfection is the predominant cause of recurrence, measures must be targeted to interrupt transmission (162). These may include infection control interventions in clinical and community settings, particularly necessary where nosocomial MDR and XDR-TB transmission is demonstrated (226). Other measures may include aggressive case detection (141) and in very high incidence settings community wide screening and TB preventative treatment for those without active disease (162). Where relapse is the predominant mechanism, specific measures include the extension of TB treatment in high risk groups (227) and targeted post treatment surveillance (189, 193, 214). Given that the relative proportion of relapse and reinfection vary between settings, the approach taken will depend upon the local epidemiology. Currently, this is poorly understood in the UK and should be studied to inform TB recurrence control interventions.

1.10 Background to the project

The incidence of TB in Leicester is consistently several-fold higher than the national average reflecting local factors including immigration from high incidence countries (228, 229). Routine epidemiological information for TB cases is collected in the East Midlands and programmatic performance analysed yearly (17). However, TB recurrence, a marker of the efficacy of TB control, has not been assessed in Leicester. Analysing the associated risk factors for TB recurrence, the local TB recurrence rate and the contribution of reinfection and relapse will inform local practice. Locally over 40% of TB cases are extrapulmonary however culture confirmation is only successful for half. Previous papers published from the University of Leicester demonstrate Rpf-containing CS can enhance bacillary recovery in clinical specimens (57, 230). This technique may improve TB culture sensitivity with benefits for patient care and TB control.

1.11 Thesis aims and objectives

The research work consisted of two studies examining the areas of TB recurrence and EPTB culture diagnostic performance.

The aims were to:

- 1. Study the epidemiology of recurrent TB in patients treated at the University Hospitals of Leicester (UHL).
- Evaluate whether the supplementation of standard EPTB culture with Rpfcontaining CS enhances bacillary recovery from samples and informs mycobacterial subpopulations in EPTB.

Chapter 2 contains the study of TB recurrence.

Specific objectives

- To define the risk factors for TB recurrence present during the prediagnostic and TB-treatment periods of patients treated for TB at UHL.
- To characterise the epidemiology of recurrent TB within Leicester.
- To estimate the proportion of TB recurrence due to relapse and reinfection within Leicester.

Chapter 3 describes the study of Rpf-containing CS supplementation of EPTB culture.

Specific objectives:

- To calculate the change in culture sensitivity and specificity with the supplementation of EPTB culture with Rpf-containing CS.
- To measure the change in TTP of Mycobacterium Growth Indicator Tube (MGIT) EPTB cultures with the addition of Rpf-containing CS.
- To quantify CS-dependent bacillary counts present in EPTB samples using MPN and CFU assays.
- To correlate host and bacillary factors with the CS-dependent bacillary counts.

Chapter 2: A study of tuberculosis recurrence in Leicester

2.1 Introduction

TB treatment is often complicated by recurrence (138), the presence of which indicates TB control and treatment activities require strengthening (193). This is best achieved by studying the local mechanisms of recurrence and identifying those groups at risk, so preventative interventions are effectively targeted (169).

Currently, TB recurrence in the UK is poorly understood, being principally derived from the analysis of surveillance data by Crofts et al (145). This study was limited by the narrow range of risk factors examined, the inability to control for confounding and potential inaccuracies in notification data leading to information bias.

In this chapter, I describe the conduct and results of a nested case control study examining TB recurrence in a cohort of TB patients treated at UHL. This study design is considered a robust method for examining uncommon outcomes such as TB recurrence (206). I used verifiable data from medical records and hospital databases collected during the course of routine clinical care. I examined a wide range of clinical and demographic factors encompassing many not present in TB notification data with the aim of controlling for unmeasured confounders and identifying hitherto unrecognised risk factors within our local population. Furthermore, I used DNA strain-typing data to estimate the proportion of recurrence due to relapse and reinfection. The information garnered from this study will aid the formulation and targeting of control interventions towards those populations deemed at risk of TB recurrence.

2.2 Methods

2.2.1 Study setting, design and data source

The University Hospitals of Leicester NHS Trust is a 1700 bedded tertiary referral centre which serves the metropolitan area of Leicester (population 334,000 (231); TB incidence 36.2 per 100,000 population per year (232)) and Leicestershire and Rutland (population, 705,000 (231); TB incidence 3.4 per 100,000 population per year (232)). All TB cases notified at UHL were prospectively recorded on a centralised database (TBIT) which is used by the Leicester TB service for the integrated surveillance and management of TB cases.

Cases of TB recurrence were identified from patients notified twice or more to the TBIT database, whereas controls were defined as any patient notified only once. The incipient episode and first recurrent episode were used in the study and subsequent episodes of recurrence were not included. Cases were matched to controls on the date of notification at a ratio of 1:2 using the IBM SPSS 22.0 statistics package (IBM, Redmond, USA) with cases and controls separated by a maximum of 8 weeks.

2.2.2 Study population and variables

All cases of TB seen at UHL and notified to TBIT between the 1st of January 1994 and the 14th of December 2014 were included in the study. Database entries were excluded where patients cultured NTM or were denotified due to the assignment of an alternative diagnosis other than TB.

The variables selected for analysis were significantly associated with TB recurrence in previous studies or considered biologically plausible. The data collected for variables such as alcohol or smoking status pertained to the prediagnostic and TB-treatment periods. Data were not available for the post-treatment period between the first and recurrent episode. Study data were extracted from the TBIT database, pseudonymized and recorded on an Access 2010 database (Microsoft, Redmond, Washington, USA) situated on the UHL IT system. Reviews of paper and online records were performed to corroborate, supplement and fill in missing data from the TBIT database.

2.2.3 Inclusion and exclusion criteria

Patients were suitable for inclusion in the study if they were a confirmed case of TB at the first episode, completed their allocated treatment course and were declared cured or treatment complete by their treating physician. TB nurse review confirmed completion of the allocated treatment course. Patients were excluded if during the first episode of TB they failed to complete their prescribed treatment course, transferred out of the area before treatment completion, were lost to follow up, died or were classified as a treatment failure. Cases and matching controls with unavailable records were also excluded.

2.2.4 Definitions

Tuberculosis definitions:

• *A case of TB*: Where a biological specimen is positive for *Mtb* by smear microscopy, culture or an approved rapid diagnostic test or a case which has been

diagnosed as active TB by a clinician and a full course of treatment is planned to be administered (88).

- *Pulmonary tuberculosis (PTB):* Disease involving the lung parenchyma or tracheobronchial tree (88).
- *Extrapulmonary tuberculosis (EPTB):* Any case not involving the lungs such as the brain, intrathoracic lymph nodes or pleura (88).
- *Recurrence:* a patient who had been previously treated for TB, declared cured or treatment completed at the end of their most recent course of treatment and was diagnosed with a recurrent episode of TB (either a relapse or a new episode of TB caused by reinfection) (88).
- *Reinfection:* A second episode of TB resulting from exogenous infection with an *Mtb* strain differing from that responsible for the first episode by ≥ 2 MIRU-VNTR loci (70, 138).
- *Relapse:* A second episode of TB resulting from endogenous reactivation of the *Mtb* strain responsible for the first episode as shown by ≤ 1 MIRU-VNTR locus difference (70, 138).
- *Standard treatment regimen:* the use of six months of isoniazid and rifampicin with 8 weeks of pyrazinamide (with or without other drugs) (206).
- *Phenotypic susceptibility:* the determination of the susceptibility of an organism to a drug by the observation of growth or metabolic inhibition in a medium containing the anti-tuberculous drug (129).

Demographics:

- *Ethnicity*: classified by the Office for National Statistics classification (White; Indian Subcontinent; Afro-Caribbean; Oriental / Other Asia; Other). (233). As numbers for 'Oriental' / 'Other Asia' were small, this was subsumed into 'Other'.
- *Housed:* Resident at a fixed address.
- *Smoker:* the regular smoking of tobacco at the time of diagnosis (203).
- Alcohol user: habitual alcohol consumption at the time of diagnosis (203).

Co-morbidities:

• *Diabetes mellitus:* the documented use of diabetic medication (194), a fasting blood sugar ≥7.0mmol/L, a 2 hour blood glucose of ≥11.1mmol/L after an oral glucose

tolerance test, an HB_{A1C} of \geq 6.5% or symptoms of hyperglycaemia with a random blood sugar \geq 11.1mmol/L (234).

- *End stage renal failure:* an estimated glomerular filtration rate (eGFR) of <15ml/min/1.73m² or receiving haemodialysis (235).
- 25-OH vitamin D₃ deficiency: as a number of methods (mass spectroscopy and immunoassay) were used over the twenty-year period covered by the study to determine 25-OH vitamin D3 deficiency; deficiency was defined by the assay used for each individual patient. The serum sample had been drawn within 1 month of treatment initiation.
- *HIV positive:* a positive result from an enzyme linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) or NAAT for HIV type 1 infection (no cases of HIV type 2 infection were present in the final study cohort).
- *HIV negative:* either a negative ELISA / NAAT or an unknown HIV status.
- *Pulmonary cavitation:* visible on available imaging or if unavailable, recorded in the medical notes.
- *Immunosuppressant use:* receiving immunosuppressive medication (glucocorticoids such as prednisolone, oral immunosuppressants such as ciclosporin or immunosuppressive monoclonal antibody therapy such as infliximab) any time after symptom onset up until the completion of anti TB therapy.

Treatment:

- Adverse drug reaction: any unintended adverse response to a drug occurring at a therapeutic dose and resulting in either death, drug withdrawal, change in the administration of the frequency or dose of the drug, or, that no action is required (236). These were graded by the Common Terminology Criteria for Adverse Events v4.0 (237)
- *Treatment interruption:* any period in which anti-TB therapy was discontinued temporarily at the physician's direction or due to patient action.

2.2.5 Molecular strain typing

The identification and typing of isolates was performed by the Health Protection Agency (now PHE) Midlands Regional Centre for Mycobacteriology. Restriction fragment length polymorphism (RFLP) typing of *Mtb* strains was performed upon request until 2004,

whereafter all isolates were analysed by MIRU-VNTR typing. Where available, MIRU-VNTR strain typing data were used to classify cases of recurrence (238). If isolates from both episodes differed by two or more MIRU-VNTR loci, the case of recurrence was ascribed to reinfection and by one or less locus difference, relapse (70)

2.2.6 Epidemiological analysis

The time at risk of TB recurrence was calculated for all cases from the time after completion of TB treatment until renotification or cases were censored at the end of the study (14th of December 2014). Patients were assumed to have completed treatment 24 weeks after the notification date unless otherwise recorded. The recurrence incidence rate was calculated for all patients with recurrence as the numerator and person years of follow up as the denominator (165). The incidence of recurrence with differing periods of follow up after the first disease episode were calculated. The estimated reinfection rate was calculated assuming those patients without typing data had recurrent disease due to reinfection in the same proportions as those for whom typing data was available. The same approach was taken for the estimated relapse rate.

2.2.7 Statistical analysis

Statistical analyses were performed using SPSS version 22 (IBM, Redmond, USA) and Stata 13.1 statistics package (Statacorp, Texas, USA). Graphs were produced using Stata 13.1. Continuous and categorical variables were examined with the Wilcoxon rank-sum and Fisher's exact test respectively

The dataset was first assessed for incompleteness. The percentage of missing data was calculated for variables being considered as predictors of TB recurrence. For those variables missing data, the level varied between 1.6-54.5% (see Appendix section 1.1.1). Complete case analysis may introduce biased parameter estimates (239), thus multiple imputation to account for missing data was performed for the following variables:

- <u>Demographic</u>: weight, habitual alcohol use, habitual tobacco smoking, UK-birth status.
- <u>Laboratory</u>: blood haemoglobin concentration, peripheral white cell counts (WCC) and serum creatinine levels.
- <u>TB specific</u>: AFB smear status, TB culture status and phenotypic antimicrobial susceptibility (sensitive / resistant).

The variables Vitamin D deficiency and BCG vaccination status were missing 55% and 48% of values which is at the upper bound of 50% of missing data recommended when using multiple imputation so these were not included in the model (240). Multiple imputation was performed using Stata 13.1.

Multiple imputation was performed for missing values under the assumption that data was missing at random. The missing data pattern was arbitrary not monotone (239) (see Appendix 1.1.2). All variables used in the analysis model including the dependent variable were included in the imputation model (241). The imputation model contained both continuous and categorical variables therefore multiple imputation by chained equations was chosen (239). Predictive mean matching (PMM) was used for non-normally distributed continuous variables (creatinine, weight and WCC), regression for normally distributed continuous variables (haemoglobin), logistic regression for binary variables (AFB smear status) and augmented logistic regression for binary variables exhibiting perfect prediction (TB culture status, phenotypic antimicrobial susceptibility, habitual tobacco smoking, habitual alcohol use and UK-birth status) (241). A burn in period of 100 was used between imputations (239). As the fraction of missing information (FMI) was 0.539, 60 imputation sets were created for conditional logistic regression analysis (241). No interactions were specified in the imputation model. The median percentage of missing data for imputed variables was 9.6% (interquartile range (IQR) 4.9-12.2%; range 1.6-39.4%).

Post imputation analysis was performed. For categorical variables, the mean and standard deviation (SD) of original and imputed datasets were assessed and frequency charts were compared (see Appendix 1.4.1). For continuous variables, the mean and standard deviations of original and imputed datasets were compared and trace plots and kernel density plots were analysed (see Appendix 1.4.2-1.4.3). Good evidence of convergence was achieved.

Two multivariate conditional logistic regression models were developed, both fitted with variables as potential predictors with recurrence of TB as the main outcome variable. One included all clinically relevant variables irrespective of p-values upon univariate analysis to control for confounding as far as possible within the dataset (240). The second model contained variables identified upon univariate conditional logistic regression with a p-value <0.2 (240) to assess for overfitting in the first model (240).

Before undertaking conditional logistic regression analysis, the presence of multiple collinearity was considered using several approaches. Variance inflation factors (VIF)

were used to detect collinearity (242, 243) (see Appendix 1.5.1). VIFs less than 10 were considered non-significant (244). No variables demonstrated VIFs ≥4. Correlation amongst the independent variables was tested to assess for multiple collinearity (243). The decision on which predictor variable(s) to retain from a group of suspected collinear variables was based upon significance in univariate analysis or degree of suspected collinearity. In twoway contingency table analysis, the variables 'standard treatment' and 'treatment interruption' both exhibited collinearity with 'adverse drug reaction (ADR)' (φ =0.55 & -0.38 respectively). The variable 'other comorbidities' also exhibited collinearity with 'creatinine' (point biserial=0.49). The direction of association for variables 'treatment interruption', 'standard regimen' and 'other comorbidities' varied between univariate and multivariate analysis suggesting the presence of multicollinearity with one or more variables (242, 243) (see Appendix 1.5.2). Thus, these three variables were dropped from multivariate analyses without substantially affecting the overall models. Habitual alcohol consumption correlated with habitual tobacco smoking ($\varphi=0.53$) but was retained due to clinical significance. Both models were checked with the Stata 13.1 function 'linktest' and no specification error was detected. Results from the conditional logistic regression analysis were presented as odds ratios (ORs) and 95% confidence intervals with a p-value of <0.05 considered significant. The Strengthening the Reporting of Observational Studies in Epidemiology guidelines were used to guide the reporting of this retrospective observational study (245).

2.2.8 Ethical approval

The study was confirmed by the National Research Ethics Service Committee East Midlands –Leicester as not requiring formal ethical review as the study involved the use of a pre-existing database (see Appendix 12). No patient-specific data or personal identifiers were used in the preparation of this report which was an analysis of routine data collected as part of service evaluation and therefore ethical approval was not required.

2.3 Results

2.3.1 Description of study cohort.

A total of 5122 notifications for *Mtb* disease were identified by a retrospective review of the TBIT database covering the period from 1st of January 1994 to the 14th of December 2014. After the removal of 358 patients, who were denotified or diagnosed with NTM disease, 4764 notifications remained. 120 patients were notified twice and 8 thrice leaving 4628 patients in the study cohort. Following a detailed review of each identified potential recurrence case, 43 were excluded leaving 85 cases of recurrence. In 3 cases, the records of matched control subjects were missing leaving 82 matched case-control units for analysis (see figure 3.1).

Of the study cohort, 51.6% (95%CI 50.1-53.0%) were male and the mean patient age was 40.9 years (standard deviation (SD) 18.8 years; range 0.1-98 years). 69.0% (95%CI 59.5-62.3%) of patients were of Indian subcontinent ethnicity, 11.3% (95%CI 10.4-12.2%) Afro-Caribbean ethnicity, 11.4% (95%CI 10.5-12.4%) White ethnicity and 8.3% (95%CI 7.5-9.1) of any other background. Study cohort HIV prevalence was 7.5% (95%CI 6.8-8.3%).

The case and control group baseline characteristics are presented in Table 2.1. Habitual alcohol and tobacco misuse, AFB smear positivity and the use of immunosuppressing drugs were higher amongst cases of TB recurrence compared to controls. Of note, 64.8% of cases and 69.3% of controls were Vitamin D deficient indicating a high level of vitamin D deficiency amongst the entire cohort. 79.5% of cases and 81.1% of controls were vaccinated with BCG. Using a cut off of 13.0g/dl for men and 11.5g/dl for women (UHL pathology laboratory lower limits of normal), 63.5% of cases and 51.0% of controls were designated anaemic (p=0.087). Immunosuppressive treatment taken included glucocorticoids 26 (79%) patients, glucocorticoids with disease modifying anti-rheumatic drugs (DMARDs) 4 (12%) & DMARDs alone 3 (9%) (see Table A3.1). In 12(36%) of cases, immunosuppressing drugs were given for ongoing management of chronic conditions, 5(15%) for complications of TB disease (e.g. paradoxical reaction), 5 (15%) where evidence suggests a benefit (e.g. tuberculous meningitis), 9 (27%) where the wrong diagnosis was initially suspected (e.g. asthma) and 2 (6%) for unknown indications. 4 (5%) of recurrence cases died of TB during their 2nd disease episode.



Figure 2.1 Flow diagram of study cases and controls included in the data analysis

Table 2.1 Cohort demographics

	Case (n=82) N (%)	Control (n=164) N (%)	P value
Age (year, +/-SD)	40.2 +/-17.6	37.4 +/-17.6	0.23
Weight (kg) ^a	56 (45.5-68)**	59 (48-68)**	0.26
Gender			
Male	42 (51.2)	84 (51.2)	-
Female	40 (48.8)	80 (48.8)	1.00
Ethnicity			
White	10 (12.2)	20 (12.2)	_
Afro-Caribbean	7 (8.5)	17 (10.4)	0.78
Indian subcontinent	61 (74.4)	125 (76.2)	1.0
Other	4 (4.9)	2 (1.2)	0.18
Permanent residence	81 (98.8)	163 (99.4)	1.00
UK Born ^b	25 (30.5)	37 (22.5)	0.16
Habitual alcohol consumption ^c	17 (23.6)	20 (12.4)	0.03
Habitual tobacco smoking ^d	20 (26.3)	19 (11.7)	0.01
BCG vaccinated ^e	31 (79.5)	73 (81.1)	0.81
Comorbidities			
Diabetes mellitus	9 (11.0)	15 (9.2)	0.65
Solid organ transplant±	0	1 (0.6)	1.00
Cancer	0	3 (1.8)	0.55
End stage renal failure	1 (1.2)	3 (1.8)	1.00
Rheumatological conditions¶	3 (3.7)	1 (0.6)	0.11
HIV-1 seropositivity	5 (6.1)	6 (3.7)	0.51
Vitamin D deficiency ^f	24 (64.8)	52 (69.3)	0.67
Laboratory			
Haemoglobin ^g (g/dl +/-SD)	11.7+/-1.8	12.2+/-1.9	0.11
White cell count ^h (x10 ⁹ cells/L)	7.5 (6.0-9.6)**	7.7 (5.9-9.5)**	0.91
Creatinine ⁱ (µmol/l)	70.0 (61.5-79.0)**	71.0 (61.0-83.0)**	0.46
Primary disease site		× /	
PTB	45 (54.8)	68 (41.4)	_
PTB + EPTB	10 (12.2)	31 (19.0)	0.09
ЕРТВ	27 (33.0)	65 (39.6)	0.14
Pulmonary cavitation	19 (23.2)	23(14.0)	0.11
Microbiology			
AFB smear positive ^j	30 (41.7)	42 (27.7)	0.01
Mth culture positive ^k	56 (76.7)	93 (66.9)	0.16
Drug resistance ¹	7 (12.5)	6 (6.5)	0.24
Treatment	(1210)	0 (0.0)	
Standard regimen	68 (82.9)	145 (88.4)	0.24
ADR			
No ADR	64 (78.0)	143 (87.2)	-
Grade 1 - 2	4 (4.9)	7 (4.3)	0.74
Grade 3 - 4	14 (17.1)	14 (8.5)	0.06
Treatment interruption (days)	0 (0-0)**	0 (0-0)**	0.96
Immunosuppressing drugs	17 (20.7)	16 (9.8)	0.03
Duration (days)	168 (168-273)**	168 (168-274)**	0.50

The missing data for case and controls is a: 14&16; b:2&2; c:10&2; d:6&2; e:4374; f:45&89; g: 8&15; h:8&16; i:6&17; j: 10&19; k:9&25; l: 26&71. ±Renal transplant; ¶Psoriasis and rheumatoid arthritis; **median value and interquartile range. Abbreviations: SD - standard deviation; HIV – Human Immunodeficiency Virus; PTB - pulmonary tuberculosis; EPTB- extrapulmonary tuberculosis; ADR – adverse drug reaction; AFB – acid fast bacillus; *Mtb – Mycobacterium tuberculosis;* BCG - Bacillus Calmette–Guérin.

2.3.2 Site of Tuberculosis disease

The pulmonary tract was the major site of disease for those with (67%) and without (60%) TB recurrence (see table 2.2). Lymph node disease was the predominant EPTB form in both cases and controls with and without concomitant pulmonary disease. Spinal disease was more common in controls with EPTB (23%) than cases (4%) (p=0.18).

Site of disease	Cases (n=82) N(%)	Controls (n=164) N(%)	P†
Pulmonary	45 (55)	68 (41)	-
Pulmonary with concomitant extrapulmonary	10 (12)	31 (19)	0.09
Cutaneous	0	1	
Disseminated	2	9	
Eye	0	1	
Gastrointestinal	1	1	
Lymph node	4	11	
Oropharyngeal	1	0	
Pleural	2	6	
Spinal	0	2	
Extrapulmonary	27 (33)	65 (40)	0.14
Bone & joint	2	2	
Cutaneous	0	2	
CNS	1	0	
Eye	1	2	
Gastrointestinal	0	3	
Lymph node	17	37	
Peritoneal	2	3	
Pleural	2	6	
Psoas	0	1	
Renal	1	0	
Spinal	1	9	

Table 2.2 Site of disease in the primary episode in patients with and without recurrent disease

[†] - P value for the comparison of site of disease using PTB as the reference point.

I compared the site of disease in the recurrence episode with that of the primary episode of TB. Of those with PTB, the majority (64%) recurred as PTB (see table 2.3). Of those with PTB & EPTB, 40% recurred as PTB, 10% as PTB +EPTB (site of EPTB disease changed) and 50% as EPTB (4 cases site of EPTB disease changed, 1 unchanged). Of the EPTB cases, 11% recurred as PTB, 15% as PTB + EPTB (3 site of EPTB disease changed, 1 unchanged) and 74% as EPTB (3 site of EPTB disease changed, 17 unchanged).

Primary site of disease	Recurrence Site of disease			
	PTB (%)	PTB+EPTB (%)	EPTB (%)	
РТВ	29 (64)	5 (11)	11 (25)	
PTB + EPTB	4 (40)	1 (10)	5 (50)	
ЕРТВ	3 (11)	4 (15)	20 (74)	

Table 2.3 Change in site of disease between primary and recurrent TB episodes

Abbreviations: PTB - pulmonary tuberculosis; EPTB - extrapulmonary tuberculosis

2.3.3 Incidence and duration of recurrence

85 patients out of a total study cohort of 4628 (1.8%) experienced recurrence (see figure 2.2). Patients were observed for a median period of 7.8 years (IQR 3.6-11.6 years; range 0.7 -20.8 years). After patients completed treatment, the median time to recurrence was 1.7 years (IQR 0.8 - 3.8 years; range: 0.1 -10.8 years). The majority (57.3%; (95%CI 46.5-67.5%)) of recurrence cases were diagnosed within two years and 76.8% (95%CI 66.6-84.6%) within four years after treatment completion.

The overall recurrence incidence rate was 1.9 (95%CI 1.5-2.3) per 1000 patient years of follow up (PYs) with the incidence highest within 6-12 months post TB treatment (9.9 (95%CI 6.4-14.8) per 1000PYs) and subsequently decreasing during the 1-2 years (4.5 (95%CI 2.8-6.9) per 1000PYs) and 2-4-year periods (2.1 (95%CI 1.2-3.3) per 1000PYs) post TB treatment and eventually plateauing by the 4-8-year period (0.8 (95% CI 0.4-1.5) per 1000PYs) post TB treatment. No recurrence cases occurred more than 12 years after TB treatment completion (see table 2.4)

Period of follow up after treatment completion	Patient years (PY) of follow up	1000PYs	Number of events	Total recurrence (%)	Incidence rate per 1000PYs
0-6 months	2269	2.269	6	7.32	2.64
6-12 months	2221	2.221	22	26.83	9.91
1-2 years	4192	4.192	19	23.17	4.53
2-4 years	7715	7.715	16	19.51	2.07
4-8 years	12645	12.645	10	12.20	0.79
8-12 years	8542	8.542	9	10.98	1.05
>12 years	6259	6.259	0	0.00	0.00

Table 2.4 Incidence rate of TB recurrence by period of follow up after treatment completion



Figure 2.2 Kaplan-Meier curve showing cumulative percentage recurrence in 4628 notified TB patients

A sensitivity analysis was performed to assess the effect of moving the cut off for differentiating TB recurrence from treatment failure on the proportion of total recurrences, relapses and reinfections (see table 2.5). Changing the definition from the designated cut off of 0 months post treatment completion to 3 months reduced the number of recurrences to 80 and to 6 months to 76, a 7% reduction.

Table 2.5 Sensitivity analysis of the recurrence definition cut off

Cut off (months)	Total recurrences	Relapses	Reinfections	'Treatment failures'
0	82	16	3	0
3	80	15	2	2
6	76	14	2	6
12	54	9	1	28

2.3.4 Reinfection versus relapse

Of the 82 TB recurrence cases in the final case control study, paired MIRU-VNTR DNA strain-type profiles were available for 19 isolates. Twelve isolates were typed using 15 locus MIRU-VNTR, 3 with 24 locus MIRU-VNTR and in four cases, the initial isolate was typed with 15 locus MIRU-VNTR and the recurrence isolate with 24 locus MIRU-VNTR (see Appendix 2 for further information). No RFLP data were available from PHE Birmingham. There were three (16%; 95%CI 3.4-39.6%) cases of reinfection and 16 (84%; 95%CI 60.4-96.6%) of relapse (see Appendix 2 for MIRU-VNTR DNA strain typing data).

The clinical and demographic characteristics of relapse and reinfection cases were compared to identify predictors specific to each mechanism of TB recurrence although no significant differences were found (see table 2.6).

The median time to recurrence was examined for relapse and reinfection cases. This calculated at 0.8 years (IQR 0.5-0.9; range 0.2-1.1 years) for confirmed reinfection cases and 1.4 years (IQR 0.7-2.4; range 0.1-5.1 years) for confirmed relapses (p=0.27). The estimated reinfection incidence rate was 0.3 (95% CI 0.2-0.5) per 1000PYs and the estimated relapse rate was 1.6 (95% CI 1.2-2.0) per 1000PYs.

	Relapse (n=16) N (%)	Reinfection (n=3) N(%)	P value
Age (year, +/-SD)	39.8 (+/-18.4)	31.3 (+/-3.2)	0.58
Weight (kg)	48.0 (40.5-67.5)**	50.0 (44.0-57.0)**	0.91
Gender			
Male	8 (50.0)	1 (33.3)	-
Female	8 (50.0)	2 (66.6)	1.00
Ethnicity			
White	2 (12.5)	0	-
Afro-Caribbean	1 (6.3)	0	-
Indian subcontinent	11 (68.7)	3 (100)	1.00
Other	2 (12.5)	0	-
Housed	16 (100)	3 (100)	1.00
UK Born ^a	7 (43.8)	0	0.50
Habitual alcohol consumption ^b	3 (20)	0	1.00
Habitual tobacco smoking ^c	5 (33.0)	0	0.52
BCG vaccinated ^d	6 (85.7)	1 (100)	1.00
Comorbidities			
Diabetes mellitus	3 (1.8)	0	1.00
Rheumatological conditions	1 (6.3)	0	-
Vitamin D deficiency ^e	4 (30.1)	0	1.00
Laboratory			
Haemoglobin (g/dl +/-SD)	11.2 (+/-1.8)	11.16 (+/-3.3)	0.96
White cell count (x10 ⁹ cells/L)	9.2 (6.6-10.4)**	7.8 (7.2-12.)**	0.74
Creatinine (μmol/l)	71.0 (62.0-81.0) **	61.0 (54.0-67.0)**	0.16
Primary disease site			
РТВ	12 (75.0)	1 (33.3)	
PTB + EPTB	1 (6.3)	0	1.00
ЕРТВ	3 (18.7)	2 (66.6)	0.17
Pulmonary cavitation	8 (50)	0	0.23
Microbiology			
AFB Smear positive	9 (56.3)	0	0.21
Drug resistance	4 (25.0)	1 (33.3)	1.00
Treatment			
Standard regimen	9 (56.3)	2 (66.6)	1.00
Adverse drug reaction	6 (37.5)	0	0.52
No reaction	10(62.5)	3(100)	
Grade 1 - 2	1(6.3)	0	0.79
Grade 3 - 4	5	0	0.52
Treatment interruption (days)	5.79(+/-15.8)	0	0.43
Immunosuppressing drugs	3 (18.7)	0	1.00
Duration (days)	259 (168-323)**	168 (168-366)**	0.56

Table 2.6 Demographics of cases of relapse and reinfection

Missing data relapse and reinfection: a: 0&1; b:1&0; c: 1&0; d:9&3; e:3&2. **median and IQR. Abbreviations: AFB - acid fast bacillus; BCG - Bacillus Calmette-Guérin; CXR - chest x-ray; SD - standard deviation.

2.3.5 Drug resistance

I analysed the change in sensitivity profiles for 29 cases where paired *Mtb* cultures were available with associated MIRU-VNTR DNA strain type data and phenotypic drug susceptibility was determined (see Table 2.7). Cases of reinfection demonstrated no change in sensitivity profile between the primary and recurrence episode. Of the 16 cases of

relapse, 13 (81%) displayed no change in sensitivity profile and 3 (19%) decreased susceptibility to one additional drug with one isolate becoming a multidrug resistant strain.

Recurrence classification	Number of cases (29)	Primary episode sensitivity profile	Recurrence episode sensitivity profile
Recurrence	10	Sensitive	Sensitive
Reinfection	2	Sensitive	Sensitive
	1	H resistant	H resistant
Relapse	11	Sensitive	Sensitive
	1	Sensitive	R resistant
	1	Q & H resistant	H resistant (Q not tested)
	1	H resistant	RH resistant
	1	RHZQ resistant	RHZEQ resistant
	1	RHZE resistant	RHZE resistant

Table 2.7 The change in sensitivity profile in recurrence patients with paired isolates

R- Rifampicin; H - Isoniazid; Z - Pyrazinamide; E - Ethambutol; Q - Quinolone

Recurrence: two episodes of tuberculosis characterized by paired cultures positive for *Mtb* without MIRU-VNTR strain typing performed; Relapse: ≤ 1 MIRU-VNTR locus difference between isolates; Reinfection: ≥ 2 MIRU-VNTR loci differences.

2.3.6 Factors associated with TB recurrence on conditional logistic regression analysis

Univariate conditional logistic regression analysis showed that habitual alcohol

consumption, habitual tobacco smoking, AFB smear positivity, receiving

immunosuppressants and suffering a grade 3 / 4 ADR significantly increased the risk of TB recurrence.

In the multivariate analysis including all clinically significant variables (see Table 2.8), ethnicity 'Indian subcontinent' (OR 8·5, 95% CI 1·8-39.3, p=<0·01), ethnicity 'Other' (OR 31.2, 95% CI 2.1-471 p=0·01), habitual tobacco smoking (OR 3.8, 95%CI 1·1-13.1, p=0·04), a grade 3 / 4 ADR (OR 5.6, 95%CI 1.3-24.8, p=0·02) and receiving immunosuppressants (OR 6.8, 95% CI 1.9-24.4; p=<0·01) were found to significantly increase the risk of TB recurrence after controlling for confounding.

The second multivariate analysis included variables with $p \le 0.2$ on univariate analysis (see table 2.9). The odd ratios (OR) for the second model were smaller than the first model, particularly for Indian subcontinent (4.3 (95% CI1.3-14.5) vs. 8.5(95% CI 1.8-39.3) and 'Other' ethnicity 31.2(95% CI 2.1-471.0) vs 10.0 (95% CI 1.1-88.3) indicating overfitting was present in the first model (240). Subgroup analysis by recurrence mechanism or by disease site was not possible due to small samples numbers which resulted in model instability.

	Unadjusted Odds ratio (95% CI)	P value	Adjusted odds ratio (95% CI)	P value
Δσε	10(10-10)	0.26		0.09
Weight	1.0(1.01.0)	0.20	1.0(1.0 1.1)	0.05
Gender	1.0 (1.0 1.0)	0.29	1.0 (1.0 1.0)	0.10
Male	Reference		Reference	
Female	1.0 (0.6-1.7)	1.00	1.1(0.5-2.7)	0.85
Ethnicity		1.00	111(010 211)	0.00
White	Reference		Reference	
Afro-Caribbean	0.8 (0.3-2.7)	0.75	5.4 (0.7-43.4)	0.13
Indian subcontinent	1.0 (0.4-2.2)	0.96	8.5(1.8-39.3)	< 0.01
Other	3.9 (0.6-24.8)	0.15	31.2(2.1-471.0)	0.01
UK Born	1.5 (0.8-2.8)	0.17	2.8(0.9-8.8)	0.07
Permanent residence	0.5 (0.3-8.0)	0.62	0.2(0.0-4.0)	0.26
Habitual alcohol consumption	2.2 (1.1-4.8)	0.03	1.8(0.6-5.7)	0.30
Habitual tobacco smoking	2.8 (1.4-5.6)	< 0.01	3.8(1.1-13.1)	0.04
Co-morbidities				
Diabetes mellitus	1.2 (0.5-2.7)	0.67	0.9 (0.2-2.8)	0.86
HIV-1 seropositivity	1.7 (0.5-5.5)	0.40	4.1(0.7-23.1)	0.12
Other comorbidities±	1.0 (0.3-3.5)	1.00	¶	
Laboratory				
Haemoglobin (g/dl)	0.9 (0.8-1.0)	0.09	0.9 (0.7-1.2)	0.54
White cell count (x10 ⁹ cell/l)	1.0(1.0-1.1)	0.44	1.0 (0.8-1.1)	0.36
Creatinine (µmol / l)	1.0 (1.0-1.0)	0.86	1.0(1.0-1.0)	0.41
Primary disease site				
РТВ	Reference		Reference	
PTB + EPTB	0.5 (0.2-1.1)	0.09	0.7 (0.2-2.1)	0.49
ЕРТВ	0.6 (0.4-1.1)	0.12	1.4 (0.6-3.7)	0.49
Pulmonary cavitation	1.8 (0.9-3.6)	0.08	1.3 (0.5-3.9)	0.61
Microbiology				
AFB positive	2.3 (1.2-4.1)	< 0.01	1.7 (0.6-4.3)	0.30
Culture positive	1.6 (0.8-2.9)	0.16	1.3 (0.5-3.2)	0.54
Drug resistant	1.5 (0.5-4.1)	0.49	2.6 (0.5-13.8)	0.28
Treatment				
Standard regimen	0.7(0.3-1.4)	0.26	¶	
ADR				
No ADR	Reference		Reference	
Grade 1 - 2	1.2 (0.4-4.1)	0.78	1.3 (0.3-6.1)	0.78
Grade 3 - 4	2.3 (1.0-5.3)	< 0.05	5.6 (1.3-24.8)	0.02
Treatment interruption	1.1 (0.4-2.6)	0.88	¶	
Immunosuppressing drugs	3.0 (1.2-7.1)	0.01	6.8 (1.9-24.4)	< 0.01

Table 2.8 Factors associated with tuberculosis recurrence on conditional logistic regression

 $\pm\pm$ Active cancer, end stage renal failure, solid organ transplant & rheumatology conditions. ¶ not included in the analysis due to multiple collinearity

Abbreviations: AFB – acid fast bacillus; ADR – adverse drug reaction; EPTB- extrapulmonary tuberculosis; HIV – Human Immunodeficiency Virus; PTB - pulmonary tuberculosis;

	Unadjusted Odds ratio (95% CI)	P value	Adjusted odds ratio (95% CI)	P value
Ethnicity				
White	Reference		Reference	
Afro-Caribbean	0.8 (0.3-2.7)	0.75	4.3 (0.8-22.7)	0.08
Indian subcontinent	1.0 (0.4-2.2)	0.96	4.3 (1.3-14.5)	0.02
Other	3.9 (0.6-24.8)	0.15	10.0 (1.1-88.3)	0.04
UK Born	1.5 (0.8-2.8)	0.17	1.6 (0.7-3.8)	0.32
Habitual alcohol consumption	2.2 (1.1-4.8)	0.03	1.5 (0.5-4.2)	0.44
Habitual tobacco smoking	2.8 (1.4-5.6)	< 0.01	3.0 (1.0-8.5)	0.04
Laboratory				
Haemoglobin (g/dl)	0.9 (0.8-1.0)	0.09	0.9 (0.7-1.1)	0.30
Primary disease site				
PTB	Reference		Reference	
PTB + EPTB	0.5 (0.2-1.1)	0.09	0.6 (0.2-1.6)	0.28
ЕРТВ	0.6 (0.4-1.1)	0.12	1.1 (0.5-2.5)	0.82
Pulmonary cavitation	1.8 (0.9-3.6)	0.08	1.1 (0.4-2.8)	0.86
Microbiology				
AFB positive	2.3 (1.2-4.1)	< 0.01	1.5 (0.6-3.6)	0.34
Culture positive	1.6 (0.8-2.9)	0.16	1.1 (0.5-2.3)	0.89
Treatment				
ADR				
No ADR	Reference		Reference	
Grade 1 - 2	1.2 (0.4-4.1)	0.78	1.4 (0.3-5.9)	0.65
Grade 3 - 4	2.3 (1.0-5.3)	< 0.05	4.3 (1.4-12.7)	0.01
Immunosuppressing drugs	3.0 (1.2-7.1)	0.01	4.4 (1.6-12.1)	0.01

Table 2.9 Factors associated with tuberculosis recurrence on conditional logistic regression (p<0.2 on univariate analysis)

Abbreviations: AFB – acid fast bacillus; ADR – adverse drug reaction; EPTB- extrapulmonary tuberculosis; PTB - pulmonary tuberculosis.

2.4 Discussion

I conducted this nested case control study within an ethnically diverse population of patients attending UHL for TB treatment in order to delineate risk factors for TB recurrence. I found that for patients who completed standard treatment for their first TB episode, ethnicity (Indian subcontinent and other ethnic groups), habitual tobacco smoking, the receipt of immunosuppressant medication and suffering a grade 3 or 4 ADR independently increased the risk of subsequent TB recurrence. TB recurrence affected 1.8% of the study cohort with incidence peaking at 6-12 months after treatment completion and falling thereafter. Relapse (endogenous reactivation) was the predominant mechanism of TB recurrence affecting 84% of patients for whom paired DNA strain-type profiles were available.

2.4.1 Recurrence incidence

The overall TB recurrence incidence in Leicester of 1.9 per 1000PYs was low. This is comparable to the rate of 4.1 per 1000PYs for England and Wales found by Crofts et al when examining national TB notification data between the periods 1998-2005 (145) and to rates from other low incidence countries such as Australia (0.8 per 1000PYs (178)) and Spain (5.3 per 1000PYs (147)).

I observed that 57% of recurrences occurred within 2 years and 77% of recurrences within 4 years after treatment completion. This contrasts with the findings of Nunn et al who reviewed 15 TB treatment trials and found 78% of recurrences occurred within 6 months of treatment and 91% within 12 months (246). Possible explanations include the longer duration of follow up, that patients were treated outside a clinical trial setting so delaying diagnosis and the substantial proportion of recurrence cases in my study presenting as EPTB (44%), a factor which has been shown to delay diagnosis(247).

2.4.2 Contribution of relapse and reinfection to recurrence

To date, no study has detailed the proportion of TB recurrence due to relapse and reinfection in the UK. I found relapse to be the predominant mechanism accounting for 84% of recurrences. This finding corresponds with the findings from a recent systematic review article arising from this thesis, which demonstrated that in low incidence settings, the median percentage of TB recurrences due to relapse was 81% (248). Mathematical models support this finding suggesting that the extent to which reinfection contributes to

TB recurrence in different settings / populations is a function of the background incidence in that population (141, 249).

In most settings, relapse tends to occur earlier after treatment whereas the risk of reinfection remains constant and proportionately increases over time (159, 162, 167). The converse was found in this study, the median time to relapse being 499 days (IQR248-857) and to reinfection 292 days (IQR 186-338) This is probably a chance finding due to the low number of reinfection cases in this study. Nevertheless, cases of reinfection can occur soon after treatment completion and should not be automatically attributed to relapse.

In this study, MIRU-VNTR was used to DNA strain-type *Mtb* isolates. A cut off of ≥ 2 MIRU loci differences between episodes was chosen to define cases of reinfection. This difference in loci has been used by others (70, 250) however it is an arbitrary cut off which may potentially misclassify recurrence cases. MIRU-VNTR is now considered a low-resolution typing method and has been shown by whole genome sequencing to mistakenly classify relapse as reinfection and vice versa (161). Misclassification may also occur through other mechanisms. For example, where population strain diversity is low or individuals are repeatedly infected from the same source case reinfection may be misclassified as relapse (175). Similarly, relapse may be misclassified as reinfection due to strain evolution, mixed infection or laboratory cross-contamination (175). The routine WGS of mycobacterial isolates has been introduced by PHE (251) and will improve typing resolution so overcoming the limitation of MIRU-VNTR and enable a more precise understanding of the mechanisms of TB recurrence in the UK.

2.4.3 The clinical impact of recurrence

I examined the change in phenotypic drug susceptibility profiles between the primary and recurrent episode. In the current study, 3 (10%) of culture confirmed recurrence (all relapses) acquired drug resistance during the first treatment episode, one cases becoming an MDR-TB case. This study adds to the body of evidence demonstrating that recurrence is associated with increasingly drug resistant strains. However, what drives resistance in patients who have been apparently successfully treated has not been established.

In this study, 5% of recurrence cases died during treatment for their recurrence episode. Unfortunately, due to the retrospective nature of this study, it was not possible to capture data detailing patient morbidity or any financial impact. In the published literature there is limited data on the clinical outcomes of patients with recurrence with one study showing a small (3.1%) increase in mortality in recurrence cases compared to those with no previous episodes of TB (188). This data demonstrates the impact TB recurrence has for patients and the importance of minimising its occurrence.

Comparison of the site of disease in primary and recurrence episodes showed that 75% of patients with initial PTB and 50% with initial PTB and EPTB recurred with pulmonary involvement and were thus potentially infectious (94, 252). Furthermore, 26% of EPTB patients recurred with new pulmonary involvement, converting from a generally non-infectious to an infectious form of disease. The contribution of recurrent TB to the overall burden of TB transmission is unknown although it is thought that patients with recurrent TB may act as a focus of transmission (226). Modelling of the contribution of recurrent TB to overall transmission may indicate whether it is worthwhile including strategies to address TB recurrence as part of an enhanced TB control strategy to support TB elimination and should be evaluated in the future.

2.4.4 Risk factors for TB recurrence

I established that Indian subcontinent and other ethnicity were significantly positively associated with TB recurrence and Afro-Caribbean ethnicity demonstrated a positive although non-significant trend after controlling for confounding with multivariate analysis. Low representation within the study cohort may have precluded the attainment of statistical significance. Previous studies have demonstrated significant associations between non-white ethnicity and clinical aspects of TB. For example, Pareek et al showed extrathoracic disease was independently associated with Indian subcontinent and Afro-Caribbean ethnicity(253) and in another study, miliary TB was independently associated with Indian subcontinent ethnicity (254).

In the present study, I was unable to determine whether ethnicity (host genotype) itself mediates an individual's risk of recurrence or functions as a proxy for other risk factors(s) which were unaccounted for in the present study. Certain ethnic groups may have a heightened exposure to TB through travel to high incidence areas to visit family and friends(255) or due to social deprivation within migrant communities(51) However in the absence of robust data this remains theoretical. Vitamin D status is associated with both ethnic background (256, 257) and the risk of developing TB (258, 259). However, it remains to be determined whether vitamin D explains the association between ethnicity and TB recurrence. Certain *Mtb* strains including EAI /CAS (159) and Beijing (195, 209, 260) are independently associated with TB recurrence and may be more prevalent in certain ethnic groups. For example, Pareek et al found EAI strains are common in Indian

subcontinent patients studied in Birmingham (253). The proportion of TB cases with paired genotyped cultures was low in the present study precluding adjustment for strain lineage in the multivariate analysis. Studies examining adherence to medication in chronic conditions such as rheumatoid arthritis (261) and diabetes mellitus (262) have demonstrated lower adherence in South Asian patients. Unfortunately, adherence to medication was not reliably or quantifiably recorded and could not be assessed in the present study. Finally, it is known that there are disparities in access to health care between ethnic groups (263) and these conjecturally could impact TB treatment outcomes.

The strong association between TB recurrence and Indian subcontinent ethnicity, a group that are the most important in terms of TB cases nationally (264) and contribute more than 25% of cases worldwide(1), may have significant implications for individual patient management and public health. My results, in concert with those from a previous study by Crofts et al, who similarly showed an association between Indian subcontinent ethnicity and TB recurrence, suggest that interventions targeting this large at-risk group could significantly prevent future TB episodes.

I found habitual tobacco smoking to independently predict TB recurrence. This finding is consistent with epidemiological studies in different settings including Taiwan, China and India (179, 192, 203, 265) and identifies a problem area within the study cohort. Smoking increases baseline disease severity and reduces treatment response through inhibiting macrophage immune function(265, 266) possibly increasing recurrence risk through immunoparesis. One study did demonstrate poor adherence to TB treatment amongst tobacco smokers(265), suggesting this may act as a confounder. Currently the effect of smoking cessation on TB treatment outcomes is unclear (267) however it manifestly reduces cardiovascular and cancer related mortality (268) and should be offered to all TB patients regardless of whether it reduces recurrence or not.

In this study, experiencing a grade 3 or 4 ADR elevated a patient's future risk of TB recurrence. ADRs are considered a major cause of poor adherence to TB treatment (269), which in turn is associated with an increased risk of TB recurrence (270). Patients experiencing grade 1 or 2 ADRs were not at an elevated risk of recurrence, presumably due to better treatment adherence. Unfortunately, data detailing patient adherence was not routinely recorded and was thus not controlled for in multivariate analysis. Although not directly examining TB recurrence, a study conducted in an MDR-TB cohort showed that ADRs did not impact treatment outcomes in those patients adherent to treatment (271). Adherence may therefore mediate the association between ADRs and TB recurrence

although further research is required. Measures to address poor adherence arising from ADRs include pre-treatment counselling, supervised treatment and drugs to mitigate ADR symptoms (269) and should be considered when ADRs arise.

Immunosuppression of any kind predisposes to TB (272). Immunosuppressing therapies including glucocorticoids (273), non-biologic DMARDs (274) and anti-TNFa monoclonal antibodies (275) are associated with an increased risk of TB reactivation. Cases are reported where immunosuppressive therapy was instituted during the primary TB episode and was then followed by recurrence (276, 277). Similarly, recurrent TB has also been documented in renal transplant patients on long term immunosuppression (278). The present study provides for the first-time robust data showing that receiving immunosuppressants anytime from symptom onset until completion of TB treatment in the first TB episode predispose to recurrence. Most study patients received immunosuppressants for appropriate indications including the treatment of co-morbid conditions and the complications of TB, however a minority were for incorrect diagnoses or complications of TB where no significant evidence of benefit existed (see Appendix 3). The data captured within this study cannot quantify the degree to which each individual patient was immunosuppressed or assign a risk of recurrence to different immunosuppressants. Thus, it is unclear which patients may require specific interventions. However, it seems prudent to judiciously use immunosuppressants in patients with suspected or confirmed TB with careful consideration of the risk: benefit ratio.

2.4.5 Study limitations

The completeness and veracity of study data was limited due to several reasons. A number of variables exhibited varying degrees of missing data which was handled through the use of multiple imputation. Whilst this avoids the bias introduced by complete case analysis such as censoring of patients with missing values (279), multiple imputation itself can introduce bias into the results for example if the imputation is misspecified due to incorrect assumptions about the mechanism of missing data, variables in the analysis model and /or the dependent variable is not included in the imputation model or if components are imputed separately (241, 280). Convergence and the appropriateness of the imputed data was checked however imperfections in the imputation procedure or departures from missing at random may have affected variables with large fractions of missing data such as drug susceptibility (241)

The retrospective nature of the dataset impacted the control of confounding in the imputation model and multivariate analysis by several means. The information on several confounding factors (e.g. smoking) was based upon self-reported data and may not represent actual exposure status, although this is likely to have affected cases and controls equally. Likewise, adherence was self-reported and poorly recorded in the medical notes so could not be accounted for. Additionally, several potential confounders such as vitamin D status with high fractions of missing information, lead to imputation model instability and were excluded. It is possible that the omission of potential confounding variables may have misspecified the imputation model and biased subsequent analysis

Misclassification bias may have been introduced into the study and occurs when disease subjects are classified as non-diseased and vice versa (281). Within my study, several factors could misclassify recurrences as non-recurrences and contrariwise. The follow up of patients was passive so patients moving out of the hospital catchment area may not have been captured. Of these patients, those who subsequently experienced recurrence would be misclassified as controls underestimating the total number of recurrences. Similarly, patients who recur but are not renotified could be misclassified as controls. Laboratory cross contamination could misclassify controls as cases but each patient's data was reviewed thoroughly and required a diagnosis of TB from a TB physician, so mitigating this risk. In this study the definition of TB recurrence was independent of bacteriological confirmation and as TB may be mimicked by a variety of conditions (282), the inclusion of culture negative cases could lead to overestimates. For variables which require culture positive results such as drug resistance, the inclusion of culture negative cases could underestimate the association with recurrence leading to a type 2 error. Finally, cases of reinfection and relapse may have been misclassified by the use of low resolution MIRU-VNTR genotyping(161) and future studies of recurrence in the UK should utilise higher resolution whole genome sequencing.

The sample size of the study cohort precluded subgroup analysis including examination of risk factors specific to PTB and EPTB. Similarly, the low proportion of patients with paired DNA strain-typing data prevented the examination of risk factors for relapse and reinfection and lowered the precision of the estimates of both mechanisms of TB recurrence. Low patient numbers may have introduced type 2 errors for several possible risk factors such as age, and UK birth status.

The study was conducted in an urban setting characterised by an over-representation of groups at risk of TB such as immigrants with TB rates higher than the national average,

similar to areas of the country including Birmingham and parts of London (283). The external validity of the study would be improved further by including data from multiple centres, including international settings. Finally, the comparison of this study with other studies is somewhat hampered by several factors including the lack of a standard definition of recurrence across studies and differences in length of follow up after treatment completion.

2.5 Conclusion

In this chapter, I describe a nested case control study examining TB recurrence within a cohort of patients diagnosed with and treated for TB in Leicester. I found the rate of TB recurrence to be low with 1.8% of patients affected over a median 7.8 years of follow up. This is similar to other UK settings (180) suggesting TB treatment and control activities are likely comparable in efficacy to those elsewhere within the UK. However, the presence of TB recurrence within the study cohort suggests that there are still modifiable gaps in TB treatment and control activities (193). Akin to other low incidence settings, relapse was the predominant mechanism of recurrence. Whether targeting of control measures towards relapse is warranted is uncertain.

TB recurrence was deleterious for patient outcomes with a proportion of patients experiencing infection with more resistant strains in the recurrent episode with the attendant issues of longer treatment with often more toxic medication. Some patients died during their recurrent episode. It seems likely that TB recurrence increases morbidity, may economically disadvantage patients and may contribute to overall TB transmission within the community, however since no specific data was collected, this remains conjectural.

I identified several risk factors for TB recurrence within our patient cohort. Factors such as tobacco smoking and ADRs may be addressed by established clinical strategies although whether risk factor modification reduces TB recurrence is unknown although in light of the obvious health benefits, these should nonetheless be pursued. The attendant risk amongst 'Indian subcontinent' and 'other' ethnic groups, who together comprise the largest burden of TB nationally, has significant implications for individual patient management as well as for public health. Future work should incorporate host genetic, socioeconomic and environmental factors to unpick the association between ethnicity and TB recurrence to inform future preventative strategies.

2.6 Priorities for Further Research

Various studies have been conducted in low-burden countries to improve our understanding of recurrent TB, its frequency, underlying mechanisms and risk factors. Future studies of the epidemiology of recurrent TB should seek to improve comparability, for example by developing and applying consensus definitions of recurrence and standardizing the reporting of the frequency and timing of recurrent TB with total length of follow up provided in person-years. This would permit both comparison between sites as well as facilitating the meta-analysis of recurrent TB data.

While studies to date have focused on establishing risk factors for recurrence and distinguishing relapse from reinfection, future research is needed to better understand the biological, microbiological and pathophysiological mechanisms of disease recurrence. Basic science directed towards understanding these mechanisms may highlight novel therapeutic approaches and potential biomarkers predicting the probability of definite cure vs. disease re-activation and reinfection TB. In Leicester, there exists expertise in basic immunology and mycobacteriology as well as physician scientists with expertise in clinical TB. Immunological profiling of recurrent TB cases and comparison with TB controls with the aim of identifying host markers of susceptibility should be pursed. Similarly, predisposing mycobacterial factors should be examined.

Although individual risk factors of recurrence have been identified, to date, little is known about suitable strategies to effectively prevent recurrence among high-risk individuals. Research is needed to understand the benefits of individualized and intensified TB treatment towards achieving long-term cure. This may entail research on the effect of adjuvant therapies to reduce lung destruction and inflammation (284), the modification of other individual risk factors (285), and the possibility of extending the duration of TB treatment for certain groups of patients at high risk of recurrence (193). To properly assess interventions to minimize recurrence will require prospective studies enrolling large numbers of patients, particularly in low incidence settings given the infrequency of the condition. Although Leicester contributes significantly to the national TB burden, this is not a feasible endeavour for a single centre and would require a multicentre involvement

More research is also needed to better understand the long-term consequences of recurrent TB to individuals and health-care systems. There is currently a lack of knowledge about the clinical, social and socio-economic consequences that TB and recurrent TB imposes on patients, their families, and the health-care system. At the health-care level, more information is also needed to understand the extent to which recurrent TB contributes to the overall TB burden in different populations. Particularly in populations where drugresistant and MDR-TB is highly prevalent, the role of TB recurrence towards the acquisition and transmission of drug-resistance, and in reverse, the role of drug-resistance towards increasing recurrent TB, should be investigated. Finally, former TB patients should be re-considered as an important high-risk group for TB control. As low-burden countries will scale up control efforts among high-risk groups in order to reach TB elimination in the future, implementation research and mathematical modelling could help determine the circumstances under which interventions targeted at former TB patients, such as increased efforts to prevent or early detect TB recurrence, may be a cost-effective element of comprehensive TB elimination strategies in low-burden countries and beyond.

Chapter 3: Enhancing the culture of extrapulmonary tuberculosis with resuscitation-promoting factor

3.1 Introduction

Worldwide, EPTB accounted for only 15% of notified cases in 2016 (1). However, the burden of disease in fact varies significantly between settings as shown in a 2013 review of EPTB in Europe which reported that the proportion of EPTB in European countries varied between 4-48% with prevalence highest in the UK (105). Of the TB cases notified in the UK during 2016, 46.1% had EPTB and amongst foreign-born this was 51.4% (16). More locally in the East Midlands, EPTB affected 45.9% of TB cases in 2016 (17). Studies show EPTB is particularly prevalent in certain groups including females (286-288), patients under 25 (288), those with HIV infection (289), and Vitamin D deficiency (290).

EPTB does not feature significantly in TB control strategies as it contributes little to the transmission of disease (291, 292). Nonetheless, it a significant cause of morbidity and mortality (293, 294), for example mortality rates of 17.1-41.2% are reported in cases series of tuberculous meningitis (295, 296). However, the diagnosis of EPTB is often delayed for reasons including the wide spectrum of clinical manifestations of EPTB, the broad range of other conditions with similar clinical features, presentation to non-specialist clinicians who may have a low index of suspicion of TB and the difficulty obtaining an adequate clinical sample for microbiological diagnosis (105, 297).

Once a diagnosis of EPTB is contemplated, confirmation is often difficult due to the limited range of effective diagnostic tests available (298). The sensitivity of these assays is commonly low due to the paucibacillary nature of many extrapulmonary samples and interference/inhibition of molecular amplification assays from the sample matrix (297, 299) (see Section 1.7 for information on the performance of diagnostic tests in EPTB).

Despite advances in the molecular detection of *Mtb*, culture is still considered the gold standard for diagnosis, including that of EPTB (300, 301). Successful cultivation is important for clinical management (302), enabling drug susceptibility testing, typing for outbreak investigations and advance 'omic' studies (118, 300, 303). However in EPTB, culture confirmation rates are consistently lower than those for PTB both nationally and in the East Midlands (16, 17). Furthermore, culture is too slow taking typically 2-4 weeks for bacteriological confirmation (108) which is frequently too slow to influence patient management (304). By optimising culture and bacterial detection, organism isolation and

phenotypic susceptibility can be achieved within five days although these approaches are technically challenging, resource intensive and currently limited to the research setting (108). Currently, there is the lack of an easy approach to increase culture positivity in the era of increasing EPTB prevalence (305).

Rpfs are a family of bacterial proteins, able to stimulate the regrowth of non-replicating bacteria and were first discovered in Micrococcus luteus (56, 306). Mtb possesses 5 rpflike genes whose products exhibit similar biological activity to that of Rpf from M. luteus (306). Rpf are able to resuscitate 'quiescent' *Mtb* although the mechanism is poorly understood with studies suggesting their enzymatic activity is essential for their biological effects (307, 308). Clinical studies where Rpf was added to standard culture either as recombinant proteins or CS demonstrated the presence of dominating populations of Mtb bacilli in sputum which could not be detected by standard culture in liquid 7H9 or solid 7H10 agar (57, 58). A recent study additionally showed an Mtb population only detectable with the use of Rpf-deficient CS (58). Collectively these populations were designated differentially culturable tubercle bacilli (DCTB) (58, 59). There is increasing experimental evidence that the presence of DCTB has ramifications for clinical and treatment outcomes. CS-dependent and Rpf-dependent Mtb were apparently enriched in treated patients and showed high level tolerance to killing by antimicrobials including rifampicin (57), streptomycin and isoniazid (309). Furthermore, the eradication of CS-dependent Mtb prevented relapse in a Cornell Mouse model (310). Finally, the application of recombinant Rpf or Rpf-containing CS has often increased bacterial yield in a substantial number of sputum samples and in some cases enabled the recovery of Mtb from specimens that would be otherwise culture negative by standard culture methods (57, 58) and also reduced the TTP of sputum culture positive after more than 20 days by standard culture methods (109). These findings highlight the potential for Rpf to improve culture diagnostic performance.

To date, three independent studies have highlighted the presence of DCTB in sputum samples (57, 58, 109), however it is unknown whether DCTB are commonly present in EPTB and if Rpf-containing CS can stimulate CS-dependent DCTB populations so potentially improving EPTB culture sensitivity and TTP. Given the consistently lower culture confirmation rate of EPTB compared to sputum, I focused specifically upon EPTB samples. The work presented in this chapter details a novel clinical diagnostic study evaluating the impact of Rpf-containing CS supplementation on the standard culture of EPTB samples compared to a composite reference standard. Given the likely impact of DCTB on clinical outcomes, I also evaluated the presence of DCTB populations in EPTB samples and host factors which may modulate CS-dependent populations.

3.2 Methods

3.2.1 Study setting and design

This pilot diagnostic study was conducted at UHL between 1st of January 2015 and 29th of February 2016. Patients suitable for screening were identified from those referred to the rapid access TB clinic and from inpatients and outpatients of the respiratory medicine and infectious diseases services.

Patients were eligible for inclusion in the study if they were ≥ 18 years of age, suspected to have EPTB or EPTB with concomitant pulmonary tuberculosis (PTB) and were willing and able to give written informed consent for inclusion in the study. Where patients were identified as potential EPTB cases and recruited prior undergoing diagnostic sampling, consent was sought to collect an additional sample for research purposes. In some cases, patients were only identified as potential EPTB cases after they had already undergone diagnostic sampling. Where there was a surplus of clinical material in the clinical diagnostic laboratory, consent was sought from the patient to use this for research purposes. In some cases, samples were identified in the microbiology laboratory as coming from patients with suspected EPTB however consent for inclusion in the study could not be sought from the patient. Ethical approval was obtained to use material (acellular fluid or tissue samples) from such patients as long as the sample was provided during the course of an investigation planned as part of the patient's routine medical care, it had undergone routine processing by the UHL microbiology department (UHL-MD) and was surplus to requirements. It was specified by the ethics committee that samples obtained by this last route be pseudonymised. If the patient was unable to provide a clinical sample and/or did not meet the inclusion criteria, they were excluded.

Patients recruited to the study received a unique study number which was used throughout the study. Numbers were not allocated consecutively due to a concurrent study utilising the same study file. Spent samples included in the study were allocated a letter as an identifier. Data was collected from consented patients by a review of the clinical notes. Data for spent samples was obtained from the TBIT database. Haematology and biochemistry values utilised in the study were those closest (<1 month) to the date of EPTB sample acquisition.

3.2.2 Study definitions

The definitions used in this study are described in section 2.2.4. The definition of Vitamin D deficiency used in this study differs as one assay was in use for the duration of the study.
Co-morbidities:

• <u>25-OH Vitamin D₃ deficiency:</u> serum concentration of <30nmol / L within 1 month of EPTB diagnosis.

Growth assays:

• <u>Differentially culturable tubercule bacilli (DCTB)</u>: the population of bacteria that is elucidated when the bacterial count, as calculated by the MPN assay, exceeds the number of plateable bacilli (CFU count) (58)

3.2.3 Sample storage and processing

Samples were received and stored in the UHL-MD category 3 laboratory prior to transfer to the category 3 laboratory at the University of Leicester (UoL) using an approved UN 3373 transport box. Samples collected prospectively by me from patients during the course of their planned diagnostic procedure were stored at 4°C prior to transport. Samples processed by UHL-MD prior to their retrieval for research purposes were either stored at either 4°C or -20°C. For those samples stored at -20°C, some were directly frozen and some were decontaminated according to UHL-MD protocol (see figure 3.1) and then frozen to 20°C. The handling of samples other than those prospectively collected by me was at the behest of UHL-MD biomedical scientist staff. Packed clinical samples were transported to UoL on ice

Samples received at the UoL category 3 laboratory were stored avoiding additional freeze-thaw cycles. The processing of samples used UHL-MD protocols based upon the UK Standards for Microbiology Investigations published by PHE (92). To minimize the risk of contamination, all media preparation was performed in a class II biological safety cabinet. All clinical samples were from patients suspected to have EPTB therefore all sample manipulation, decontamination and culture were performed under biosafety level 3 conditions.

Samples were prepared for decontamination using the following methods: tissues were homogenised by repeated vortexing for 10 minutes in a sterile 20ml Universal container with sterile ceramic beads and 5ml of 0.9% NaCl; bone samples were similarly homogenised using sterile glass 20ml Universal containers with glass beads and 5ml of 0.9% NaCl; fluid specimens were centrifuged in a HeraeusTM MegafugeTM 40R (Thermoscientific) at 2500g for 25 minutes and the deposit resuspended in 1ml of fluid from the original clinical sample by vortexing. To make the sample safe for ZN staining under class 2 conditions,100µl of deposit or 10% of tissue sample was fixed in 4% (w/v) paraformaldehyde overnight and then stained using a cold ZN staining method as previously described (311). *Mycobacterium. smegmatis* and *Escherichia coli* were used as positive and negative staining controls respectively. ZN stain results for samples decontaminated by UHL-MD were copied from pathology records.

Decontamination of samples prepared as previously described followed the standard UHL-MD protocol (see figure 3.1). Those samples already decontaminated by UHL-MD were not further decontaminated. Non-cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) sterile site samples contaminated with blood were decontaminated using 4% H₂SO₄ (Fisher Scientific, Loughborough, UK) to reduce false positive signalling with the BACTEC 960 system (BD Biosciences, San Jose, California, USA) (92). Lymph node samples obtained by endobronchial ultrasound (EBUS) were decontaminated using freshly prepared 4% (w/v) NaOH (Fisher Scientific). Samples were resuspended by vortexing (see figure 3.1 for details). The resuspended deposit / non-decontaminated sample was then used for growth assays.





Adapted from UHL-MD laboratory protocol for the processing of samples for mycobacterial culture.

3.2.4 Mycobacterial growth assays

For each clinical sample, 2 MPN assays were performed 1) MPN assay performed using Rpf-containing CS supplementation (MPN_CS) 2) MPN with no CS supplementation (MPN_7H9). These two assays permitted the detection of 'CS-dependent' DCTB and 'CS-independent' DCTB respectively. The number of CS-dependent DCTB were calculated by log10 (MPN_CS / CFU) and CS-independent DCTB by log10 (MPN_7H9 / CFU). Rpf-depleted CS from a quintuple *rpf* deletion *Mtb* mutant was unavailable for this project thus 'Rpf-independent' DCTB populations could not be examined. EPTB sample volumes were insufficient to permit multiple technical replicates of CFU assays thus mean values and 95% confidence intervals could not be constructed for CFU counts. Differences of greater than the order of one log10 were considered significant to account for the lack of confidence values and the potential for mycobacterial clumping.

For the MPN growth assays, Middlebrook 7H9 medium (BD Biosciences) was prepared with supplementary 10% (v/v) OADC supplement (oleic acid, albumin, dextrose and catalase; BD Biosciences), 0.05% (w/ v) Tween 80 (Fisher Scientific), 0.2% (v/v) glycerol and 1.5% (v/v) reconstituted BBL PANTA solution (polymyxin, amphotericin B, nalidixic acid, trimethoprim and azlocillin; BD Biosciences). For the preparation of the MPN_CS, freeze dried CS was obtained from laboratory stocks which had been stored at -80°C for ≤ 6 months (the preparation of freeze dried culture supernatant is described in Appendix 4). Freeze dried CS was reconstituted in sterile deionised water on ice and dissolved over 30 minutes. Reconstituted CS was added 50% (v/v) to the supplemented 7H9 medium. The sterility of CS was checked with each experiment. Middlebrook 7H10 agar (BD Biosciences) with 10% (vol/vol) Middlebrook OADC supplement was used for the CFU assay. To reduce contamination, 100µl of reconstituted PANTA solution was spread evenly on 7H10 agar plates and allowed to dry before the plates were used.

The precision and repeatability of the MPN and CFU assays were assessed. Six technical replicates were performed for both MPN and CFU assays of one laboratory *M. smegmatis* mc2155 and 2 laboratory *Mycobacterium bovis* BCG cultures. The isolates were grown at 37°C in a modified 7H9 medium. This differed from the supplemented 7H9 medium described previously in that OADC supplement was replaced with 10% (v/v) ADC supplement (Albumin Dextrose Catalase; BD Biosciences) and no PANTA was used. At an optical density of \geq 0.8 at 580nm as determined by CO8000 cell density meter (Biochrom Ltd, Cambridge, UK), the culture was diluted 10,000-fold in modified 7H9 medium. MPN assays were done in quadruplicate in a 48-well microtitre plate (Greiner

Bio-One Ltd, Stonehouse, UK) by adding 50µl of diluted culture to 450µl of modified 7H9 medium and serially diluting tenfold. For the CFU assay, the diluted culture was further serially diluted tenfold in modified 7H9 medium and 10µl of each dilution placed on the 7H10 agar plate (no PANTA applied). Dilutions were plated in triplicate. *M. smegmatis* plates were incubated for \leq 5 days and *M. bovis* BCG for \leq 5 weeks. Contamination was assessed by plating the original culture on Lysogeny agar (Fisher Scientific). MPN counts were calculated using the U.S. Food and Drug Administration method (312). CFU counts were derived by counting colonies from appropriate dilutions. Mycobacterial aetiology was confirmed using ZN staining.

DCTB populations in patient samples were assessed using MPN_CS, MPN_7H9 and CFU assays. MPN_CS and MPN_7H9 assays were performed in quadruplicate in 48-well microtitre plates by adding 50 μ l of neat decontaminated sample to 450 μ l of media and serially diluting tenfold. For the CFU assay, the neat decontaminated sample was serially diluted tenfold in supplemented 7H9 medium and 10 μ l of the neat sample and of each dilution placed on a 7H10 agar plate in triplicate. 100 μ l of neat processed sample was also placed upon a 7H10 agar plate to increase culture sensitivity. MPN and CFU assay plates were incubated for approximately 12 weeks at 37°C under standard atmospheric conditions. Those samples negative for growth at 12 weeks were discarded or earlier if fungal contamination was visualised. Cultures were reviewed on a weekly basis for growth. MPN and CFU counts were calculated as previously described. The limit of detection for MPN assay was 5 x 10⁰ CFU ml⁻¹ and the CFU assay was 1 x 10¹ CFU ml⁻¹ (for patients recruited before 25/03/2015, only 3 x 10 μ l of neat sample was plated making the limit of detection 3.33 x 10¹ CFU ml⁻¹).

3.2.5 Mycobacterium tuberculosis identification and typing

Where growth was observed in the CFU assay, colonies were transferred from the solid agar plate and suspended in 0.5ml of standard 7H9 medium in a 1.5ml Eppendorf tube (Fisher Scientific). For positive MPN assays, 0.5ml of liquid culture medium was transferred from the relevant MPN microtitre plate well to a 1.5ml Eppendorf tube. Wherever possible, culture was taken from the MPN_7H9 assay to avoid genomic DNA (gDNA) contamination from CS. Samples were spun at 13000g in an Espresso microcentrifuge (Thermoscientific) for 10 minutes. The supernatant was removed and the pellet washed with 1ml of unsupplemented 7H9 medium. This process was repeated twice. The final pellet was resuspended in 500µl of unsupplemented 7H9 medium. 50µl was used for ZN staining as previously described. The sample was then sterilised by heating to 100°C for 1 hour in a dry heat block (Grant Boekel) for *Mtb* gDNA extraction.

Gene	Primer name	Primer sequence
rpoB	<i>rpoB</i> forward primer	5'GGAGGCGATCACACCGCAGACGTT 3'
	<i>rpoB</i> reverse primer	5'ACCTCCAGCCCGGCACGCTCACGT 3'
16S rRNA	16S rRNA forward primer	5' GAGATACTCGAGTGGCGAAC 3'
	16S rRNA reverse primer	5' GGCCGGCTACCCGTCGTC 3'

Table 3.1 Primer sequences for Mycobacterium tuberculosis identification

To identify whether the isolate was mycobacterial in origin a polymerase chain reaction (PCR) targeting 16S rRNA gene was performed (313). A PCR targeting the rpoB gene was used to confirm membership of the *Mtb* complex. Primer sequences were those published by El-Hajj et al (313) (see Table 3.1). Primers were produced by Sigma-Aldrich (Dorset, UK). The reaction mixture contained 4.6µl PCR grade water (Sigma Aldrich), 2.0µl 5x Green GoTaq[®] reaction buffer (Promega, Madison, USA), 1.0µl of dNTPs (2nM) (Promega), 0.5 µl of forward primer (10µM), 0.5 µl of reverse primer (10µM), 0.4 µl of GoTaq G2 DNA polymerase (Promega) and 1.0 µl of sample DNA. 16S rRNA and rpoB PCR reactions were performed on a T100 PCR thermocycler (Biorad, Hemel Hempstead, UK). Cycling conditions were 95°C for 5 minutes, 30 cycles of 95 °C for 30 seconds, 60 °C for 30 seconds and 72.5 °C for 60 seconds. A final cycle of 72.5 °C for 10 minutes was performed. PCR amplicons were separated using gel electrophoresis with a 2% (w/v) agarose gel (Fisher Scientific) and visualised. Amplicon size was determined using a DNA ladder (Hyperladder 100bp plus (Bioline, London, UK) or Generuler 100bp-10kbp (Fisher Scientific)). The 16S rRNA amplicon was predicted to be 208bp and rpoB amplicon 189bp (313). For each PCR, Mtb H37Rv gDNA was used as a positive control and PCR grade water as a negative control.

Any isolates confirmed by PCR as a member of the *Mtb* complex were verified by 24 locus MIRU-VNTR typing as described by Supply et al (238). This was to identify cross contamination with the *Mtb* laboratory strain H37Rv and to identify individual strains. For each isolate, individual PCRs using primer sets for each locus were run (for primer sequences for each MIRU-VNTR locus see Appendix 5). PCR reaction mixture, thermocycling parameters and amplicon visualisation on agarose gel electrophoresis followed the method previously described for 16S and *rpoB* PCR. The number of repeats for each locus was calculated by the amplicon size (see Appendix 6). The strain lineage was confirmed using the MIRU-VNTR plus web resource (314). MIRU-VNTR sequences

generated at UoL were compared with the reference laboratory typing data when available (see Appendix 7).

3.2.6 Effect of culture supernatant on clinical sample time-to-positivity determined using a BacTec MGIT 960 system

The effect of Rpf-containing CS supplementation on the TTP of MGIT culture was measured using a standard 7ml BBL MGIT (MGIT 7H9) and one prepared with 50% (v/v) culture supernatant (MGIT CS). The MGITs were prepared in a class II biological safety cabinet to minimise contamination. For the preparation of MGIT 7H9, 115µl of reconstituted PANTA (1.5% v/vl) and 0.8ml of BACTEC MGIT growth supplement (BD Biosciences) were added aseptically to a standard MGIT from which 115µl of 7H9 medium had been removed. For the preparation of the MGIT CS, sterile deionised water was added to freeze dried CS and left on ice for 30 minutes to dissolve. 3.515ml of 7H9 medium was removed from the MGIT tube. 0.4ml of BACTEC MGIT growth supplement, 115µl of reconstituted PANTA (1.5% v/v) and 3.8ml of reconstituted CS were then added to the MGIT. The MGITs were transferred immediately to the biosafety level 3 laboratory. 0.5ml of processed patient sample was inoculated into each MGIT as soon as possible after MGIT preparation. The inoculated MGITs were then transported to UHL-MD in a secured transport box and loaded onto the BACTEC 960 system. MGITs were incubated at 37°C for ≤6 weeks and the growth index measured automatically by the BACTEC 960 system (BD Biosciences). Positive cultures were confirmed as mycobacteria by ZN staining. When no growth occurred after 6 weeks, MGITs were classified as negative as recommended by the manufacturer. Where growth only occurred in MGITs and not in MPN / CFU assays, identification of Mtb complex by PCR and 24 locus MIRU-VNTR typing was performed. The difference in TTP was calculated between the paired MGITs. As per the agreed standard operating procedure (SOP), only one pair of MGITs (MGIT CS & MGIT 7H9) was transported per week from UoL to UHL. This mandated some patient samples to be frozen / refrozen at -80°C pending MGIT inoculation.

3.2.7 Reference standard and units of analysis

Culture is known to be a poor reference standard for EPTB (315), thus a composite reference standard (CRS) was used as the reference standard for this diagnostic study to define subjects as disease positive and disease negative. Patients were categorised into proven TB (culture positive, smear negative & culture positive or smear positive & culture positive), probable TB (culture negative but symptoms and signs of tuberculosis and

radiological and / or histopathological / cytological evidence of TB), possible TB (symptoms and signs compatible with active TB with a clinical response to TB treatment at 3 months) or not TB (symptoms and signs compatible with TB without diagnostic evidence of TB and improvement without TB treatment) (315). Possible, probable and proven TB patients were classified as CRS positive and not TB as CRS negative.

Solid and liquid culture media are typically both inoculated when TB is suspected (33) thus liquid and solid culture were analysed together as one unit of analysis in this study. The MPN_7H9 and CFU assay from each sample were analysed together and classified as the standard culture method. MPN_CS and CFU assay were analysed together and represented the effect of Rpf-containing CS on culture performance.

3.2.8 Statistical analysis

This study was a pilot therefore did not require formal statistical powering (316). Continuous variables were examined using the Wilcoxon rank-sum and Kruskal-Wallis test. Fisher's exact test was used to examine categorical variables. Spearman rank correlation with Bonferroni correction was used for continuous variables. The sensitivity, specificity, positive predictive value, negative predictive value and their respective 95% confidence intervals were calculated for each unit of analysis against the CRS standard using the 'diagt' command of the Stata 13.1 statistics package (Statacorp, Texas, USA). Graphs were produced using Microsoft Excel 2013 (Microsoft, Redmond, USA), Prism[®] version 6 (Graphpad Software, California, USA) and Stata 13.1. The study was conducted using the principles outlined in the STARD initiative (317).

3.2.9 Ethical approval

The study was approved by National Research Ethics Service Committee East Midlands Leicester (07/Q2501/58).

3.3 Results

3.3.1 Patient recruitment and study population

Between the 1st of January 2015 and 29th of February 2016, 55 patients were screened and 46 patients were eligible (see Figure 3.2). After exclusions 41 patients remained in the study, of whom 31 patients provided 1 sample, 7 patients 2 samples, 2 patients 3 samples and 1 patient 4 samples. One sample was excluded for early fungal contamination making 54 samples in the final analysis. (For a breakdown of samples by tissue type and anatomical location, see Appendices 8&9).

Figure 3.2 Flow diagram describing patient flow in the study



1 - Diagnosis re-evaluated after recruitment to study.

The baseline characteristics of the study participants are shown in table 3.2. The age of patients without TB was significantly higher than those with TB (p=0.034). Otherwise no significant differences were found between the two groups. There was a high prevalence of Vitamin D deficiency in both groups and no samples were positive upon AFB smear microscopy indicating all samples were paucibacillary. 25 patients were classified by the CRS as proven TB, 8 as probable TB, 1 as possible TB and 7 as not TB (for individual patient classifications see appendices 8&9).

	Tuberculosis n=34 N (%)	Not Tuberculosis n=7 N (%)
Age (year, +/-SD)	38.9 (+/-14.2)	55.0 (+/-19.4)
Gender		
Male	18 (52.0)	4 (57.2)
Female	16 (47.1)	3 (42.8)
Weight (kg) ^a	65 (59-91)**	49
Ethnic group [†]		
White	1 (3.0)	2 (28.5)
South Asian	28 (82.3)	5 (71.5)
Afro-Caribbean	5 (14.7)	0
Tobacco smoking	4 (11.7)	0
Alcohol consumption ^b	7 (21.8)	1 (20.0)
Co-morbidities		
HIV type 1 infection	5 (14.7)	1 (14.3)
Anti-retroviral therapy	4 (11.8)	1 (14.3)
Vitamin D deficiency ^c	26 (86.6)	2 (66.6)
Laboratory		
Haemoglobin (g/dl) ^d	11.5 (10.0-12.4)**	11.6 (9.6-12.6)**
Neutrophils (x10 ⁹ cells/L) ^d	4.3 (3.4-7.5)**	5.7 (4.4-10.5)**
Lymphocytes (x10 ⁹ cells/L) ^d	1.7 (1.4-2.0)**	1.7 (0.6-1.9)**
Monocytes (x10 ⁹ cells/L) ^d	0.5 (0.4-0.6)**	0.4 (0.3-0.7)**
Lymphocyte: Monocyte ratio ^d	3.1 (2.7-3.9)**	2.7 (2.3-4.7)**
Creatinine (µmol/L) ^d	57 (51-62)**	75 (55-321)**
C-reactive protein (mg/L) ^e	39 (13-92)**	75 (16-77)**
Primary disease site		
PTB +EPTB	10 (29.4)	n/a
ЕРТВ	24 (70.6)	n/a
Clinical symptoms		
Night sweats ^f	17 (53.1)	1 (20)
Fever ^g	21 (63.6)	2 (33.3)
Weight loss ^h	12 (40)	0
AFB smear positive	0	0
<i>Mtb</i> culture positive [†]	18 (48.7)	0

Table 3.2 Patient baseline characteristics

Missing data: a=8&6; b=2&2; c= 4&4; d=1&0; e=4&0; f=2&2; g=1&1; h=4&2. †8 (42%) of isolates belonged to the Delhi/CAS lineage, 4 (21%) East African-Indian, 2 (11%) Haarlem, 1(5%) Beijing, 1 Turkish, 1 S-type and 1 H37Rv-like as determined by MIRU-VNTR typing. ** median value and interquartile range. South Asian ethnicity - Indian, Pakistani and Bangladeshi; Afro-Caribbean ethnicity - Black African and Black Caribbean. List of abbreviations: AFB – acid fast bacilli; n/a – not applicable; SD – standard deviation.

3.3.2 Assay validation

The MPN and CFU assay technical replicates are shown in Figure 3.3. The results show concordance between CFU and MPN assays as demonstrated by the overlapping 95% CIs for both methods (see Figure 3.3).

Figure 3.3 Concordance demonstrated between the culture cell counts as determined by MPN and CFU assays



MPN and CFU assay validation

The mean values with 95% confidence intervals are shown for the 6 technical replicates of each assay. List of abbreviations: BCG - *M. bovis* BCG; M smeg - *M. smegmatis* MC2155

The *rpoB* and 16S *rRNA* PCR amplified gDNA from the laboratory *Mtb* strain H37Rv confirming correct specification of the PCR and thermocycler. The 'no-template' control excluded extraneous nucleic acid contamination (see figure 3.4). The specificity of the PCR primer set had been previously verified and was not repeated (313). The strain identification generated by the 24-locus MIRU-VNTR performed at UoL (see figure 3.5) showed concordance with that from the PHE reference laboratory in Birmingham (see Appendix 7).



Figure 3.4 A gel showing amplification products from PCRs targeting 16S rRNA & rpoB

Hyperladder 100bp plus DNA ladder: Lane 1,9,18 & 18; *rpoB* PCR: Lane 2 – *Mtb* H37Rv gDNA positive control; Lane 3 –no template negative control; Lane 4-8 clinical samples; 16S *rRNA* PCR: Lane 11 Mtb H37Rv gDNA positive control; Lane 12: no template negative control; Lane 13-17 clinical samples.



Figure 3.5 Example 24 locus MIRU-VNTR gel from patient 36

Lane 1&26: DNA ladder - Hyperladder 100bp plus. Lane 2 -6: ETR-A – ETR-E; 7-16: MIRU02-MIRU40; 17-25: Mtub04 - QUB-4156

3.3.3 MPN and CFU growth assays

The bacillary counts for MPN_CS, MPN_7H9 and CFU assays of the 19 culture positive samples are graphically displayed in figure 3.6. Numerical values are presented in appendices 8&9. Bacillary counts ranged over log₁₀ 0.69-6.7 for MPN_CS, log₁₀ 0.69-4.5 for MPN_7H9 and log₁₀ 1-3.9 for the CFU assay. In 42% (8/19) samples the MPN_7H9 counts were lower than MPN_CS and CFU counts. In 42% (8/19) samples CS-dependent *Mtb* were dominating populations, including 3 samples which produced *Mtb* cultures only with CS-supplementation. Interestingly in 9 out of 19 samples (42%) there was no significant difference between CFU and MPN_CS counts (taking in consideration limit of confidence) and in 2 samples plateable *Mtb* exceeded those grown in liquid media.





MPN_CS bars topped with * indicate samples with dominating CS-dependent populations. The error bars indicate the 95% confidence intervals for the MPN values. Patterned bars- samples recovered only with CS supplementation. The CFU assay limit of detection for sample 12 is 33 cfu/ml; for all other samples is 10 cfu/ml. MPN assay limit of detection was 5 cfu/ml. †This sample was collected 10 days before the 2nd sample from patient 31. ‡ The 95% confidence interval for this sample crosses the x-axis and is not shown below it. Due to small sample volumes, only a single CFU assay technical replicate was performed per sample meaning 95% confidence intervals were not calculable

3.3.4 The diagnostic impact of culture supernatant supplementation

The combined sensitivity of the standard method (MPN_7H9 and CFU) was 36% and specificity 100% when compared to the CRS (see Table 3.3). The supplementation of liquid culture with Rpf-containing CS increased the combined sensitivity to 43% and specificity remained 100%. The overlapping of 95% confidence intervals indicated this increase was statistically not significant. Analysis by sample type indicated Rpf-containing CS improved sensitivity for lymph node by 7% and tissue biopsy culture by 25% although this was not statistically significant. Patients recruited into the study also had samples processed by the UHL-MD as part of routine clinical management. The combined sensitivity of MGIT and LJ culture was 64% and specificity 100% compared to the CRS.

Method vs		Lymph	Tissue	Fluids	Pus	Pooled
CRS		Nodes	biopsies	(%)	(%)	Analysis
		% (95% CI)	% (95% CI)	95% CI	95% CI	(%) 95% CI
MPN_CS	Sens	40 (18-67)	63 (26-90)	25 (5-64)	55 (25-82)	43 (29-59)
+ CFU	Spec	100 (31-100)	100 (31-100)	100 (20-100)	100 (20-100)	100 (66-100)
	PPV	100 (52-100)	100 (46-100)	100 (20-100)	100 (52-100)	100 (80-100)
	NPV	25 (7-57)	50 (14-86)	25 (5-64)	29 (5-70)	29 (15-47)
MPN_7H9	Sens	33 (13-61)	38 (10-74)	25 (5-64)	55 (25-82)	36 (23-52)
+ CFU	Spec	100 (31-100)	100 (31-100)	100 (20-100)	100 (20-100)	100 (66-100)
	PPV	100 (46-100)	100 (31-100)	100 (20-100)	100 (52-100)	100 (75-100)
	NPV	23 (6-54)	38 (10-74)	25 (5-64)	29 (5-70)	26 (14-43)
LJ	Sens	80 (51-95)	50 (18-83)	50 (17-83)	72 (39-93	64 (48-77)
+ MGIT [†]	Spec	100 (31-100)	100 (31-100)	100 (20-100)	100 (20-100)	100 (66-100)
	PPV	100 (70-100)	100 (40-100)	100 (40-100)	100 (60-100)	100 (85-100)
	NPV	50 (14-86)	43 (12-80)	33 (6-76)	40 (7-83)	38 (21-59)

Table 3.3 The impact of Rpf-containing CS on EPTB culture diagnostic performance

CSF is included in the pooled analysis but is not analysed separately as only 2 samples present. † LJ agar and MGIT culture performed at UHL-MD. Abbreviations: CFU – colony forming unit; CRS – composite reference standard LJ – Lowenstein-Johnson agar; MGIT – mycobacterial growth indicator tube; MPN_CS – most probable number assay (MPN) with 7H9 medium supplemented with Rpf-containing culture supernatant; MPN_7H9 – MPN assay with 7H9 medium; NPV – negative predictive value; PPV – positive predictive value; sens – sensitivity; spec – specificity

		Refrigerated (n/t)	95% CI	Frozen (n/t)	95% CI	Decontaminated and Frozen (n/t) [†]	95% CI
MPN_CS+CFU	Sensitivity	71% (15/21)	48-88	40%(4/10)	14-73	0% (0/13)	0-28
	Specificity	100% (9/9)	63-100	n/a	n/a	100% (1/1)	5-100
MPN_7H9+CFU	Sensitivity	62% (13/21)	39-81	30%(3/10)	8-65	0% (0/13)	0-28
	Specificity	100% (9/9)	63-100	n/a	n/a	100% (1/1)	5-100

Table 3.4 The effect of storage conditions on culture diagnostic performance

Storage conditions: refrigerated – storage at 4°C; frozen – storage at -20°C; decontaminated and frozen: decontamination as per standard protocol and storage at -20°C. Abbreviations: n/t – number of total; n/a – not applicable

Analysis of pre-analytical sample handling (see Table 3.4) revealed that culture of those samples refrigerated at 4°C prior to processing in MPN_CS & CFU exhibited a combined sensitivity of 71% for the diagnosis of TB using CRS as the reference standard (for detailed information of sample storage conditions see Appendices 8 and 9). Culture of those samples frozen to -20°C prior to study inclusion exhibited a sensitivity of 40% and those decontaminated and frozen prior to study inclusion 0%. A similar effect was seen for culture in MPN_7H9 combined with CFU.

3.3.5 The impact of Rpf-containing CS on MGIT time-to-positivity.

14 samples from 13 patients were inoculated into MGIT_CS and MGIT_7H9. One sample was contaminated with fungi and discarded. Six paired MGITs were culture positive for *Mtb* (see Table 3.5). In two samples (patient 31 & H), *Mtb* was only grown in the MGIT_CS. The sample from patient H was negative by MPN_CS, MPN_7H9 and CFU assays. The isolate was typed and identified as a clinical strain (see Appendix 8). Two samples exhibited growth stimulation with CS and two - inhibition. Patient 51's sample was heavily blood stained and frequently flagged positive despite no growth seen on ZN staining potentially introducing error. There were no significant differences in TTP between MGIT_CS and MGIT_7H9 (p=0.42). There was no significant correlation between the CS-DCTB population calculated by growth assays and the differential TTP (p=0.22).

Patient	MGIT_CS TTP	MGIT_7H9 TTP	Differential TTP
31†	15 days 19 hours	neg	pos CS MGIT
32	neg	neg	neg
36	neg	neg	neg
38	24 days 14 hours	38 days 3 hours	pos 13 days 13 hours
40	10 days 15 hours	10 days 8 hours	neg 7 hours
46	neg	neg	neg
50	neg	neg	neg
51*	21 days 23 hours	15 days 0 hours	neg 6 days 23 hours
52	23 days 18 hours	24 days 15 hours	pos 21 hours
53	neg	neg	neg
54	neg	neg	neg
В	neg	neg	neg
\mathbf{H}^{\ddagger}	16 days 7 hours	neg	pos CS MGIT

Table 3.5 The effect of culture supernatant supplementation on MGIT time to positivity.

* heavily blood stained; † later 2nd pleural fluid sample from patient 31; ‡ This sample was culture negative at UHL-MD

3.3.6 Measures of bacterial load and their correlation with host factors

MPN_CS counts were correlated with host and bacillary factors (see Table 4.8). Only the host peripheral blood lymphocyte count (PLC) correlated significantly the MPN_CS count (p=0.04). No other significant correlations were found. Similarly, no correlation between host and bacillary factors and either the MPN_7H9 or CFU bacillary count were found. Multivariate analysis was not performed.

Factors	Proportion	P value						
	n=18							
	n (%)							
Age (year, +/-SD)	38.6 (+/-14.3)	0.52						
Gender								
Male	Reference							
Female	6 (33.3)	0.85						
Weight (kg) ^a	64.5 (60-83)**	0.91						
Ethnicity								
Indian subcontinent	Reference							
Afro-Caribbean	3 (16.7)	0.81						
Habitual tobacco smoking	2 (11.1)	0.53						
Habitual alcohol consumption	4 (22.2)	0.83						
HIV type 1 infection	3 (16.7)	0.37						
Anti-retroviral therapy	2 (11.1)	1.00						
Vitamin D deficiency ^b	14 (82.3)	0.23						
Haemoglobin (g/dl +/-SD)	12.1 (+/-15.2)	0.18						
Neutrophils (x10 ⁹ cells/L)	4.4 (3.4-5.9)**	0.20						
Lymphocytes (x10 ⁹ cells/L)	1.5 (1.0-2.0)**	0.04						
Monocytes (x10 ⁹ cells/L)	0.5 (0.4-0.6)**	0.31						
Monocyte: Lymphocyte ratio	0.35 (0.28-0.45)**	0.11						
Creatinine (µmol/l)	58 (51-62)**	0.88						
C-reactive protein (mg/L)	87 (29-118)**	0.85						
Primary disease site								
PTB+EPTB	Reference							
EPTB	12 (66.6)	0.85						
Strain lineage		0.45						
Sample storage temperature								
4°C	Reference							
-20 °C	4 (22.2)	0.92						
Storage duration (days)	7 (5-9)**	0.97						
Decontamination								
None	Reference							
H ₂ SO ₄	9 (50.0)	0.45						
NaOH	4 (22.3)	0.16						
Granulomas visible upon histology ^c	9 (56.2)	0.29						

Table 3.6 The correlation of host and bacillary factors to MPN_CS log10 bacterial counts.

 $\label{eq:main_state} \begin{array}{l} \mbox{Missing data: $a=4$; $b=1$; $c=2.**Median value and interquartile range. List of abbreviations: EPTB - extrapulmonary tuberculosis; PTB - pulmonary tuberculosis; SD - standard deviation. \end{array}$

3.4 Discussion

In this pilot study, CS-DCTB were isolated from a range of anatomically and physiologically diverse sites ranging from colonic tissue to vertebral bone (see Appendix 9). This indicates CS-DCTB are not exclusive to sputum, rather their formation is a ready occurrence during the course of *Mtb* infection of the human host as exemplified by the presence of dominating CS-DCTB populations in 42% of EPTB culture positive samples.

By examining associations between host factors and MPN_CS bacillary counts I was able to demonstrate a significant positive correlation with the host peripheral blood lymphocyte count. This adds to the growing evidence that the host immune response plays a significant role in CS-dependent DCTB formation.

The addition of Rpf-containing CS to standard 7H9 liquid culture medium combined with solid 7H10 agar enabled the recovery of *Mtb* from three samples which would otherwise have yielded negative growth. Although this increased the sensitivity of standard culture, due to the small sample size no statistically significant effect was demonstrated.

3.4.1 EPTB disease results in CS-DCTB formation

Previous studies have demonstrated the presence of CS-dependent and Rpf-dependent *Mtb* bacilli (57, 58) in the sputum of humans suffering from PTB. Through the use of MPN and CFU growth assays I found dominating CS-dependent DCTB populations were present in EPTB disease. The range of anatomical sites sampled was broad (see Appendix 9) including intrathoracic and extrathoracic lymph nodes, vertebral bone, intestinal sites and pleural fluid. This evidence indicates that CS-dependent and Rpf-dependent bacilli are not exclusive to sputum, rather their formation is an important manifestation of *Mtb* infection and host interactions. This concurs with the findings of Turapov et al (318) who infected mice intranasally with *M. bovis* BCG and found that Rpf-dependent bacilli were formed by 2 weeks of infection whereas *ex vivo* incubation with lung homogenates and serum failed to induce their formation. Similarly, Manina et al found non-replicating but metabolically active *Mtb* bacilli as well as actively growing bacilli were generated during the course of wild type mouse infection whereas only actively replicating *Mtb* bacilli were found in IFNγ-deficient mice, so indicating the importance of the host immune response in generating bacterial phenotypic heterogeneity(319).

The proportion of EPTB samples containing CS-dependent DCTB was lower than that reported for in other studies examining DCTB populations in sputum (57, 58). Whether a

true difference in the formation of DCTB population exists between EPTB and PTB is uncertain as I did not recruit patients with PTB as a comparator group.

In this study, I did not elucidate CS-independent DCTB (where the number of organisms in MPN_7H9 is greater than in CS-supplemented MPN assays and similarly exceeds the plateable cell count). These were present in 1.8% of sputum samples in a study by Chengalroyen et al (58). This finding may simply reflect the small number of samples recruited into this pilot study. I noted the MPN_7H9 bacillary counts were less than either the MPN_CS and CFU counts in 42% (8/19) of samples. Mukamolova et al (57) noted the presence of inhibitory activity in sputum, reflected by MPN_7H9 counts lower than CFU counts which was abrogated by washing steps. Inhibitory activity present in samples may account for the lower MPN_7H9 counts however small sample volumes prevented further investigation.

There is accumulating evidence that the host immune response is a critical factor in formation of DCTB populations and the heterogeneity witnessed between hosts. I examined host and bacillary factors finding a significant positive correlation between the host peripheral blood lymphocyte count and the MPN CS bacillary count. This finding supports the findings of others that the cellular immune response is a key determinant of the population proportions of CS-dependent bacilli (58, 318). Unfortunately, lymphocyte immunophenotyping was not routinely performed in the clinical setting thus I was unable to determine if specific lymphocyte populations were responsible for the observation observed. Additionally, due to the small sample size, I was unable to conduct multivariate to adjust for confounding as typically 10-15 observations per predictor are required (320). Factors such as diabetes mellitus (321) and smoking (322) adversely affect TB treatment responses. It was recently hypothesised that diabetes mellitus may affect TB treatment outcomes in part through inducing the formation of *Mtb* persister cells (323). To assess the effect of host factors on CS-DCTB populations, larger, sufficiently powered studies are required. Studies should also assess whether any improvement in TB treatment outcomes through the modification of host risk factors such as diabetes mellitus is mediated by modulation of DCTB populations.

3.4.2 Effect of culture supernatant on culture performance

Previous studies on sputum have demonstrated increased culture yield when 7H9 liquid media is supplemented with either recombinant Rpf or Rpf-containing CS and in some samples, this enabled the recovery of *Mtb* bacilli from samples that would otherwise be

negative by standard culture (57, 58). To date, the effect of culture supplementation with recombinant Rpf or Rpf-containing CS on culture sensitivity and specificity has not been evaluated within a diagnostic trial. I compared standard 7H9 liquid media and 7H10 solid agar with 7H9 supplemented with Rpf-containing CS and standard 7H10 using a composite reference standard (315). Overall CS increased the sensitivity of culture by 7% and when analysed by sample type, lymph node exhibited a 7% increase in sensitivity and tissue biopsies 28% whilst specificity remained 100% (see table 4.5). However, the 95% confidence intervals of supplemented and unsupplemented cultures overlapped indicating this was not a statistically significant finding.

This pilot study was not designed to determine definitively whether CS improves the sensitivity of culture. Whilst the findings are not statistically significant, for 3 samples, *Mtb* bacilli were recovered from otherwise culture negative samples using CS. This is impacts patient management as phenotypic drug susceptibility testing can be performed so TB-treatment can be tailored to patient management and typing of isolates may reveal chains of transmission. Larger appropriately powered studies are required to delineate the precise impact of CS on culture diagnostic performance.

Currently there are significant barriers to the routine use of CS and recombinant Rpf in the clinical diagnostic microbiology laboratory. The production, freeze drying and storage of CS and its reconstitution for use (see Appendix 3) are laborious. Furthermore, CS contains *Mtb* DNA complicating WGS direct from positive cultures. Recombinant Rpf is unstable and difficult to produce (57). Until these issues can be resolved, the routine use of Rpf or CS within in the clinical microbiology laboratory setting is not feasible.

3.4.3 Mycobacterium growth indicator tubes

In the present study, the effect of Rpf-containing CS on the TTP of MGIT culture was compared by the simultaneous inoculation of two MGITS, one supplemented with CS. The inoculation of MGITs was performed at UoL and transported to UHL-MD. These were designated UN3373 category A specimens and approval for this section of the project was delayed. Consequentially, only 14 EPTB samples were available for this section of the study of which 6 were culture positive for *Mtb*. I found the effect of CS on the MGIT TTP to be inconsistent. For one sample from patient 38, TTP was reduced by 2 weeks, one from patient 51 raised by 1 week and for two others the effect was negligible. For the remaining two samples, only MGIT_CS was culture positive consistent with findings from MPN and CFU assays that for some samples, CS enables the recovery of *Mtb* from otherwise culture negative samples. Given the very small sample size, it is impossible to draw any

conclusion on the impact of CS on MGIT performance. Differences in MGIT performance may simply reflect the irregular distribution of mycobacteria in clinical samples or mycobacterial clumping and consequentially differences in the number of bacilli inoculated into MGIT_CS and MGIT_7H9. Future studies should be powered to detect a clinical meaningful reduction in MGIT TTP and consequentially whether it is worthwhile pursuing the development of an easy to use stable recombinant form of Rpf. Determination of what constitutes a clinically meaningful reduction in TTP will require a review with TB clinicians and potentially modelling to determine the level at which a reduction in TTP improves patient outcomes. In light of the effect of sample decontamination and freezing (see Table 4.6) on *Mtb* recovery, all samples should be frozen in 10% glycerol after decontamination which Turapov et al have demonstrated to cryopreserve DCTB populations (309).

3.4.4 Study limitations

There were several limitations to this pilot study. Firstly, the external validity of the study was restricted. The study was conducted in a first world setting with Indian subcontinent and Black African ethnic patients recruited from a single tertiary centre. Secondly, the standard culture method employed in clinical diagnostic laboratories includes liquid culture in MGIT often with concurrent culture on solid agar. In this study, the impact of CS on culture diagnostic performance was assessed using MPN assays to represent liquid culture and 7H10 agar representing solid culture which may not be equivalent and thus may bias the assessment of CS. Thirdly, as this study was conducted by a sole investigator in a single centre over 18 months, the number of patients available for recruitment was low. This limited the ability of the study to detect significant differences between standard culture and culture supplemented with CS and whether CS improved performance in specific sample types. Furthermore, when correlations between MPN CS counts and host and bacillary variables were examined, multivariate analysis was not possible to adjust for confounding. Fourthly, the sample volume obtained from EPTB patients was often small. This is because invasive sampling is often required to obtain clinical specimens in patients with EPTB and repeated biopsying may lead to increased patient morbidity. Small sample volumes precluded multiple technical replicates of CFU assays and consequentially deriving mean values and 95% confidence intervals. Fifthly, some patients were recruited into the study after their diagnostic procedure had already been performed. Some samples therefore had to be retrieved from the UHL-MD laboratory. However, the handling of these samples was detrimental to the optimal recovery of Mtb. For example, some were

either frozen to -20°C or decontaminated as per national guidance and then frozen to -20°C. As shown in Appendix 10, 9 samples decontaminated and subsequently inoculated into MGITs and on LJ agar slopes were culture positive for *Mtb* in UHL-MD whereas aliquots of decontaminated samples that were then frozen to -20°C were all culture negative in this study. Sixthly, I did not have access to CS from *Mtb* from which all 5 *rpf* had been deleted. Subsequent experiments by Chengalroyen et al (58) demonstrated the presence of Rpf-independent DCTB in sputum samples and the inclusion of this study may have revealed additional complexity to DCTB populations in EPTB specimens. In retrospect, I should have developed and validated an assay to quantify CS activity to ensure the absence of resuscitation was due to the lack of a CS-dependent DCTB population rather than an inactive batch of culture supernatant. Finally, there was the potential for observer bias. As I had frequent contact with patients during my clinical work, I was aware of their likelihood of having TB potentially influencing my handling and processing of the growth assays and subsequent interpretation of sensitivity & specificity.

3.5 Conclusion

In this pilot study, I found that CS-dependent DCTB are common in patients with EPTB affecting diverse anatomical sites such as the colon and cervical spine. This evidence indicates that CS-DCTB are formed as a consequence of infection of the human host by Mtb rather than being a phenomenon restricted to human sputum. The host peripheral lymphocyte count correlated with MPN CS bacillary counts highlighting the suspected role of the host immune response in modulating host CS-DCTB proportions. It is hypothesised that host DCTB populations may affect response to TB treatment and the subsequent risk of relapse although currently there is little firm clinical data to support this contention. Monitoring of DCTB populations currently requires the use of highly laborious growth assays which require many weeks until a final result is achieved. The development of host biomarkers of DCTB populations may enable a quick determination of host DCTB burden, facilitate the monitoring of DCTB population dynamics during treatment and potentially eliminate the need for repeat sampling, difficult in EPTB. The host PLC represents a candidate biomarker of host CS-DCTB populations and warrants assessment in a larger trial. It has been proposed in the past that immunomodulators may reduce persister formation and may abrogate host DCTB formation (18). Future studies should examine whether modulation of host immune responses may minimise DCTB formation although noting that in we found in a case control study (see Chapter 2) that taking

immunosuppressant medication was associated with an increased risk of subsequent TB recurrence in multivariate analysis. Further advances in the understanding of the interactions between the host immune system and *Mtb* may permit such an intervention.

The impact of adding Rpf-containing CS to 7H9 culture medium was assessed within a clinical diagnostic trial for the first time. Rpf-containing CS increased the sensitivity of EPTB culture whilst maintaining specificity although as this was a pilot study, it was underpowered to detect any statistically significant differences. This study does highlight that adding Rpf-containing CS to standard culture enables to the recovery of Mtb from samples that would otherwise be culture negative by the 'standard method' which permits the detection of drug resistance and isolate strain typing. The effect of CS supplementation of MGIT liquid culture was inconclusive although in one sample TTP was reduced by approximately 2 weeks. These findings suggest that the methods used in this pilot study are feasible and Rpf-containing CS demonstrates sufficient effect that is worth following up in an adequately powered larger study. However, there are barriers to the introduction of CS or recombinant Rpf into the routine clinical microbiology laboratory. CS requires storage at -80°C, takes time to prepare and contains Mtb H37Rv DNA; recombinant Rpf are unstable and difficult to produce (57). A durable easy-to-use form of recombinant Rpf should be pursued alongside further a larger clinical diagnostic trial so that use in the routine clinical diagnostic microbiology laboratory is feasible.

3.6 Future Directions

Based upon the findings of this pilot study, a larger clinical trial is warranted to test the possible effect of Rpf-containing CS on culture diagnostic performance. To improve the external validity, this should be multicentre including patients from a wide range of settings. The 'real world' impact of Rpf-containing CS should be assessed using standard BACTEC MGITs and solid agar used in the routine clinical diagnostic laboratory rather than extrapolating diagnostic performance from growth assays. When examining DCTB populations in samples, a validated assay to adjust for differences in the 'resuscitation activity' of CS batches should be considered, to in effect quality control each CS batch. Furthermore, only samples that have been stored at 4°C should be used and if storage is required, samples must be frozen in 10% glycerol after decontamination. If Rpf-containing CS or Rpf demonstrate statistically and clinically significant effects in a larger trial, it may be worth combining with rapid culture methods such as MODS or TLA.

The host PLC was identified in this pilot trial as a candidate biomarker of host CS-DCTB population proportion however peripheral blood lymphocyte immunophenotyping should be undertaken to see if one specific population underpins the observed association. This may also provide insights into the generation of DCTB populations in the host. Furthermore, multivariate regression analysis of associations between other host factors and DCTB populations should be performed to see if variables such as diabetes or bacterial strain type impact DCTB formation.

Chapter 4: Final discussion and conclusions

In this thesis, I describe two studies examining specific issues of TB diagnosis and treatment, two areas highlighted by the WHO as requiring further innovation to improve TB control (1): 1) a nested case control-study of TB recurrence in Leicester; 2) a clinical diagnostic accuracy study examining the change in EPTB culture diagnostic performance with Rpf-containing CS supplementation.

The understanding of TB recurrence in the UK is incomplete (180). The nested case control study was undertaken with the objectives of: 1) describing the epidemiology of TB recurrence in Leicester; 2) identifying specific at-risk groups; 3) measuring the proportion of TB recurrence due to relapse and reinfection. I found that the level of TB recurrence in Leicester was low, in accordance with other published data from the UK (143, 145, 180). This study identified that non-white ethnic groups, those who smoke tobacco, patients on immunosuppressive treatment and those with ADRs are specific at-risk groups, information lacking prior to this study. Furthermore, the study showed that relapse is the predominant mechanism of recurrence in Leicester, typical for low incidence settings as shown by a systematic review arising from this thesis (248). The findings from this study should be taken forward by a number of parties: basic and clinical science researchers should look into the underlying host and mycobacterial factors which predispose these atrisk groups; public health authorities should examine these findings with a view to incorporating TB recurrence as part of an overall TB control strategy; physicians managing TB patients identified as at-risk of recurrence should factor this information into decisions of treatment duration, planned follow up and addressing concomitant comorbidities.

The diagnosis of EPTB has been identified as a major challenge, particularly due to the poor sensitivity of diagnostic tests (298). Previously published papers describe the recovery of *Mtb* from otherwise culture negative samples with the use of recombinant Rpf or Rpf-containing CS (57, 58). I examined the impact of EPTB culture supplementation with Rpf-containing CS with the objectives of: 1) quantifying the effect on culture sensitivity and specificity; 2) evaluating the effect on MGIT TTP; 3) measuring CS-dependent *Mtb* bacillary counts by MPN and CFU assays; 4) correlating host factors with CS-dependent bacillary counts. The study demonstrated the presence of CS-dependent DCTB populations from diverse anatomical sites including the colon and vertebrae. This finding shows that DCTB populations are formed as a consequence of infection of the host rather than a phenomenon limited to the respiratory tract. Previous studies have implicated

the host immune response in the modulation of host DCTB populations (58, 318), which is supported by the finding of a significant association between MPN_CS bacillary counts and the PLC. The present pilot study was underpowered to look for associations with host factors in multivariate analysis. As CS-dependent and Rpf-dependent DCTB are implicated in the requirement for extended treatment for TB (309) and relapse (310), a greater understanding of the host factors which modulate DCTB populations may ultimately prove therapeutically useful. Future studies should examine the host factors modulating DCTB populations and whether their modification abrogates DCTB formation. The study showed that the sensitivity of EPTB culture was increased by supplementation with Rpf-containing CS, although this was not statistically significant. No effect on MGIT TTP was elicited although sample numbers were small. Assuming a stable form of Rpf can be developed, this work should be furthered within larger clinical studies and potentially combined with other techniques seeking to improve culture diagnostic performance.

In conclusion, the work undertaken for this thesis has extended our understanding of mycobacterial subpopulations in EPTB, highlighted the impact of the host immune response and shown that stimulation of CS-dependent DCTB subpopulations has the potential to improve culture sensitivity. Those groups at-risk of TB recurrence were identified in Leicester which should provoke research into understanding why these groups are susceptible and how to best intervene therapeutically to prevent future TB episodes. The results provided in this thesis can be used by both basic scientists and clinicians seeking to improve TB diagnosis and treatment

Appendix 1: Multiple imputation diagnostics

1.1 Missing data

1.1.1 Missing data summary

Figure A1.1 Missing data summary prior to imputation of missing values

	Obs<.						
Max	Min	Unique values	Obs<.	Obs>.	Obs=.	Variable	
96	9	58	216		30	Weight	
1	0	2	242		4	ukborn	
1	0	2	238		8	Tobacco use	
1	0	2	234		12	Alcohol use	
1	0	2	217		29	AFB Smear	
1	0	2	212		34	Mtb culture	
1	0	2	149		97	Susceptibility	
16.2	7.5	73	223		23	hb	
30.1	2.2	92	222		24	wcc	
906	31	70	223		23	Creatinine	

1.1.2 Missing data pattern

Figure A1.2 Pattern of missing data prior to imputation of missing values

	E									
Percent	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
45%	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1
19	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	0
5	1	1	1	1	1	1	0	1	0	0
4	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	0	1	0
4	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	0	1	1
2	1	1	1	0	1	1	1	1	1	1
2	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	0	0
2	1	0	0	1	1	1	1	1	1	1
2	1	1	1	0	0	0	0	1	0	0
2	0	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1
1	1	1	1	1	0	0	1	1	1	1
<1	1	1	0	1	1	1	1	1	1	1
<1	1	1	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
<1	1	1	1	0	0	0	1	0	1	1
<1	1	1	1	0	0	0	1	1	0	0
<1	1	1	1	0	0	0	1	1	1	0
<1	1	1	1	0	0	0	1	1	1	1
<1	1	1	1	1	0	0	0	1	0	0
<1	1	1	1	1	1	1	0	0	0	0
<1	1	1	1	1	1	1	0	1	1	1
<1	1	0	0	0	1	1	1	0	1	1
<1	1	0	0	1	1	1	1	0	1	1
<1	1	0	0	1	1	1	1	1	1	0
<1	1	1	0	1	1	1	0	1	0	0
<1	1	1	0	1	1	1	1	1	1	0
<1	1	1	1	0	1	0	0	0	0	0
<1	1	1	1	1	0	0	0	1	1	1
<1	1	1	1	1	0	0	1	1	0	0
<1	1	1	1	1	0	0	1	1	1	0
	1	1	1	1	1	1	0	0	1	0

Missing-value patterns (1 means complete)

100%

Variables are: (1) ukborn (2) Tobacco use (3) Alcohol use (4) Creatinine (5) hb (6) wcc (7) AFB Smear(8) Weight (9) Mtb culture (10) Susceptibility

1.2 Distribution of imputed continuous variables





Figure A1.4 Distribution of data for the variable 'Weight'



Figure A1.5 Distribution of data for the variable 'White Cell Count'



Figure A1.6 Distribution of data for the variable 'Creatinine'



1.3 Multiple Imputation Code

1.3.1 Stata command

mi impute chained (pmm, knn (10)) wcc creatinine (pmm, knn (3)) weight (regress) hb (logit, augment) afbsmear mtbculture alcoholuse smoker ukborn sensorres= recurrence age sex housed i.ethnicgrpcat immcompdis diabetes hivpos i.tbsitecat cxrcavitate immunosuprx standardrx treatinterupt drugreact, add (60) dots rseed (2323) burnin (100) savetrace(r1)

1.3.2. Multiple imputation output

Figure A1.7 Stata output generated from imputation of variables missing data

Multivariate imputation	Imputations	= 6	0
Chained equations	added	= 6	0
Imputed: m=1 through m=60	updated	=	0
Initialization: monotone	Iterations	= 600	0
	burn-in	= 10	0
wcc : predictive mean mat	ching		
Creatinine : predictive mean mat	ching		
Weight : predictive mean mat	ching		
hb : linear regression			
AFB Smear : augmented logistic	regression		
Mtb culture : logistic regression	1		
Tobacco use : augmented logistic	regression		
Alcohol use : augmented logistic	regression		
ukborn : augmented logistic	regression		
Susceptibility : augmented logistic	regression		

	Observations per m						
Variable	Complete	Incomplete	Imputed	Total			
wcc	222	24	24	246			
Creatinine	223	23	23	246			
Weight	216	30	30	246			
hb	223	23	23	246			
AFB smear	217	29	29	246			
Mtb culture	212	34	34	246			
Alcohol use	234	12	12	246			
Tobacco use	238	8	8	246			
ukborn	242	4	4	246			
Susceptibility	149	97	97	246			

(complete + incomplete = total; imputed is the minimum across m
 of the number of filled-in observations.)

1.4. Post imputation analysis

1.4.1 Pre and post imputation mean and SD

	Pre- imputati	Pre- imputati	Pre- imputati	Pre- imputati	Post- imputati	Post- imputati	Post- imputati	Post- imputati
	0N mean	on SD	on min	0N max	0N mean	on SD	on min	0N max
Weight	57.5046	14.6385	9	96	57.6728	14.6132	9	96
UK-born	0.25619	0.43743	0	1	0.25907	0.43900	0	1
Tobacco use	0.16386	0.37093	0	1	0.17188	0.37800	0	1
Alcohol use	0.15811	0.36563	0	1	0.16443	0.37135	0	1
AFB smear	0.29032	0.45496	0	1	0.28428	0.45191	0	1
<i>Mtb</i> culture	0.70283	0.45809	0	1	0.69241	0.46227	0	1
Susceptibil ity	0.08724	0.28315	0	1	0.12418	0.32993	0	1
Hb	12.0143	1.89091	7.5	16.2	11.9839	1.91027	7.07261	16.43
WCC	8.11441	3.53061	2.2	30.1	8.12124	3.51845	2.2	30.10
Creatinine	80.6636	77.9091	31	906	79.7456	74.4140	31	906

 Table A1.1 The pre and imputation mean and standard deviation values

1.4.2 Trace plots

Trace plots from the imputation of continuous variables are displayed. The first twenty (of sixty) imputation traces are presented for clarity.



Figure A1.8 Imputation trace plot for variable 'Creatinine'

Figure A1.9 Imputation trace plot for variable 'Haemoglobin'





Figure A1.10 Imputation trace plot for variable 'White Cell Count'

Figure A1.11 Imputation trace plot for variable 'Weight'



There are no apparent trends for any of the chains in the trace plots of the imputed continuous variables Creatinine, Haemoglobin, White Cell Count, and Weight. The chains

appear to oscillate around the average value suggesting convergence of the algorithm (324).

1.4.3 Kernel Density Plots

The Kernel Density plots for four imputed continuous variables are presented, showing good evidence of convergence, twenty of sixty imputations are displayed for clarity.

Figure A1.12 Kernel Density plot of imputations 1-20 for variable 'Creatinine'




Figure A1.13 Kernel Density plot of imputations 1-20 for variable 'Hb'

Figure A1.14 Kernel Density plot of imputations 1-20 for variable 'White Cell Count'

Figure A1.15 Kernel Density plot of imputations 1-20 for variable 'Weight'

1.5 Conditional logistic regression diagnostics

1.5.1 Variance inflation factors

Table A1.2 The variance inflation factors for variables considered for multivariate conditional logistic regression analysis

Variable	VIF	1/VIF
Ethnicity (South Asian)	3.29	0.3
Ethnicity (Afro-Caribbean)	2.88	0.35
UK-Born	2.02	0.49
Tobacco Use	1.96	0.51
Drug reaction	1.85	0.54
Site of disease (EPTB)	1.75	0.57
Other comorbidities	1.65	0.61
AFB smear	1.64	0.61
Sex	1.63	0.61
Creatinine	1.61	0.62
Site of Disease (PTB + EPTB)	1.61	0.62
Treatment pause	1.58	0.63
Weight	1.56	0.64
Age	1.54	0.65
Hb	1.53	0.65
Alcohol use	1.52	0.66
Standard Treatment	1.47	0.68
HIV seropositive	1.41	0.71
CXR Cavitation	1.41	0.71
Drug resistance	1.38	0.72
WCC	1.37	0.73
Ethnicity (Other)	1.33	0.75
Mtb culture	1.26	0.79
Immunosuppressive drugs	1.26	0.79
Diabetes mellitus	1.19	0.84
Housed	1.09	0.92
Mean VIF	1.65	

1.5.2 Table of dropped variables

Table A1.3 Variables dropped from the multivariate conditional logistic regression analysis due to suspected multiple collinearity

Variable	Univariate analysis	P value	Multivariate analysis	P value
Treatment pause	1.07(0.44-2.64)	0.877	0.32 (0.07-1.43)	0.134
Standard treatment	0.66(0.32-1.35)	0.256	1.23(0.34-4.30)	0.741
Conditions	1.0 (0.29-3.50)	1.00	0.38 (0.05-2.69)	0.333
predisposing to				
active tuberculosis				

Appendix 2: MIRU-VNTR data for case control study

 Table A2.1 MIRU-VNTR genotyping data of paired isolates

Type of recurrence	Lineage	Episode	ETR-A	ETR-B	ETR-C	ETR-D	ETR-E	Miru 02	Miru 10	Miru 16	Miru 20	Miru 23	Miru 24	Miru 26	Miru 27	Miru 39	Miru 40	Mtub04	Mtub21	QUB-11b	Mtub29	Mtub30	Mtub34	Mtub39	QUB-26	QUB-4156
Relapse	Delhi / CAS	1st	4	2	2	3	5	2	6	4	2	5	1	7	3	3	3									
		2nd	4	2	2	3	5	2	6	4	2	5	1	7	3	3	3									
Relapse	Delhi / CAS	1st	-	2	2	3	4	2	7	4	2	5	1	1	3	3	4									
		2nd	-	2	2	3	4	2	7	4	2	5	1	1	3	3	4									
Relapse	Delhi / CAS	1st	-	2	2	3	5	2	5	4	2	5	1	7	3	3	4									
		2nd	-	2	2	3	5	2	5	4	2	5	1	7	3	3	4									
Relapse	Delhi / CAS	1st	4	2	2	3	4	2	6	4	2	5	1	7	3	2	3									
		2nd	4	2	2	3	4	2	6	4	2	5	1	7	3	2	3									
Relapse	Delhi / CAS	1st	4	2	2	3	5	2	5	4	2	5	1	7	3	2	3									
		2nd	4	2	2	3	5	2	4	4	2	5	1	7	3	2	3									
Reinfection	EAI & EAI	1st	5	6	2	2	6	2	6	3	2	6	2	2	3	1	3									
		2nd	4	7	2	5	6	2	6	3	2	6	2	2	3	1	3									
Relapse	Delhi / CAS	1st	2	2	2	3	5	2	8	6	2	3	1	7	3	3	2	4	4	2	4	2	3	3	8	4
		2nd	2	2	2	3	5	2	8	6	2	3	1	7	3	3	2	4	4	2	4	2	3	3	8	4
Relapse	Beijing	1st	4	2	4	3	5	2	3	3	2	5	1	7	3	3	3									
		2nd	4	2	4	3	5	2	3	3	2	5	1	7	-	3	3	4	4	-	4	4	3	3	8	2
Reinfection	Delhi / CAS	1st	4	2	2	3	5	2	4	5	2	5	1	7	3	3	4	4	4	2	4	2	3	3	1	4
		2nd	4	2	2	3	5	2	4	5	2	5	1	7	3	3	-	4	4	2	4	2	3	3	7	4
Relapse	Delhi / CAS	1st	4	2	2	3	5	2	8	4	2	5	1	7	3	3	2	3	4	2	4	2	3	3	7	4
		2nd	4	2	2	3	5	2	-	4	2	5	1	7	3	3	2	3	4	2	4	2	3	3	7	4

Type of recurrence	Lineage	Episode	ETR-A	ETR-B	ETR-C	ETR-D	ETR-E	Miru 02	Miru 10	Miru 16	Miru 20	Miru 23	Miru 24	Miru 26	Miru 27	Miru 39	Miru 40	Mtub04	Mtub21	QUB-11b	Mtub29	Mtub30	Mtub34	Mtub39	QUB-26	QUB-4156
Relapse	Delhi / CAS	1st	4	2	2	3	5	2	6	4	2	5	1	3	3	3	3									
		2nd	4	2	2	3	5	2	6	4	2	5	1	3	3	3	3									
Relapse	EAI	1st	-	4	2	6	5	2	4	3	2	6	2	2	3	1	3									
		2nd	-	4	2	-	5	2	4	3	2	6	2	2	3	1	3	2	-	3	3	2	3	7	4	1
Relapse	Delhi / CAS	1st	-	2	2	3	4	2	7	4	2	5	1	1	3	3	4									
		2nd	-	2	2	3	4	2	7	4	2	5	1	1	3	3	4	4	3	2	4	2	2	2	5	4
Relapse	Delhi / CAS	1st	3	2	2	3	4	2	7	4	2	5	1	1	3	3	4									
		2nd	-	2	2	3	4	2	7	4	2	5	1	1	3	3	4									
Relapse	Delhi / CAS	1st	4	2	2	3	4	2	7	4	2	5	1	1	3	3	4									
		2nd	-	2	2	3	4	2	7	4	2	5	1	1	3	3	4									
Relapse	EAI	1st	4	2	4	5	4	2	5	3	2	6	2	2	3	3	5									
		2nd	4	2	4	5	4	2	5	3	2	6	2	2	3	3	5									
Reinfection	EAI & EAI	1st	6	1	4	6	5	2	4	2	2	6	2	2	3	3	4									
		2nd	7	1	4	4	4	2	4	2	2	5	2	2	3	3	4									
Relapse	Delhi / CAS	1st	-	2	2	3	4	2	7	5	2	5	1	7	4	3	3									
		2nd	-	2	2	3	4	2	7	5	2	5	1	7	4	3	3	4	4	-	4	4	3	3	8	2
Relapse	EAI	1st	4	4	2	6	5	2	4	3	2	6	2	2	3	1	3									
		2nd	4	4	2	6	5	2	4	3	2	6	2	2	3	1	3									

Table A2.2 Remaining MIRU-VNTR genotyping data of paired isolates

Appendix 3 Indications for immunosuppression

Tuberculosis	Corticosteroid	Immunosuppressa	Stated indication for drug treatment
recurrence	used	nt	
Yes	Yes	uscu	Wheeze (GP initiated prior to TB diagnosis)
Yes	Yes		ATT-induced urticaria
Yes	No	Methotrexate	Comorbid psoriatic arthropathy
Yes	Yes		Wheeze (GP initiated prior to TB diagnosis)
Yes	Yes		Colitis suspected before TB diagnosed; paradoxical
			reaction
Yes	Yes		Comorbid ulcerative colitis
Yes	Yes	Infliximab	Comorbid rheumatoid arthritis
Yes	Yes		Wheeze (GP initiated prior to TB diagnosis)
Yes	No	Methotrexate and cyclosporine	Psoriasis
Yes	Yes		Tuberculosis meningitis
Yes	Yes		Spondyloarthropathy suspected before TB diagnosed
Yes	Yes		Brittle asthma
Yes	Yes		Prevention of ureteric stricture in a renal TB case
Yes	Yes		Suspected Addison's disease
Yes	Yes		TB IRIS
Yes	No	Methotrexate and cyclosporine	Rheumatoid arthritis suspected before TB diagnosed
Yes	Yes		Not stated
No	Yes		Pleural TB
No	Yes	Cyclophosphamide	Granulomatosis with polyangiitis suspected before TB diagnosed
No	Yes		Unknown
No	Yes		Wheeze (GP initiated prior to TB diagnosis)
No	Yes		Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease
No	Yes		Disseminated TB
No	Yes		Wheeze (GP initiated prior to TB diagnosis)
No	Yes		Ocular TB
No	Yes		Suspected Addison's disease
No	Yes		Addison's disease
No	Yes	Leflunomide	Comorbid rheumatoid arthritis
No	Yes	Tacrolimus	Solid organ transplant
No	Yes		Addison's disease
No	Yes		Tuberculoma
No	Yes		Tuberculoma
No	Yes		Slow to resolve pleural TB

Table A3.1 Indications for treatment with immunosuppressants

Abbreviations: ATT - Anti-tuberculous therapy; GP - General practitioner; IRIS - Immune reconstitution inflammatory syndrome

Appendix 4: Preparation of freeze dried culture supernatant

4.1 Culture supernatant production

CS preparation is performed within a class 1 biological safety cabinet in a biosafety level 3 laboratory. *Mtb* H37Rv stock culture is inoculated into Middlebrook 7H9 medium supplemented with 10% (vol/vol) OADC supplement (BD Biosciences) and 0.05% (wt / vol) Tween 80 (manufacturer) in roller bottles (manufacturer). Cultures are incubated at 37°C in the roller incubator (Wheaton, Millville, USA) until an optical density at 600nm of 0.6-0.9 indicating mid exponential phase is obtained. At this point, *Mtb* culture from each roller bottle is aliquoted into 50ml sterile falcon tubes (manufacturer) using a 25ml disposable plastic pipette (manufacturer). A maximum of 30ml is allocated to each tube. The tubes are centrifuged for 15min at 2000 x g.

4.2 Culture supernatant filtration

A cartridge A 0.22 µm filter is placed between the vacuum pump and the disposable filtration unit to prevent contamination of the pump. The pump is switched on and using a 25ml plastic pipette, supernatant is transferred from each Falcon tube to the reservoir of the filtration unit. The first volume is allowed to pass through the reservoir to detect any set up issues. The pellet is not to be disturbed in the Falcon tube. The filtration procedure is repeated using a second filter unit resulting in twice filtered CS. The CS is checked for sterility by incubation of 5ml for 8 weeks at 37°C with shaking.

4.3 Freeze drying

Figure A4.1 Freeze drying machine

The CS is then transferred aseptically to sterile falcon tubes with 0.22µm filter. These are placed in an AdVantage 2.0 BenchTop Freeze Dryer (SP Scientific, Warminster, USA) at - 40°C. This process takes between 2-4 weeks depending upon ambient temperature. At the end of drying, the material is a light brown colour (dark brown indicates that the CS is spoiled). The end product is transferred and stored in the -80°C freezer

Appendix 5: 24 locus MIRU-VNTR primer sequences by

locus

 Table A5.1 MIRU-VNTR forward and reverse primer sequences by locus

Locus	Sequence (5'-3')
ETR-A	AAATCGGTCCCATCACCTTCTTAT
	CGAAGCCTGGGGTGCCCGCGATTT
ETR-B	GCGAACACCAGGACAGCATCATG
	GGCATGCCGGTGATCGAGTGG
ETR-C	GTGAGTCGCTGCAGAACCTGCAG
	GGCGTCTTGACCTCCACGAGT
ETR-D	CAGGTCACAACGAGAGGAAGAGC
	GCGGATCGGCCAGCGACTCCTC
ETR-E	CTTCGGCGTCGAAGAGAGCCTC
	CGGAACGCTGGTCACCACCTAAG
MIRU 2	TGGACTTGCAGCAATGGACCAACT
	TACTCGGACGCCGGCTCAAAAT
MIRU 10	GTTCTTGACCAACTGCAGTCGTCC
	GCCACCTTGGTGATCAGCTACCT
MIRU 16	TCGGTGATCGGGTCCAGTCCAAGTA
	CCCGTCGTGCAGCCCTGGTAC
MIRU 20	TCGGAGAGATGCCCTTCGAGTTAG
	GGAGACCGCGACCAGGTACTTGTA
MIRU 23	
MIDITA	
MIRU 24	
MIDU 26	
MIKU 20	
MIRI 27	
MIRO 27	GCGATGTGAGCGTGCCACTCAA
MIRI 39	CGCATCGACAAACTGGAGCCAAAC
	CGGAAACGTCTACGCCCCACACAT
MIRU 40	GGGTTGCTGGATGACAACGTGT
	GGGTGATCTCGGCGAAATCAGATA
Mtub04	CTTGGCCGGCATCAAGCGCATTATT
	GGCAGCAGAGCCCGGGATTCTTC
Mtub21	AGATCCCAGTTGTCGTCGTC
	CAACATCGCCTGGTTCTGTA
QUB-11b	CGTAAGGGGGATGCGGGAAATAGG
	CGAAGTGAATGGTGGCAT
Mtub29	GCCAGCCGCCGTGCATAAACCT
	AGCCACCCGGTGTGCCTTGTATGAC
Mtub30	CTTGAAGCCCCGGTCTCATCTGT
	ACTTGAACCCCCACGCCCATTAGTA
Mtub34	GGTGCGCACCTGCTCCAGATAA
	GGCTCTCATTGCTGGAGGGTTGTAC
Mtub39	CGGTGGAGGCGATGAACGTCTTC
OUD A	TAGAGCGGCACGGGGGAAAGCTTAG
QUB-26	
OUD 4154	
QUB-4156	
	GUUGGUGIUAIGII

Locus	0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
ETR A	195	270	345	420	495	570	645	720	795	870	945
ETR B	121	178	235	292	349	406	463	520	577	634	691
ETR C	44	102	160	218	276	334	392	450	508	566	624
ETR D	56	133	210	287	364	441	518	595	672	749	826
ETR E	65	118	171	224	277	330	383	436	489	542	595
Miru 02	402	455	508	561	614	667	720	773	826	879	932
Miru 10	482	535	588	641	694	747	800	853	906	959	1012
Miru 16	565	618	671	724	777	830	883	936	989	1042	1095
Miru 20	437	514	591	668	745	822	899	976	1053	1130	1207
Miru 23	148	201	254	307	360	413	466	519	572	625	678
Miru 24	395	449	503	557	611	665	719	773	827	881	935
Miru 26	285	336	387	438	489	540	591	642	693	744	795
Miru 27	498	551	604	657	710	763	816	869	922	975	1028
Miru 39	540	593	646	699	752	805	858	911	964	1017	1070
Miru 40	354	408	462	516	570	624	678	732	786	840	894
Mtub04	537	588	639	690	741	792	843	894	945	996	1047
Mtub21	92	149	206	263	320	377	434	491	548	605	662
QUB-11b	67	136	205	274	343	412	481	550	619	688	757
Mtub29	335	392	449	506	563	620	677	734	791	848	905
Mtub30	247	305	363	421	479	537	595	653	711	769	827
Mtub34	326	380	434	488	542	596	650	704	758	812	866
Mtub39	272	330	388	446	504	562	620	678	736	794	852
QUB-26	163	274	385	496	607	718	829	940	1051	1162	1273
QUB-4156	563	622	681	740	799	858	917	976	1035	1094	1153

Appendix 6: 24 locus MIRU-VNTR number of repeats by locus

Table A6.1 MIRU-VNTR numbers of repeats by locus

The values indicate the size of the amplicon in base pairs and correspond to the number of repeats as designated in the first row of the table

Appendix 7: MIRU-VNTR typing of reference laboratory compared to UoL

Table A7.1 MIRU- VNTR typing for Birmingham reference laboratory compared to UoL

Patient	Typing	Lineage	ETR-A	ETR-B	ETR-C	ETR-D	ETR-E	Miru 02	Miru 10	Miru 16	Miru 20	Miru 23	Miru 24	Miru 26	Miru 27	Miru 39	Miru 40	Mtub04	Mtub21	QUB-11b	Mtub29	Mtub30	Mtub34	Mtub39	QUB-26	QUB-415
12	UoL	EAI	6	4	4	6	5	2	5	3	2	6	2	2	3	2	2	2	6	3	2	1	3	3	3	5
	Ref Lab	EAI	-	4	4	6	5	2	5	3	2	6	2	2	3	2	2	2	6	3	3	1	3	4	3	1
15	UoL	Beijing	<mark>4</mark>	_	4	3	5	2	3	2	2	5	1	6	<mark>4</mark>	3	3	4	4	_	4	4	3	3	7	2
	Ref Lab	Beijing	-	2	3	4	5	2	3	2	2	5	1	6	3	3	3	4	4	6	4	4	3	3	7	2
18	UoL	Haarlem / S	2	2	4	3	<mark>4</mark>	<mark>3</mark>	3	4	2	5	1	5	3	2	2	2	2	2	4	2	3	3	5	2
	Ref Lab	Haarlem	2	2	4	3	<mark>3</mark>	2	3	4	2	5	1	5	3	2	2	2	2	2	4	2	3	3	5	2
23	UoL	EAI	<mark>9</mark>	5	4	<mark>6</mark>	3	2	<mark>5</mark>	<mark>4</mark>	1	6	2	<mark>3</mark>	<mark>4</mark>	<mark>4</mark>	<mark>4</mark>	<mark>3</mark>	<mark>6</mark>	-	3	2	3	6	<mark>8</mark>	1
	Ref Lab	EAI	1	5	4	-	3	2	<mark>4</mark>	<mark>3</mark>	1	6	2	2	<mark>3</mark>	<mark>3</mark>	<mark>3</mark>	2	-	-	3	2	3	6	-	1
36	UoL	Delhi / CAS	4	2	2	3	5	2	<mark>5</mark>	2	2	5	1	7	3	3	3	2	5	2	4	2	4	3	6	2
	Ref Lab	Delhi / CAS	4	2	2	3	5	2	<mark>6</mark>	2	2	5	1	7	3	3	3	2	5	2	4	2	4	3	6	2
40	UoL	Delhi / CAS	4	2	2	3	6	2	6	4	2	<mark>4</mark>	1	7	3	2	2	3	5	2	4	4	3	3	8	2
	Ref lab	Delhi / CAS	4	2	2	3	6	2	6	4	2	<mark>5</mark>	1	7	3	2	<mark>3</mark>	<mark>4</mark>	5	2	4	4	3	3	8	2
49	UoL	Delhi / CAS	4	2	2	3	3	2	6	4	2	5	1	<mark>4</mark>	3	3	4	3	4	1	4	2	3	3	8	2
	Ref Lab	Delhi / CAS	4	2	2	3	3	2	6	4	2	5	1	<mark>5</mark>	3	3	4	3	4	1	4	2	3	3	8	<mark>3</mark>
51	UoL	Delhi / CAS	-	2	2	3	5	2	4	3	2	5	1	<mark>8</mark>	<mark>4</mark>	<mark>4</mark>	3	-	4	-	4	2	3	3	7	<mark>5</mark>
	Ref Lab	Delhi / CAS	-	2	2	3	5	2	4	3	2	5	1	<mark>7</mark>	<mark>3</mark>	<mark>3</mark>	3	<mark>4</mark>	4	-	4	2	3	3	7	<mark>4</mark>
53	UoL	S	4	2	4	4	<mark>3</mark>	2	3	<mark>4</mark>	2	5	1	5	3	2	5	3	1	4	4	2	3	3	<mark>8</mark>	2
	Ref lab	S	4	2	4	4	2	2	3	<mark>3</mark>	2	5	1	5	3	2	5	3	1	4	4	2	3	3	-	2

Cells highlighted in yellow indicate differences between Birmingham reference laboratory and UoL typing results. List of abbreviations: CAS – Central African Strain; EAI – East Africa Indian; UoL – University of Leicester; ref lab – reference laboratory.

Appendix 8: Study isolates MIRU-VNTR typing results

 Table A8.1 Results of UoL MIRU-VNTR typing of study isolates

Patient	Lineage	Distance	ERT-A	ETR-B	ETR-C	ETR-D	ETR-E	Miru 02	Miru 10	Miru 16	Miru 20	Miru 23	Miru 24	Miru 26	Miru 27	Miru 39	Miru 40	Mtub04	Mtub21	QUB-11b	Mtub29	Mtub30	Mtub34	Mtub39	QUB-26	QUB-4156
12	EAI	0.33	6	4	4	6	5	2	5	3	2	6	2	2	3	2	2	2	6	3	2	1	3	3	3	1
15	Beijing	0.24	4	\	4	3	5	2	3	2	2	5	1	6	4	3	3	4	4	\	4	4	3	3	7	2
16	H37RV	0.08	3	3	4	3	3	3	3	2	2	6	1	3	3	2	1	2	2	5	4	2	3	5	5	2
17	Turkey	0.33	3	2	4	3	4	3	5	3	2	5	1	1	3	2	2	1	3	2	4	4	3	3	8	3
18	Haarlem / S	0.38	2	2	4	3	4	3	3	4	2	5	1	5	3	2	2	2	2	2	4	2	3	3	5	2
21	Delhi / CAS	0.29	3	2	2	3	5	2	6	3	2	5	1	5	3	3	3	4	4	2	4	2	3	3	6	3
23	EAI	0.44	9	5	4	6	3	2	5	4	1	6	2	3	4	4	4	3	6	\	3	2	3	6	8	1
27	Delhi / CAS	0.38	4	2	2	3	5	2	6	5	2	5	1	8	4	4	3	2	2	2	4	2	3	3	8	1
28	Delhi / CAS	0.42	4	2	2	3	5	2	5	5	2	3	1	6	2	2	1	2	4	2	5	2	3	3	9	2
29	H37RV	0.08	3	3	4	3	3	3	3	2	2	6	1	3	3	2	1	2	2	5	4	2	3	5	5	2
31 §	Haarlem	0.46	3	3	4	3	2	2	4	3	1	5	1	6	3	2	1	3	2	4	4	4	2	2	5	3
31*	Haarlem	0.46	3	3	4	3	2	2	4	3	1	5	1	6	3	2	1	3	2	4	4	4	2	2	5	3
32	EAI	0.5	10	5	2	6	5	2	6	3	2	6	2	2	3	0	3	1	8	6	2	2	3	4	3	1
36	Delhi / CAS	0.25	4	2	2	3	5	2	5	2	2	5	1	7	3	3	3	2	5	2	4	2	4	3	6	2
48	Delhi / CAS	0.32	\	2	2	1	3	1	6	4	2	5	1	6	3	3	2	3	4	\	4	2	3	3	8	4
40	Delhi / CAS	0.38	4	2	2	3	6	2	6	4	2	4	1	7	3	2	2	3	5	2	4	4	3	3	8	2
48	EAI	0.29	6	4	3	6	5	1	4	3	2	6	2	2	3	2	2	1	5	3	3	1	3	4	6	1
49	Delhi / CAS	0.29	4	2	2	3	3	2	6	4	2	5	1	4	3	3	4	3	4	1	4	2	3	3	8	2
51	Delhi / CAS	0.38	\	2	2	3	5	2	4	3	2	5	1	8	4	4	3	\	4	\	4	2	3	3	7	5
52	H37Rv	0.25	3	2	4	3	3	2	3	4	2	6	1	5	3	2	2	2	2	4	4	2	3	5	5	2
53	S	0.17	4	2	4	4	3	2	3	4	2	5	1	5	3	2	5	3	1	4	4	2	3	3	8	2
Н	Delhi / CAS	0.42	3	2	2	3	5	2	5	5	2	5	1	4	3	3	2	8	4	2	4	2	2	3	9	3
Lab isolate	H37Rv	0.08	3	3	4	3	3	3	3	2	2	6	1	3	3	2	1	2	2	5	4	2	3	5	5	2

§ - First isolate from patient 31; * - Second isolate from patient 31; Abbreviation list: CAS – Central African Strain; EAI – East African Indian.

Appendix 9: Culture positive samples laboratory & processing data

Patient	Sample	Storage	Storage	Sample	Decon [‡]	CS	Sample to ATT (days)	Duration of incubation	AFB	UHL	CRS
number	type	duration (days) [#]	(°C)#	amount	method	Batch		(days)	smear	culture result	
10	T01 D	(4		ЪT	1	1	104	ЪТ	D	D
12	19 bone Bx	5	4	Few bone fragments	None	l	l	104	Neg	Pos	Proven
15	L axillary LN	7	4	Sliver of tissue	H_2SO_4	1	10	84	Neg	Pos	Proven
16	Pleural tissue	2	4	Sliver of tissue	None	1	n/a	103	Neg	Neg	Not TB
17	Spinal abscess	6	4	1ml	H_2SO_4	1	1	49	Neg	Pos	Proven
18	L axillary LN	4	4	2 FNA cores	None	1	1	61	Neg	Pos	Proven
21	R cervical abscess	2	4	1ml	H_2SO_4	1	21	84	Neg	Pos	Proven
23	R cervical abscess	8	4	5ml	H_2SO_4	1	2	91	Neg	Pos	Proven
27	Pleural tissue	6	4	Sliver of tissue	H_2SO_4	1	7	85	Neg	Pos	Proven
28	Psoas abscess	6	4	5ml	H_2SO_4	1	1	85	Neg	Pos	Proven
29	ILN station 7R	1	4	1 FNA core	NaOH	2	n/a	85	Neg	Neg	Not TB
31	Pleural fluid	2	4	10ml	None	2	12	84	Neg	Neg	Proven
31	Pleural fluid	0	4	5ml	None	2	12	84	Neg	Pos	Proven
32	C3 spinal abscess	5	4	5ml	H_2SO_4	2	2	84	Neg	Pos	Proven
36	ILN station 4R	9	4	2 FNA cores	NaOH	3	0	109	Neg	Pos	Proven
38	Colon tissue	7	4	4 slivers of tissue	NaOH	3	-1	109	Neg	Pos	Proven
40	Pleural tissue	13	-20	1ml mashed up tissue	None	3	6	84	Neg	Pos	Proven
48	ILN station 4R	7	4	1ml saline & floating tissue	NaOH	3	1	84	Neg	Pos	Proven
49	ILN station 7	15	-20	5ml saline & floating tissue	NaOH	3	15	84	Neg	Pos	Proven
51	Ileocaecal abscess	42	-20	5ml	H_2SO_4	3	0	104	Neg	Pos	Proven
52	Vertebral Bx	9	4	Few bone fragments	None	3	5	97	Neg	Neg	Prob TB
53	Mediastinal LN	71	-20	5ml saline & floating tissue	?NaOH	2	22	84	Neg	Pos	Proven

Table A9.1: Culture positive sample data

- storage conditions and duration before sample enrolled into the study; \ddagger - standard LN decontamination by H₂SO₄ method; EBUS LN by NaOH; abbreviations: Bx - biopsy; ILN - intrathoracic lymph node; LN - lymph node;

Patient number	MPN_CS*	MPN_CS SD*	MPN_7H9*	MPN_7H9 SD*	CFU*	Resuscitation index	Inhibition Index	CS-dependent DCTB [∆]	Lineage	Distance [†]
12	2.9	0.18	<0.7	n/a	<1.5	>1.4	n/a	1.5 ^Π	EAI	0.33
15	1.4	0.26	1.7	0.27	3.8	-2.4	-2.1	0^{\S}	Beijing	0.24
16	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	2.8	n/a	n/a	n/a	H37Rv	0.08
17	4.3	0.26	1.7	0.27	3.8	0.5	-2.1	0.5	Turkey	0.33
18	2.9	0.28	1.7	0.27	2.0	0.9	-0.3	0.9	Haarlem / S	0.38
21	6.7	0.27	4.5	0.2	3.9	2.8	0.6	2.8 ^Π	Delhi / CAS	0.29
23	3.7	0.27	1.7	0.27	3.5	0.2	-1.8	0.2	EAI	0.44
27	2.9	0.28	1.7	0.27	3.4	-0.5	-1.7	0 [§]	Delhi / CAS	0.38
28	2.7	0.27	2.7	0.27	3.7	-1.0	-1	0§	Delhi / CAS	0.42
29	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	1.5	n/a	n/a	n/a	H37Rv	0.08
31	2.7	0.27	1.7	0.27	2.0	0.7	-0.3	0.7	Haarlem	0.46
31	2.1	0.27	1.4	0.26	<1	>1.1	>0.4	1.1 ^Π	Haarlem	0.46
32	<0.7	n/a	<0.7	n/a	3.1	>-2.4	>-2.4	0 [§]	EAI	0.5
36	2.7	0.27	1.1	0.31	<1	>1.7	>0.1	1.7 ^Π	Delhi / CAS	0.25
38	6.4	0.26	1.7	0.27	<1	>5.4	>0.7	5.4 ^Π	Delhi / CAS	0.32
40	2.4	0.22	1.4	0.26	2.5	-0.1	-1.1	0 [§]	Delhi / CAS	0.38
48	3.3	0.26	1.4	0.28	<1	>2,3	>-0.4	2.3 ^Π	EAI	0.29
49	1.5	0.23	<0.7	n/a	<1	>0.5	n/a	0.5	Delhi / CAS	0.29
51	5.9	0.28	4.1	0.29	2.9	3.0	1.2	3 п	Delhi / CAS	0.38
52	0.7	0.44	<0.7	n/a	<1	>-0.3	n/a	0§	H37Rv-like	0.25
53	3.7	0.16	1.1	0.31	2.1	1.6	-1	1.6 ^Π	S	0.17

Those samples with MPN or CFU values with a '<' sign implies that no growth occurred and the value inserted indicates the limit of detection. * - \log_{10} . Δ CS-dependent DCTB as calculated by $\log_{10}(\text{MPN}_CS/CFU)$ and where the CFU value is zero, the limit of detection is inserted the denominator. §- if calculation of DCTB yielded a negative result, this was adjusted to 0 as we consider only the growth stimulatory effect of CS. II – CS-DCTB values of ≥ 1.0 are considered significant due to the limits of confidence of MPN and CFU assays. † - value generated by <u>www.MIRU-VNTRplus.org</u> describing the 'distance' genetically from the strain type, the smaller the value the closer the isolate is to the reference strain. ‡ - standard LN decontamination by H_2SO_4 method; EBUS LN by NaOH. List of abbreviations: ATT – anti-tuberculous therapy; CFU – Colony forming unit assay; EAI – East Africa Indian; CAS – Central African Strain; CRS – composite reference standard; EBUS – endobronchial ultrasound; FNA – fine needle aspirate; LN -lymph node; MPN_CS - Most probable number assay with CS; MPN_7H9 – Most probable number assay with standard 7H9 media SD – standard deviation; Rpf – resuscitation promoting factor; UHL – University Hospitals of Leicester

Appendix 10: Culture negative samples laboratory & processing data

Patient number	Sample type	Storage duration before processing (days)	Storage before processing (°C)	Sample amount	Decon method [‡]	Storage duration after processing (days)	Storage after processing (°C)	CS batch	Duration of incubation	AFB smear	UHL culture result	CRS
11	CSF	15	-20	1.5ml	None			1	92	Neg	Neg	Poss TB
13	ILN station 7	7	4	Sliver of tissue	H_2SO_4			1	93	Neg	Neg	Not TB
14	Supraclavicular LN	6	4	Sliver of tissue	H ₂ S0 ₄			1	93	Neg	Neg	Prob TB
16	Pleural fluid	1	4	5ml	None			1	83	Neg	Neg	Not TB
16	Pleural fluid	2	4	40ml	None			1	83	Neg	Neg	Not TB
24	R foot abscess	4	4	2ml	H_2SO_4			1	92	Neg	Neg	Not TB
24	R foot bone Bx	4	4	Small fragments	H_2SO_4			1	85	Neg	Neg	Not TB
26	T8-9 vertebral Bx	2	4	1ml decon sample	H_2SO_4	20	-20	1	85	Neg	Neg	Not TB
27	Pleural fluid	10	4	5ml	H_2SO_4			1	85	Neg	Neg	Proven
30	ILN station 7	21	4	1 biopsy core	NaOH			2	84	Neg	Neg	Not TB
33	CSF	2	4	2ml	None			2	84	Neg	Neg	Proven
33	Mediastinal LN	3	4	1ml decon sample	NaOH	24	-20	2	102	Neg	Pos	Proven
33	Mediastinal LN	3	4	1ml decon sample	NaOH	35	-20	3	91	Neg	Pos	Proven
34	ILN station 7	2	4	1ml decon sample	H_2SO_4	50	-20	2	84	Neg	Pos	Proven
35	Pleural fluid	2	4	1ml decon sample	H_2SO_4	32	-20	2	84	Neg	Neg	Proven
35	Pericardial fluid	4	4	1ml decon sample	H_2SO_4	14	-20	2	84	Neg	Pos	Proven
35	Pericardial fluid	2	4	1ml decon sample	H_2SO_4	14	-20	2	84	Neg	Pos	Proven
35	Pericardial fluid	2	4	1ml decon sample	H_2SO_4	57	-20	3	85	Neg	Pos	Proven
37	Supraclavicular LN	3	4	1ml decon sample	H ₂ S0 ₄	28	-20	3	84	Neg	Pos	Proven
38	ILN station 7	10	4	1ml saline & tissue sliver	NaOH			3	102	Neg	Pos	Proven
39	Pelvic abscess	9	4	4ml	H_2SO_4			3	102	Neg	Neg	Not TB
41	Axillary LN	14	4	0.5ml saline & tissue sliver	H_2SO_4			3	91	Neg	Neg	Prob TB

 Table A10.1 Culture negative sample data

Patient number	Sample	Storage	Storage	Sample	Decon [‡]	Storage duration	Storage	CS	Duration of	AFB	UHL	CRS
	type	duration before processing	before processing	amount	method	after processing	after processing (°C)	Batch	incubation	smear	culture result	2
		(days)	(°C)			(days)						
41	Bone marrow	1	4	1.5ml	None			3	99	Neg	Neg	Prob TB
42	Inguinal abscess	2	4	1ml decon sample	H_2SO_4	54	-20	3	85	Neg	Neg	Prob TB
43	Pleural fluid	2	4	1ml decon sample	H_2SO_4	39	-20	3	85	Neg	Neg	Prob TB
43	Pleural tissue	21	-20	0.5ml homogenised	None			3	85	Neg	Neg	Prob TB
44	L cervical abscess	2	4	1ml decon sample	H_2SO_4	19	-20	3	85	Neg	Pos	Proven
45	L cervical abscess	4	4	1ml decon sample	H_2SO_4	36	-20	3	100	Neg	Neg	Prob TB
46	R cervical abscess	4	4	1ml decon sample	H_2SO_4	137	-20	3	97	Neg	Pos	Proven
50	Cervical LN	63	-20	1ml homogenised	H_2SO_4			3	104	Neg	Pos	Proven
54	Cervical LN	79	-20	sliver of tissue	H_2SO_4			4	92	Neg	Neg	Prob TB
В	Cervical abscess	50	-20	0.25ml saline & pus	H_2SO_4			4	92	Neg	Neg	Prob TB
Η	Pleural tissue	55	-20	4 slivers of tissue	None			4	92	Neg	Neg	Proven

 \ddagger - standard LN decontamination by H_2SO_4 method; EBUS LN by NaOH. List of abbreviations: ATT – anti-tuberculous therapy; CRS – composite reference standard; CSF – cerebrospinal fluid; decon – decontaminated; EBUS – endobronchial ultrasound; FNA – fine needle aspirate; ILN – intrathoracic lymph node; LN -lymph node; SD – standard deviation; UHL – University Hospitals of Leicester.

Appendix 11: Mycobacterial Growth Indicatory Tube Data

Patient number	Sample type	Storage before processing (UHL) (°C) [‡]	Storage (UHL) (days)	2 nd stage storage before processing (UoL) (°C)#	Storage (UoL) (days)	Decon method	Post processing storage conditions (UHL)(°C) §	Post processing duration (days)	CS Batch	Strain	Distance*
31†	Pleural fluid	4	2	-80	94	None			3		
32	C3 spinal abscess	4	5	-80	63	H_2SO_4			3		
36	ILN station 4R	4	9	-80	120	NaOH			3		
38	Colon tissue	4	7	-80	49	NaOH			3		
40	Pleural tissue	-20	13	-80	112	None			3		
46	R cervical abscess	4	4			H_2SO_4	-20	137	3		
50	Cervical LN	-20	63			H_2SO_4			3		
51	Ileocaecal abscess	-20	42			H_2SO_4			3		
52	Vertebral Bx	4	9			None			3		
53	Mediastinal LN	-20	71	-80	160	?NaOH			4		
54	Cervical LN	-20	79			H_2SO_4			4		
В	Cervical abscess	-20	50			H_2SO_4			4		
Н	Pleural tissue	-20	55			None			4	Delhi / CAS	0.42

Table A11.1 Mycobacterial Growth Indicator Tube information.

[†] - First pleural fluid sample from patient 31. [‡] - Storage conditions at the UHL microbiology laboratory before sample transferred to the UoL for growth assays. # - Some samples were frozen / refrozen at -80°C after use in growth assays for future use in MGIT experiment. § - Sample decontaminated and then frozen to-20°C at UHL prior to enrolment in the study. * - value generated by <u>www.MIRU-VNTRplus.org</u> describing the 'distance' genetically from the strain type, the smaller the value the closer the isolate is to the reference strain. List of abbreviations: CAS – Central African strain; CS – culture supernatant; EBUS – endobronchial ultrasound; LN – lymph node; UHL – University Hospitals of Leicester; UoL – University of Leicester

Appendix 12: Verification of ethical status of TB recurrence project

From:	Leicester NRESCommittee.EastMidlands- (HEALTH RESEARCH AUTHORITY) <nrescommittee.eastmidlands-leicester@nhs.net></nrescommittee.eastmidlands-leicester@nhs.net>
Sent:	12 November 2014 10:38
To:	Rosser Andrew - ST3 - IDU & Micro
Subject:	Project advice

Dear Dr Rosser

Thank you for your letter dated 4 November 2014 addressed to the Leicester REC Committee.

I can advise that as the proposed project is using a pre-existing database then ethical review by the committee will not be required.

Any permissions necessary will be those between the research team and the database management team.

I hope this answers your query but please let me know if you required any further information.

Kind regards

Ellen

Ellen Swainston | REC Manager and Joanne Unsworth | REC Assistant Health Research Authority National Research Ethics Service (NRES) HRA, The Old Chapel, Royal Standard Place, Nottingham, NG1 6FS E: nrescommittee.eastmidlands-leicester@nhs.net | T: 0115 883 9436 www.hra.nhs.uk IMPORTANT - Click here for details of significant changes in Spring 2014 to the REC booking and submission process

The HRA is keen to know your views on the service you received - our short feedback form is available here.

If your email is regarding a formal request for information under the Freedom of Information Act, please resend to HRA.FOI@nhs.net to ensure it is dealt with promptly Streamline your research application process with IRAS (Integrated Research Application System): www.myresearchproject.org.uk

References

1. WHO. Global Tuberculosis Report 2017. World Heatlh Organisation, 2017.

2. Wilson LG. Commentary: Medicine, population, and tuberculosis. International journal of epidemiology. 2005;34(3):521-4.

3. Lipsitch M, Sousa AO. Historical intensity of natural selection for resistance to tuberculosis. Genetics. 2002;161(4):1599-607.

4. Brites D, Gagneux S. Co-evolution of Mycobacterium tuberculosis and Homo sapiens. Immunological reviews. 2015;264(1):6-24.

5. Luca S, Mihaescu T. History of BCG Vaccine. Maedica. 2013;8(1):53-8.

6. Malin AS, McAdam KP. Escalating threat from tuberculosis: the third epidemic. Thorax. 1995;50 Suppl 1:S37-42.

7. Hermans S, Horsburgh CR, Jr., Wood R. A Century of Tuberculosis Epidemiology in the Northern and Southern Hemisphere: The Differential Impact of Control Interventions. PloS one. 2015;10(8):e0135179.

8. TB : a global emergency, WHO report on the TB epidemic Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization; 1994.

9. Tuberculosis--United States, 1985--and the possible impact of human Tlymphotropic virus type III/lymphadenopathy-associated virus infection. MMWR Morbidity and mortality weekly report. 1986;35(5):74-6.

10. Tuberculosis morbidity--United States, 1992. MMWR Morbidity and mortality weekly report. 1993;42(36):696-7, 703-4.

11. Lawn SD, Bekker LG, Middelkoop K, Myer L, Wood R. Impact of HIV infection on the epidemiology of tuberculosis in a peri-urban community in South Africa: the need for age-specific interventions. Clinical infectious diseases : an official publication of the Infectious Diseases Society of America. 2006;42(7):1040-7.

12. Fatkenheuer G, Taelman H, Lepage P, Schwenk A, Wenzel R. The return of tuberculosis. Diagnostic microbiology and infectious disease. 1999;34(2):139-46.

13. Global tuberculosis database. Available from: <u>http://www.who.int/tb/data/en/</u>.

14. Tuberculosis Surveillance and Monitoring in Europe 2017. Stockholm, Sweden: European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control/WHO Regional Office for Europe; 2017.

15. Pareek M, Greenaway C, Noori T, Munoz J, Zenner D. The impact of migration on tuberculosis epidemiology and control in high-income countries: a review. BMC medicine. 2016;14:48.

16. Tuberculosis in England 2017 report (presenting data to the end of 2016). Public Health England; 2017.

17. Tuberculosis in the East Midlands: Annual review (2016 data). In: Midlands) PHEE, editor.: Public Health England; 2017.

18. Barka EA, Vatsa P, Sanchez L, Gaveau-Vaillant N, Jacquard C, Meier-Kolthoff JP, et al. Correction for Barka et al., Taxonomy, Physiology, and Natural Products of Actinobacteria. Microbiology and molecular biology reviews : MMBR. 2016;80(4):iii.

19. Sakamoto K. The pathology of Mycobacterium tuberculosis infection. Veterinary pathology. 2012;49(3):423-39.

20. Banuls AL, Sanou A, Anh NT, Godreuil S. Mycobacterium tuberculosis: ecology and evolution of a human bacterium. Journal of medical microbiology. 2015;64(11):1261-9.

21. van Ingen J, Rahim Z Fau - Mulder A, Mulder A Fau - Boeree MJ, Boeree Mj Fau - Simeone R, Simeone R Fau - Brosch R, Brosch R Fau - van Soolingen D, et al.

Characterization of Mycobacterium orygis as M. tuberculosis complex subspecies. Emerging infectious diseases. 2012(18(4)):653–5.

22. Daffe M, Draper P. The envelope layers of mycobacteria with reference to their pathogenicity. Advances in microbial physiology. 1998;39:131-203.

23. Rodriguez JG, Hernandez AC, Helguera-Repetto C, Aguilar Ayala D, Guadarrama-Medina R, Anzola JM, et al. Global adaptation to a lipid environment triggers the dormancy-related phenotype of Mycobacterium tuberculosis. mBio. 2014;5(3):e01125-14.

24. Sia JK, Georgieva M, Rengarajan J. Innate Immune Defenses in Human Tuberculosis: An Overview of the Interactions between Mycobacterium tuberculosis and Innate Immune Cells. Journal of immunology research. 2015;2015:747543.

25. Neyrolles O, Hernandez-Pando R, Pietri-Rouxel F, Fornes P, Tailleux L, Barrios Payan JA, et al. Is adipose tissue a place for Mycobacterium tuberculosis persistence? PloS one. 2006;1:e43.

26. Barrios-Payan J, Saqui-Salces M, Jeyanathan M, Alcantara-Vazquez A, Castanon-Arreola M, Rook G, et al. Extrapulmonary locations of mycobacterium tuberculosis DNA during latent infection. The Journal of infectious diseases. 2012;206(8):1194-205.

27. Turner RD, Bothamley GH. Cough and the transmission of tuberculosis. The Journal of infectious diseases. 2015;211(9):1367-72.

28. Dorhoi A, Kaufmann SH. Perspectives on host adaptation in response to Mycobacterium tuberculosis: modulation of inflammation. Seminars in immunology. 2014;26(6):533-42.

29. Pitt JM, Stavropoulos E, Redford PS, Beebe AM, Bancroft GJ, Young DB, et al. Blockade of IL-10 signaling during bacillus Calmette-Guerin vaccination enhances and sustains Th1, Th17, and innate lymphoid IFN-gamma and IL-17 responses and increases protection to Mycobacterium tuberculosis infection. Journal of immunology (Baltimore, Md : 1950). 2012;189(8):4079-87.

30. Eum SY, Kong JH, Hong MS, Lee YJ, Kim JH, Hwang SH, et al. Neutrophils are the predominant infected phagocytic cells in the airways of patients with active pulmonary TB. Chest. 2010;137(1):122-8.

31. Martineau AR, Newton SM, Wilkinson KA, Kampmann B, Hall BM, Nawroly N, et al. Neutrophil-mediated innate immune resistance to mycobacteria. The Journal of clinical investigation. 2007;117(7):1988-94.

32. Ahmad S. Pathogenesis, immunology, and diagnosis of latent Mycobacterium tuberculosis infection. Clinical & developmental immunology. 2011;2011:814943.

33. Nunes-Alves C, Booty MG, Carpenter SM, Jayaraman P, Rothchild AC, Behar SM. In search of a new paradigm for protective immunity to TB. Nature reviews Microbiology. 2014;12(4):289-99.

34. Cirillo SL, Subbian S, Chen B, Weisbrod TR, Jacobs WR, Jr., Cirillo JD. Protection of Mycobacterium tuberculosis from reactive oxygen species conferred by the mel2 locus impacts persistence and dissemination. Infection and immunity. 2009;77(6):2557-67.

35. Vandal OH, Nathan CF, Ehrt S. Acid resistance in Mycobacterium tuberculosis. Journal of bacteriology. 2009;191(15):4714-21.

36. Gopal R, Monin L, Slight S, Uche U, Blanchard E, Fallert Junecko BA, et al. Unexpected role for IL-17 in protective immunity against hypervirulent Mycobacterium tuberculosis HN878 infection. PLoS pathogens. 2014;10(5):e1004099.

37. van de Veerdonk FL, Teirlinck AC, Kleinnijenhuis J, Kullberg BJ, van Crevel R, van der Meer JW, et al. Mycobacterium tuberculosis induces IL-17A responses through TLR4 and dectin-1 and is critically dependent on endogenous IL-1. Journal of leukocyte biology. 2010;88(2):227-32.

38. Prezzemolo T, Guggino G, La Manna MP, Di Liberto D, Dieli F, Caccamo N. Functional Signatures of Human CD4 and CD8 T Cell Responses to Mycobacterium tuberculosis. Frontiers in immunology. 2014;5:180.

39. Ramakrishnan L. Revisiting the role of the granuloma in tuberculosis. Nature reviews Immunology. 2012;12(5):352-66.

40. Ahmad S. New approaches in the diagnosis and treatment of latent tuberculosis infection. Respiratory research. 2010;11:169.

41. Zhang Y, Yew WW, Barer MR. Targeting Persisters for Tuberculosis Control. Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy. 2010;56(5):2223-30.

42. Gideon HP, Flynn JL. Latent tuberculosis: what the host "sees"? Immunologic research. 2011;50(2-3):202-12.

43. Lin PL, Ford CB, Coleman MT, Myers AJ, Gawande R, Ioerger T, et al. Sterilization of granulomas is common in active and latent tuberculosis despite within-host variability in bacterial killing. Nature medicine. 2014;20(1):75-9.

44. Narasimhan P, Wood J, Macintyre CR, Mathai D. Risk factors for tuberculosis. Pulmonary medicine. 2013;2013:828939.

45. Esmail H, Barry CE, 3rd, Young DB, Wilkinson RJ. The ongoing challenge of latent tuberculosis. Philosophical transactions of the Royal Society of London Series B, Biological sciences. 2014;369(1645):20130437.

46. Paige C, Bishai WR. Penitentiary or penthouse condo: the tuberculous granuloma from the microbe's point of view. Cellular microbiology. 2010;12(3):301-9.

47. Kana BD, Mizrahi V. Resuscitation-promoting factors as lytic enzymes for bacterial growth and signaling. FEMS immunology and medical microbiology. 2010;58(1):39-50.

48. Pablos-Mendez A, Blustein J Fau - Knirsch CA, Knirsch CA. The role of diabetes mellitus in the higher prevalence of tuberculosis among Hispanics. (0090-0036 (Print)).
49. Solovic I, Sester M, Gomez-Reino JJ, Rieder HL, Ehlers S, Milburn HJ, et al. The

risk of tuberculosis related to tumour necrosis factor antagonist therapies: a TBNET consensus statement. The European respiratory journal. 2010;36(5):1185-206.

50. Cowie RL. The epidemiology of tuberculosis in gold miners with silicosis. American journal of respiratory and critical care medicine. 1994;150(5 Pt 1):1460-2.

51. Baussano I, Mercadante S Fau - Pareek M, Pareek M Fau - Lalvani A, Lalvani A Fau - Bugiani M, Bugiani M. High rates of Mycobacterium tuberculosis among socially marginalized immigrants in low-incidence area, 1991-2010, Italy. (1080-6059 (Electronic)).

52. Chu H, Shih CJ, Lee YJ, Kuo SC, Hsu YT, Ou SM, et al. Risk of tuberculosis among healthcare workers in an intermediate-burden country: a nationwide population study. (1532-2742 (Electronic)).

53. Altet MN, Alcaide J, Plans P, Taberner JL, Salto E, Folguera LI, et al. Passive smoking and risk of pulmonary tuberculosis in children immediately following infection. A case-control study. Tubercle and lung disease : the official journal of the International Union against Tuberculosis and Lung Disease. 1996;77(6):537-44.

54. Slama K, Chiang CY, Enarson DA, Hassmiller K, Fanning A, Gupta P, et al. Tobacco and tuberculosis: a qualitative systematic review and meta-analysis. The international journal of tuberculosis and lung disease : the official journal of the International Union against Tuberculosis and Lung Disease. 2007;11(10):1049-61.

55. Maurya V, Vijayan VK, Shah A. Smoking and tuberculosis: an association overlooked. The international journal of tuberculosis and lung disease : the official journal of the International Union against Tuberculosis and Lung Disease. 2002;6(11):942-51.

56. Mukamolova GV, Kaprelyants AS, Young DI, Young M, Kell DB. A bacterial cytokine. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 1998;95(15):8916-21.

57. Mukamolova GV, Turapov O, Malkin J, Woltmann G, Barer MR. Resuscitationpromoting factors reveal an occult population of tubercle Bacilli in Sputum. American journal of respiratory and critical care medicine. 2010;181(2):174-80.

58. Chengalroyen MD, Beukes GM, Gordhan BG, Streicher EM, Churchyard G, Hafner R, et al. Detection and Quantification of Differentially Culturable Tubercle Bacteria in Sputum from Patients with Tuberculosis. American journal of respiratory and critical care medicine. 2016;194(12):1532-40.

59. Dartois V, Saito K, Warrier T, Nathan C. New Evidence for the Complexity of the Population Structure of Mycobacterium tuberculosis Increases the Diagnostic and Biologic Challenges. American journal of respiratory and critical care medicine. 2016;194(12):1448-51.

60. Kenyon TA, Valway SE, Ihle WW, Onorato IM, Castro KG. Transmission of multidrug-resistant Mycobacterium tuberculosis during a long airplane flight. The New England journal of medicine. 1996;334(15):933-8.

61. Lienhardt C, Sillah J, Fielding K, Donkor S, Manneh K, Warndorff D, et al. Risk factors for tuberculosis infection in children in contact with infectious tuberculosis cases in the Gambia, West Africa. Pediatrics. 2003;111(5 Pt 1):e608-14.

62. Lienhardt C, Fielding K, Sillah J, Tunkara A, Donkor S, Manneh K, et al. Risk factors for tuberculosis infection in sub-Saharan Africa: a contact study in The Gambia. American journal of respiratory and critical care medicine. 2003;168(4):448-55.

63. Shaw JB, Wynn-Williams N. Infectivity of pulmonary tuberculosis in relation to sputum status. American review of tuberculosis. 1954;69(5):724-32.

64. Bruchfeld J, Correia-Neves M, Kallenius G. Tuberculosis and HIV Coinfection. Cold Spring Harbor perspectives in medicine. 2015;5(7):a017871.

65. Zumla A, Raviglione M, Hafner R, von Reyn CF. Tuberculosis. The New England journal of medicine. 2013;368(8):745-55.

66. Houben RM, Dodd PJ. The Global Burden of Latent Tuberculosis Infection: A Reestimation Using Mathematical Modelling. PLoS medicine. 2016;13(10):e1002152.

67. UNAIDS factsheet July 20172017 24th Aug 2017. Available from:

http://www.unaids.org/sites/default/files/media_asset/UNAIDS_FactSheet_en.pdf.

68. Daley CL, Small PM, Schecter GF, Schoolnik GK, McAdam RA, Jacobs WR, Jr., et al. An outbreak of tuberculosis with accelerated progression among persons infected with the human immunodeficiency virus. An analysis using restriction-fragment-length polymorphisms. The New England journal of medicine. 1992;326(4):231-5.

69. Kwan CK, Ernst JD. HIV and tuberculosis: a deadly human syndemic. Clinical microbiology reviews. 2011;24(2):351-76.

70. Narayanan S, Swaminathan S, Supply P, Shanmugam S, Narendran G, Hari L, et al. Impact of HIV infection on the recurrence of tuberculosis in South India. The Journal of infectious diseases. 2010;201(5):691-703.

71. Wilen CB, Tilton JC, Doms RW. HIV: cell binding and entry. Cold Spring Harbor perspectives in medicine. 2012;2(8).

72. Maartens G, Celum C, Lewin SR. HIV infection: epidemiology, pathogenesis, treatment, and prevention. Lancet (London, England). 2014;384(9939):258-71.
73. Ernst JD. The immunological life cycle of tuberculosis. Nature reviews

Immunology. 2012;12(8):581-91.

74. Sonnenberg P, Glynn JR, Fielding K, Murray J, Godfrey-Faussett P, Shearer S. How soon after infection with HIV does the risk of tuberculosis start to increase? A

retrospective cohort study in South African gold miners. The Journal of infectious diseases. 2005;191(2):150-8.

75. Geldmacher C, Ngwenyama N, Schuetz A, Petrovas C, Reither K, Heeregrave EJ, et al. Preferential infection and depletion of Mycobacterium tuberculosis-specific CD4 T cells after HIV-1 infection. The Journal of experimental medicine. 2010;207(13):2869-81.
76. Bisson GP, Zetola N, Collman RG. Persistent high mortality in advanced HIV/TB despite appropriate antiretroviral and antitubercular therapy: an emerging challenge. Current HIV/AIDS reports. 2015;12(1):107-16.

77. Lawn SD, Myer L, Edwards D, Bekker LG, Wood R. Short-term and long-term risk of tuberculosis associated with CD4 cell recovery during antiretroviral therapy in South Africa. AIDS (London, England). 2009;23(13):1717-25.

78. Burman WJ, Jones BE. Clinical and radiographic features of HIV-related tuberculosis. Seminars in respiratory infections. 2003;18(4):263-71.

79. Samb B, Sow PS, Kony S, Maynart-Badiane M, Diouf G, Cissokho S, et al. Risk factors for negative sputum acid-fast bacilli smears in pulmonary tuberculosis: results from Dakar, Senegal, a city with low HIV seroprevalence. The international journal of tuberculosis and lung disease : the official journal of the International Union against Tuberculosis and Lung Disease. 1999;3(4):330-6.

80. Chaisson RE, Schecter GF, Theuer CP, Rutherford GW, Echenberg DF, Hopewell PC. Tuberculosis in patients with the acquired immunodeficiency syndrome. Clinical features, response to therapy, and survival. The American review of respiratory disease. 1987;136(3):570-4.

81. Jones BE, Young SM, Antoniskis D, Davidson PT, Kramer F, Barnes PF. Relationship of the manifestations of tuberculosis to CD4 cell counts in patients with human immunodeficiency virus infection. The American review of respiratory disease. 1993;148(5):1292-7.

82. Sterling TR, Pham PA, Chaisson RE. HIV infection-related tuberculosis: clinical manifestations and treatment. Clinical infectious diseases : an official publication of the Infectious Diseases Society of America. 2010;50 Suppl 3:S223-30.

83. Mtei L, Matee M, Herfort O, Bakari M, Horsburgh CR, Waddell R, et al. High rates of clinical and subclinical tuberculosis among HIV-infected ambulatory subjects in Tanzania. Clinical infectious diseases : an official publication of the Infectious Diseases Society of America. 2005;40(10):1500-7.

84. Cain KP, McCarthy KD, Heilig CM, Monkongdee P, Tasaneeyapan T, Kanara N, et al. An algorithm for tuberculosis screening and diagnosis in people with HIV. The New England journal of medicine. 2010;362(8):707-16.

85. Lawn SD, Badri M, Wood R. Tuberculosis among HIV-infected patients receiving HAART: long term incidence and risk factors in a South African cohort. AIDS (London, England). 2005;19(18):2109-16.

86. Havlir DV, Kendall MA, Ive P, Kumwenda J, Swindells S, Qasba SS, et al. Timing of antiretroviral therapy for HIV-1 infection and tuberculosis. The New England journal of medicine. 2011;365(16):1482-91.

87. Blanc FX, Sok T, Laureillard D, Borand L, Rekacewicz C, Nerrienet E, et al. Earlier versus later start of antiretroviral therapy in HIV-infected adults with tuberculosis. The New England journal of medicine. 2011;365(16):1471-81.

88. Definitions and reporting framework for tuberculosis – 2013 revision (updated December 2014). World Health Organisation; 2014.

89. Barry CE, 3rd, Boshoff HI, Dartois V, Dick T, Ehrt S, Flynn J, et al. The spectrum of latent tuberculosis: rethinking the biology and intervention strategies. Nature reviews Microbiology. 2009;7(12):845-55.

90. American Thoracic S, Centers for Disease C, Prevention, Infectious Diseases
Society of A. American Thoracic Society/Centers for Disease Control and
Prevention/Infectious Diseases Society of America: controlling tuberculosis in the United
States. American journal of respiratory and critical care medicine. 2005;172(9):1169-227.
91. Corbett EL, Zezai A, Cheung YB, Bandason T, Dauva E, Munvati SS, et al.

91. Corbett EL, Zezai A, Cheung YB, Bandason T, Dauya E, Munyati SS, et al. Provider-initiated symptom screening for tuberculosis in Zimbabwe: diagnostic value and the effect of HIV status. Bulletin of the World Health Organization. 2010;88(1):13-21.

92. UK Standards for Microbiology Investigations: Investigation of Specimens for Mycobacterium species. Public Health England; 2018.

93. Rodrigues C, Vadwai V. Tuberculosis: laboratory diagnosis. Clinics in laboratory medicine. 2012;32(2):111-27.

94. Behr MA, Warren SA, Salamon H, Hopewell PC, Ponce de Leon A, Daley CL, et al. Transmission of Mycobacterium tuberculosis from patients smear-negative for acid-fast bacilli. Lancet. 1999;353(9151):444-9.

95. Desikan P. Sputum smear microscopy in tuberculosis: is it still relevant? The Indian journal of medical research. 2013;137(3):442-4.

96. Purohit M, Mustafa T. Laboratory Diagnosis of Extra-pulmonary Tuberculosis (EPTB) in Resource-constrained Setting: State of the Art, Challenges and the Need. Journal of clinical and diagnostic research : JCDR. 2015;9(4):EE01-6.

97. Sia IG, Wieland ML. Current concepts in the management of tuberculosis. Mayo Clinic proceedings Mayo Clinic. 2011;86(4):348-61.

98. Toman K. Toman's tuberculosis: case detection, treatment, and monitoring: questions and answers. Frieden T, editor. Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization; 2004.

99. Adler H, Straub C, Frei R. Comparison of BacT/ALERT 3D, Lowenstein-Jensen medium and Middlebrook 7H10/7H11 biplate for recovering mycobacteria from clinical specimens. European journal of clinical microbiology & infectious diseases : official publication of the European Society of Clinical Microbiology. 2005;24(7):499-500.

100. Samra Z, Kaufman L, Bechor J, Bahar J. Comparative study of three culture systems for optimal recovery of mycobacteria from different clinical specimens. European journal of clinical microbiology & infectious diseases : official publication of the European Society of Clinical Microbiology. 2000;19(10):750-4.

101. Davies PD, Pai M. The diagnosis and misdiagnosis of tuberculosis. The international journal of tuberculosis and lung disease : the official journal of the International Union against Tuberculosis and Lung Disease. 2008;12(11):1226-34.

102. Diagnostic Standards and Classification of Tuberculosis in Adults and Children. This official statement of the American Thoracic Society and the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention was adopted by the ATS Board of Directors, July 1999. This statement was endorsed by the Council of the Infectious Disease Society of America, September 1999. American journal of respiratory and critical care medicine. 2000;161(4 Pt 1):1376-95.

103. Mukherjee A, Singh S Fau - Lodha R, Lodha R Fau - Singh V, Singh V Fau -Hesseling AC, Hesseling Ac Fau - Grewal HMS, Grewal Hm Fau - Kabra SK, et al. Ambulatory gastric lavages provide better yields of Mycobacterium tuberculosis than induced sputum in children with intrathoracic tuberculosis. (1532-0987 (Electronic)). 104. Lee JY. Diagnosis and treatment of extrapulmonary tuberculosis. Tuberculosis and

respiratory diseases. 2015;78(2):47-55.

105. Solovic I, Jonsson J, Korzeniewska-Kosela M, Chiotan DI, Pace-Asciak A, Slump E, et al. Challenges in diagnosing extrapulmonary tuberculosis in the European Union,

2011. Euro surveillance : bulletin Europeen sur les maladies transmissibles = European communicable disease bulletin. 2013;18(12).

106. Leung E, Minion J, Benedetti A, Pai M, Menzies D. Microcolony culture techniques for tuberculosis diagnosis: a systematic review. The international journal of tuberculosis and lung disease : the official journal of the International Union against Tuberculosis and Lung Disease. 2012;16(1):16-23, i-iii.

107. Evans CA. GeneXpert--a game-changer for tuberculosis control? PLoS medicine. 2011;8(7):e1001064.

108. Ghodbane R, Raoult D, Drancourt M. Dramatic reduction of culture time of Mycobacterium tuberculosis. Scientific reports. 2014;4:4236.

109. Huang W, Qi Y, Diao Y, Yang F, Zha X, Ren C, et al. Use of resuscitationpromoting factor proteins improves the sensitivity of culture-based tuberculosis testing in special samples. American journal of respiratory and critical care medicine. 2014;189(5):612-4.

110. Park DY, Kim JY, Choi KU, Lee JS, Lee CH, Sol MY, et al. Comparison of polymerase chain reaction with histopathologic features for diagnosis of tuberculosis in formalin-fixed, paraffin-embedded histologic specimens. Archives of pathology & laboratory medicine. 2003;127(3):326-30.

111. Jain AK, Jena SK, Singh MP, Dhammi IK, Ramachadran VG, Dev G. Evaluation of clinico-radiological, bacteriological, serological, molecular and histological diagnosis of osteoarticular tuberculosis. Indian journal of orthopaedics. 2008;42(2):173-7.

112. Patwardhan SA, Bhargava P, Bhide VM, Kelkar DS. A study of tubercular lymphadenitis: a comparison of various laboratory diagnostic modalities with a special reference to tubercular polymerase chain reaction. Indian journal of medical microbiology. 2011;29(4):389-94.

113. Mustafa T, Wiker HG, Mfinanga SG, Morkve O, Sviland L. Immunohistochemistry using a Mycobacterium tuberculosis complex specific antibody for improved diagnosis of tuberculous lymphadenitis. Modern pathology : an official journal of the United States and Canadian Academy of Pathology, Inc. 2006;19(12):1606-14.

114. Diacon AH, Van de Wal BW, Wyser C, Smedema JP, Bezuidenhout J, Bolliger CT, et al. Diagnostic tools in tuberculous pleurisy: a direct comparative study. The European respiratory journal. 2003;22(4):589-91.

115. Ohshimo S, Guzman J, Costabel U, Bonella F. Differential diagnosis of granulomatous lung disease: clues and pitfalls: Number 4 in the Series "Pathology for the clinician" Edited by Peter Dorfmuller and Alberto Cavazza. European respiratory review : an official journal of the European Respiratory Society. 2017;26(145).

116. Pinto LM, Pai M, Dheda K, Schwartzman K, Menzies D, Steingart KR. Scoring systems using chest radiographic features for the diagnosis of pulmonary tuberculosis in adults: a systematic review. The European respiratory journal. 2013;42(2):480-94.

117. Krysl J, Korzeniewska-Kosela M, Muller NL, FitzGerald JM. Radiologic features of pulmonary tuberculosis: an assessment of 188 cases. Canadian Association of Radiologists journal = Journal l'Association canadienne des radiologistes. 1994;45(2):101-7.

118. Ryu YJ. Diagnosis of pulmonary tuberculosis: recent advances and diagnostic algorithms. Tuberculosis and respiratory diseases. 2015;78(2):64-71.

119. Skoura E, Zumla A, Bomanji J. Imaging in tuberculosis. International journal of infectious diseases : IJID : official publication of the International Society for Infectious Diseases. 2015;32:87-93.

120. Cavusoglu C, Turhan A, Akinci P, Soyler I. Evaluation of the Genotype MTBDR assay for rapid detection of rifampin and isoniazid resistance in Mycobacterium tuberculosis isolates. Journal of clinical microbiology. 2006;44(7):2338-42.

121. WHO Guidelines Approved by the Guidelines Review Committee. Automated Real-Time Nucleic Acid Amplification Technology for Rapid and Simultaneous Detection of Tuberculosis and Rifampicin Resistance: Xpert MTB/RIF Assay for the Diagnosis of Pulmonary and Extrapulmonary TB in Adults and Children: Policy Update. Geneva: World Health Organization

Copyright (c) World Health Organization 2013.; 2013.

122. Theron G, Zijenah L, Chanda D, Clowes P, Rachow A, Lesosky M, et al. Feasibility, accuracy, and clinical effect of point-of-care Xpert MTB/RIF testing for tuberculosis in primary-care settings in Africa: a multicentre, randomised, controlled trial. Lancet (London, England). 2014;383(9915):424-35.

123. Steingart KR, Schiller I, Horne DJ, Pai M, Boehme CC, Dendukuri N. Xpert(R) MTB/RIF assay for pulmonary tuberculosis and rifampicin resistance in adults. The Cochrane database of systematic reviews. 2014;1(1):CD009593.

124. Zetola NM, Shin SS, Tumedi KA, Moeti K, Ncube R, Nicol M, et al. Mixed Mycobacterium tuberculosis complex infections and false-negative results for rifampin resistance by GeneXpert MTB/RIF are associated with poor clinical outcomes. Journal of clinical microbiology. 2014;52(7):2422-9.

125. Denkinger CM, Schumacher SG, Boehme CC, Dendukuri N, Pai M, Steingart KR. Xpert MTB/RIF assay for the diagnosis of extrapulmonary tuberculosis: a systematic review and meta-analysis. The European respiratory journal. 2014;44(2):435-46.

126. Dorman SE, Schumacher SG, Alland D, Nabeta P, Armstrong DT, King B, et al. Xpert MTB/RIF Ultra for detection of Mycobacterium tuberculosis and rifampicin resistance: a prospective multicentre diagnostic accuracy study. (1474-4457 (Electronic)).

127. Chakravorty S, Simmons AM, Rowneki M, Parmar H, Cao Y, Ryan J, et al. The New Xpert MTB/RIF Ultra: Improving Detection of Mycobacterium tuberculosis and Resistance to Rifampin in an Assay Suitable for Point-of-Care Testing. mBio. 2017;8(4).
128. Bojang AL, Mendy FS, Tientcheu LD, Otu J, Antonio M, Kampmann B, et al. Comparison of TB-LAMP, GeneXpert MTB/RIF and culture for diagnosis of pulmonary tuberculosis in The Gambia. The Journal of infection. 2016;72(3):332-7.

129. Kim SJ. Drug-susceptibility testing in tuberculosis: methods and reliability of results. The European respiratory journal. 2005;25(3):564-9.

130. Walker TM, Kohl TA, Omar SV, Hedge J, Del Ojo Elias C, Bradley P, et al. Whole-genome sequencing for prediction of Mycobacterium tuberculosis drug susceptibility and resistance: a retrospective cohort study. The Lancet Infectious diseases. 2015;15(10):1193-202.

131. Satta G, Atzeni A, McHugh TD. Mycobacterium tuberculosis and whole genome sequencing: a practical guide and online tools available for the clinical microbiologist. Clinical microbiology and infection : the official publication of the European Society of Clinical Microbiology and Infectious Diseases. 2017;23(2):69-72.

132. Pai M, Denkinger CM, Kik SV, Rangaka MX, Zwerling A, Oxlade O, et al. Gamma interferon release assays for detection of Mycobacterium tuberculosis infection. Clinical microbiology reviews. 2014;27(1):3-20.

133. Sester M, Sotgiu G, Lange C, Giehl C, Girardi E, Migliori GB, et al. Interferongamma release assays for the diagnosis of active tuberculosis: a systematic review and meta-analysis. The European respiratory journal. 2011;37(1):100-11. 134. Serra-Vidal MM, Latorre I, Franken KL, Diaz J, de Souza-Galvao ML, Casas I, et al. Immunogenicity of 60 novel latency-related antigens of Mycobacterium tuberculosis. Frontiers in microbiology. 2014;5:517.

135. Jagger A, Reiter-Karam S, Hamada Y, Getahun H. National policies on the management of latent tuberculosis infection: review of 98 countries. Bulletin of the World Health Organization. 2018;96(3):173-84F.

136. Diel R, Loddenkemper R, Zellweger JP, Sotgiu G, D'Ambrosio L, Centis R, et al. Old ideas to innovate tuberculosis control: preventive treatment to achieve elimination. The European respiratory journal. 2013;42(3):785-801.

137. NICE Guideline: Tuberculosis. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence;2016.

138. Lambert ML, Hasker E, Van Deun A, Roberfroid D, Boelaert M, Van der Stuyft P. Recurrence in tuberculosis: relapse or reinfection? The Lancet Infectious diseases. 2003;3(5):282-7.

139. WHO treatment guidelines for drug-resistant tuberculosis 2016 update WHO/HTM/TB/2016.04. Geneva, Switzlerand: World Health Organization; 2016.

140. Payen MC, Muylle I, Vandenberg O, Mathys V, Delforge M, Van den Wijngaert S, et al. Meropenem-clavulanate for drug-resistant tuberculosis: a follow-up of relapse-free cases. The international journal of tuberculosis and lung disease : the official journal of the International Union against Tuberculosis and Lung Disease. 2018;22(1):34-9.

141. Wang JY, Lee LN, Lai HC, Hsu HL, Liaw YS, Hsueh PR, et al. Prediction of the tuberculosis reinfection proportion from the local incidence. The Journal of infectious diseases. 2007;196(2):281-8.

142. Jo KW, Yoo JW, Hong Y, Lee JS, Lee SD, Kim WS, et al. Risk factors for 1-year relapse of pulmonary tuberculosis treated with a 6-month daily regimen. Respiratory medicine. 2014;108(4):654-9.

143. Ormerod LP, Prescott RJ. Inter-relations between relapses, drug regimens and compliance with treatment in tuberculosis. Respiratory medicine. 1991;85(3):239-42.
144. Pettit AC, Kaltenbach LA, Maruri F, Cummins J, Smith TR, Warkentin JV, et al. Chronic lung disease and HIV infection are risk factors for recurrent tuberculosis in a low-incidence setting. The international journal of tuberculosis and lung disease : the official journal of the International Union against Tuberculosis and Lung Disease. 2011;15(7):906-11.

145. Crofts JP, Andrews NJ, Barker RD, Delpech V, Abubakar I. Risk factors for recurrent tuberculosis in England and Wales, 1998-2005. Thorax. 2010;65(4):310-4.

146. Faustini A, Hall AJ, Mantovani J, Sangalli M, Perucci CA. Treatment outcomes and relapses of pulmonary tuberculosis in Lazio, Italy, 1999-2001: a six-year follow-up study. International journal of infectious diseases : IJID : official publication of the International Society for Infectious Diseases. 2008;12(6):611-21.

147. Millet JP, Shaw E, Orcau A, Casals M, Miro JM, Cayla JA. Tuberculosis recurrence after completion treatment in a European city: reinfection or relapse? PloS one. 2013;8(6):e64898.

148. Bandera A, Gori A, Catozzi L, Degli Esposti A, Marchetti G, Molteni C, et al. Molecular epidemiology study of exogenous reinfection in an area with a low incidence of tuberculosis. Journal of clinical microbiology. 2001;39(6):2213-8.

149. Mirsaeidi M, Sadikot RT. Patients at high risk of tuberculosis recurrence. (2212-554X (Electronic)).

150. Godfrey-Faussett P, Githui W, Batchelor B, Brindle R, Paul J, Hawken M, et al. Recurrence of HIV-related tuberculosis in an endemic area may be due to relapse or

reinfection. Tubercle and lung disease : the official journal of the International Union against Tuberculosis and Lung Disease. 1994;75(3):199-202.

151. Chiang CY, Riley LW. Exogenous reinfection in tuberculosis. The Lancet Infectious diseases. 2005;5(10):629-36.

152. Stead WW. Pathogenesis of a first episode of chronic pulmonary tuberculosis in man: recrudescence of residuals of the primary infection or exogenous reinfection? The American review of respiratory disease. 1967;95(5):729-45.

153. Romeyn JA. Exogenous reinfection in tuberculosis. The American review of respiratory disease. 1970;101(6):923-7.

154. Canetti G, Sutherland I, Svandova E. Endogenous reactivation and exogenous reinfection: their relative importance with regard to the development of non-primary tuberculosis. Bulletin of the International Union against Tuberculosis. 1972;47:116-34.

155. Sahadevan R, Narayanan S, Paramasivan CN, Prabhakar R, Narayanan PR. Restriction fragment length polymorphism typing of clinical isolates of Mycobacterium tuberculosis from patients with pulmonary tuberculosis in Madras, India, by use of direct-repeat probe. Journal of clinical microbiology. 1995;33(11):3037-9.

156. Sudre P, Pfyffer GE, Bodmer T, Prod'hom G, Furrer H, Bassetti S, et al. Molecular epidemiology of tuberculosis among HIV-infected persons in Switzerland: a countrywide 9-year cohort study. Swiss HIV Cohort Study. Infection. 1999;27(6):323-30.

157. van Rie A, Warren R, Richardson M, Victor TC, Gie RP, Enarson DA, et al. Exogenous reinfection as a cause of recurrent tuberculosis after curative treatment. The New England journal of medicine. 1999;341(16):1174-9.

158. Sonnenberg P, Murray J, Glynn JR, Shearer S, Kambashi B, Godfrey-Faussett P. HIV-1 and recurrence, relapse, and reinfection of tuberculosis after cure: a cohort study in South African mineworkers. Lancet. 2001;358(9294):1687-93.

159. Guerra-Assuncao JA, Houben RM, Crampin AC, Mzembe T, Mallard K, Coll F, et al. Recurrence due to Relapse or Reinfection With Mycobacterium tuberculosis: A Whole-Genome Sequencing Approach in a Large, Population-Based Cohort With a High HIV Infection Prevalence and Active Follow-up. The Journal of infectious diseases. 2015;211(7):1154-63.

160. Interrante JD, Haddad MB, Kim L, Gandhi NR. Exogenous Reinfection as a Cause of Late Recurrent Tuberculosis in the United States. Annals of the American Thoracic Society. 2015;12(11):1619-26.

161. Bryant JM, Harris SR, Parkhill J, Dawson R, Diacon AH, van Helden P, et al. Whole-genome sequencing to establish relapse or re-infection with Mycobacterium tuberculosis: a retrospective observational study. The Lancet Respiratory medicine. 2013;1(10):786-92.

162. Charalambous S, Grant AD, Moloi V, Warren R, Day JH, van Helden P, et al. Contribution of reinfection to recurrent tuberculosis in South African gold miners. The international journal of tuberculosis and lung disease : the official journal of the International Union against Tuberculosis and Lung Disease. 2008;12(8):942-8.

163. de Boer AS, Borgdorff MW, Vynnycky E, Sebek MM, van Soolingen D. Exogenous re-infection as a cause of recurrent tuberculosis in a low-incidence area. The international journal of tuberculosis and lung disease : the official journal of the International Union against Tuberculosis and Lung Disease. 2003;7(2):145-52.

164. Caminero JA, Pena MJ, Campos-Herrero MI, Rodriguez JC, Afonso O, Martin C, et al. Exogenous reinfection with tuberculosis on a European island with a moderate incidence of disease. American journal of respiratory and critical care medicine. 2001;163(3 Pt 1):717-20.

165. Verver S, Warren RM, Beyers N, Richardson M, van der Spuy GD, Borgdorff MW, et al. Rate of reinfection tuberculosis after successful treatment is higher than rate of new tuberculosis. American journal of respiratory and critical care medicine. 2005;171(12):1430-5.

166. Crampin AC, Mwaungulu JN, Mwaungulu FD, Mwafulirwa DT, Munthali K, Floyd S, et al. Recurrent TB: relapse or reinfection? The effect of HIV in a general population cohort in Malawi. AIDS (London, England). 2010;24(3):417-26.

167. Bang D, Andersen AB, Thomsen VO, Lillebaek T. Recurrent tuberculosis in Denmark: relapse vs. re-infection. The international journal of tuberculosis and lung disease : the official journal of the International Union against Tuberculosis and Lung Disease. 2010;14(4):447-53.

168. Jasmer RM, Bozeman L, Schwartzman K, Cave MD, Saukkonen JJ, Metchock B, et al. Recurrent tuberculosis in the United States and Canada: relapse or reinfection? American journal of respiratory and critical care medicine. 2004;170(12):1360-6.

169. Luzze H, Johnson DF, Dickman K, Mayanja-Kizza H, Okwera A, Eisenach K, et al. Relapse more common than reinfection in recurrent tuberculosis 1-2 years post treatment in urban Uganda. The international journal of tuberculosis and lung disease : the official journal of the International Union against Tuberculosis and Lung Disease. 2013;17(3):361-7.

170. Nahid P, Gonzalez LC, Rudoy I, de Jong BC, Unger A, Kawamura LM, et al. Treatment outcomes of patients with HIV and tuberculosis. American journal of respiratory and critical care medicine. 2007;175(11):1199-206.

171. Unis G, Ribeiro AW, Esteves LS, Spies FS, Picon PD, Dalla Costa ER, et al. Tuberculosis recurrence in a high incidence setting for HIV and tuberculosis in Brazil. BMC infectious diseases. 2014;14(1):548.

172. Marx FM, Dunbar R, Enarson DA, Williams BG, Warren RM, van der Spuy GD, et al. The temporal dynamics of relapse and reinfection tuberculosis after successful treatment: a retrospective cohort study. Clinical infectious diseases : an official publication of the Infectious Diseases Society of America. 2014;58(12):1676-83.

173. El Sahly HM, Wright JA, Soini H, Bui TT, Williams-Bouyer N, Escalante P, et al. Recurrent tuberculosis in Houston, Texas: a population-based study. The international journal of tuberculosis and lung disease : the official journal of the International Union against Tuberculosis and Lung Disease. 2004;8(3):333-40.

174. Warren RM, Streicher EM, Charalambous S, Churchyard G, van der Spuy GD, Grant AD, et al. Use of spoligotyping for accurate classification of recurrent tuberculosis. Journal of clinical microbiology. 2002;40(10):3851-3.

175. Glynn JR, Yates MD, Crampin AC, Ngwira BM, Mwaungulu FD, Black GF, et al. DNA fingerprint changes in tuberculosis: reinfection, evolution, or laboratory error? The Journal of infectious diseases. 2004;190(6):1158-66.

176. Guerra-Assuncao JA, Houben RM, Crampin AC, Mzembe T, Mallard K, Coll F, et al. Relapse or reinfection with tuberculosis: a whole genome sequencing approach in a large population-based cohort with high HIV prevalence and active follow-up. The Journal of infectious diseases. 2014.

177. A controlled trial of six months chemotherapy in pulmonary tuberculosis. Second report: results during the 24 months after the end of chemotherapy. British Thoracic Association. The American review of respiratory disease. 1982;126(3):460-2.

178. Dobler CC, Crawford AB, Jelfs PJ, Gilbert GL, Marks GB. Recurrence of tuberculosis in a low-incidence setting. The European respiratory journal. 2009;33(1):160-7.

179. Li F, Song CY, Zhao F, Liang ML, Liu ZM, Guo XY, et al. Follow-up Study of Retreatment TB Patients with Sputum Smear and/or Culture Positive Two Years after They were Declared Cured with First-line Anti-TB Drugs in Shandong Province. Biomedical and environmental sciences : BES. 2015;28(2):152-6.

180. Avery K, Abbara A, Ghani R, Davidson RN. Recurrent tuberculosis at a large tuberculosis centre in the UK. The Journal of infection. 2015;70(4):427-9.

181. Schiroli C, Carugati M, Zanini F, Bandera A, Di Nardo Stuppino S, Monge E, et al. Exogenous reinfection of tuberculosis in a low-burden area. Infection. 2015;43(6):647-53.
182. Garcia de Viedma D, Marin M, Hernangomez S, Diaz M, Ruiz Serrano MJ, Alcala L, et al. Tuberculosis recurrences: reinfection plays a role in a population whose clinical/epidemiological characteristics do not favor reinfection. Archives of internal medicine. 2002;162(16):1873-9.

183. Farnia P, Masjedi MR, Varahram M, Mirsaeidi M, Ahmadi M, Khazampour M, et al. The recent-transmission of Mycobacterium tuberculosis strains among Iranian and Afghan relapse cases: a DNA-fingerprinting using RFLP and spoligotyping. BMC infectious diseases. 2008;8:109.

184. Unis G, Ribeiro AW, Esteves LS, Spies FS, Picon PD, Dalla Costa ER, et al. Tuberculosis recurrence in a high incidence setting for HIV and tuberculosis in Brazil. BMC infectious diseases. 2014;14:548.

185. Middelkoop K, Bekker LG, Shashkina E, Kreiswirth B, Wood R. Retreatment tuberculosis in a South African community: the role of re-infection, HIV and antiretroviral treatment. The international journal of tuberculosis and lung disease : the official journal of the International Union against Tuberculosis and Lung Disease. 2012;16(11):1510-6.

186. Goswami A, Chakraborty U, Mahapatra T, Mahapatra S, Mukherjee T, Das S, et al. Correlates of treatment outcomes and drug resistance among pulmonary tuberculosis patients attending tertiary care hospitals of Kolkata, India. PloS one. 2014;9(10):e109563.
187. Golub JE, Durovni B, King BS, Cavalacante SC, Pacheco AG, Moulton LH, et al. Recurrent tuberculosis in HIV-infected patients in Rio de Janeiro, Brazil. AIDS (London, England). 2008;22(18):2527-33.

188. Kim L, Moonan PK, Heilig CM, Yelk Woodruff RS, Kammerer JS, Haddad MB. Factors associated with recurrent tuberculosis more than 12 months after treatment completion. The international journal of tuberculosis and lung disease : the official journal of the International Union against Tuberculosis and Lung Disease. 2016;20(1):49-56.

189. Millet JP, Orcau A, de Olalla PG, Casals M, Rius C, Cayla JA. Tuberculosis recurrence and its associated risk factors among successfully treated patients. Journal of epidemiology and community health. 2009;63(10):799-804.

190. Hung CL, Chien JY, Ou CY. Associated factors for tuberculosis recurrence in Taiwan: a nationwide nested case-control study from 1998 to 2010. PloS one. 2015;10(5):e0124822.

191. Anaam MS, Ibrahim MI, Al Serouri AW, Bassili A, Aldobhani A. A nested casecontrol study on relapse predictors among tuberculosis patients treated in Yemen's NTCP. Public health action. 2012;2(4):168-73.

192. Yen YF, Yen MY, Lin YS, Lin YP, Shih HC, Li LH, et al. Smoking increases risk of recurrence after successful anti-tuberculosis treatment: a population-based study. The international journal of tuberculosis and lung disease : the official journal of the International Union against Tuberculosis and Lung Disease. 2014;18(4):492-8.

193. Pascopella L, Deriemer K, Watt JP, Flood JM. When tuberculosis comes back: who develops recurrent tuberculosis in california? PloS one. 2011;6(11):e26541.

194. Lee PH, Lin HC, Huang AS, Wei SH, Lai MS, Lin HH. Diabetes and risk of tuberculosis relapse: nationwide nested case-control study. PloS one. 2014;9(3):e92623.

195. Burman WJ, Bliven EE, Cowan L, Bozeman L, Nahid P, Diem L, et al. Relapse associated with active disease caused by Beijing strain of Mycobacterium tuberculosis. Emerging infectious diseases. 2009;15(7):1061-7.

196. Driver CR, Munsiff SS, Li J, Kundamal N, Osahan SS. Relapse in persons treated for drug-susceptible tuberculosis in a population with high coinfection with human immunodeficiency virus in New York City. Clinical infectious diseases : an official publication of the Infectious Diseases Society of America. 2001;33(10):1762-9.

197. Fitzgerald DW, Desvarieux M, Severe P, Joseph P, Johnson WD, Jr., Pape JW. Effect of post-treatment isoniazid on prevention of recurrent tuberculosis in HIV-1-infected individuals: a randomised trial. Lancet. 2000;356(9240):1470-4.

198. Mallory KF, Churchyard GJ, Kleinschmidt I, De Cock KM, Corbett EL. The impact of HIV infection on recurrence of tuberculosis in South African gold miners. The international journal of tuberculosis and lung disease : the official journal of the International Union against Tuberculosis and Lung Disease. 2000;4(5):455-62.

199. Pulido F, Pena JM, Rubio R, Moreno S, Gonzalez J, Guijarro C, et al. Relapse of tuberculosis after treatment in human immunodeficiency virus-infected patients. Archives of internal medicine. 1997;157(2):227-32.

200. Ahmad Khan F, Minion J, Al-Motairi A, Benedetti A, Harries AD, Menzies D. An updated systematic review and meta-analysis on the treatment of active tuberculosis in patients with HIV infection. Clinical infectious diseases : an official publication of the Infectious Diseases Society of America. 2012;55(8):1154-63.

201. Perriens JH, St Louis ME, Mukadi YB, Brown C, Prignot J, Pouthier F, et al. Pulmonary tuberculosis in HIV-infected patients in Zaire. A controlled trial of treatment for either 6 or 12 months. The New England journal of medicine. 1995;332(12):779-84.

202. Mehta S, Mugusi FM, Bosch RJ, Aboud S, Urassa W, Villamor E, et al. Vitamin D status and TB treatment outcomes in adult patients in Tanzania: a cohort study. BMJ open. 2013;3(11):e003703.

203. Thomas A, Gopi PG, Santha T, Chandrasekaran V, Subramani R, Selvakumar N, et al. Predictors of relapse among pulmonary tuberculosis patients treated in a DOTS programme in South India. The international journal of tuberculosis and lung disease : the official journal of the International Union against Tuberculosis and Lung Disease. 2005;9(5):556-61.

204. Selassie AW, Pozsik C, Wilson D, Ferguson PL. Why pulmonary tuberculosis recurs: a population-based epidemiological study. Annals of epidemiology. 2005;15(7):519-25.

205. Khan A, Sterling TR, Reves R, Vernon A, Horsburgh CR. Lack of weight gain and relapse risk in a large tuberculosis treatment trial. American journal of respiratory and critical care medicine. 2006;174(3):344-8.

206. Chang KC, Leung CC, Yew WW, Ho SC, Tam CM. A nested case-control study on treatment-related risk factors for early relapse of tuberculosis. American journal of respiratory and critical care medicine. 2004;170(10):1124-30.

207. Hamilton CD, Stout JE, Goodman PC, Mosher A, Menzies R, Schluger NW, et al. The value of end-of-treatment chest radiograph in predicting pulmonary tuberculosis relapse. The international journal of tuberculosis and lung disease : the official journal of the International Union against Tuberculosis and Lung Disease. 2008;12(9):1059-64.

208. Menzies D, Benedetti A, Paydar A, Martin I, Royce S, Pai M, et al. Effect of duration and intermittency of rifampin on tuberculosis treatment outcomes: a systematic review and meta-analysis. PLoS medicine. 2009;6(9):e1000146.

209. Hang NT, Maeda S, Keicho N, Thuong PH, Endo H. Sublineages of Mycobacterium tuberculosis Beijing genotype strains and unfavorable outcomes of anti-tuberculosis treatment. Tuberculosis (Edinburgh, Scotland). 2015;95(3):336-42.

210. Horne DJ, Royce SE, Gooze L, Narita M, Hopewell PC, Nahid P, et al. Sputum monitoring during tuberculosis treatment for predicting outcome: systematic review and meta-analysis. The Lancet Infectious diseases. 2010;10(6):387-94.

211. Chen MY, Lo YC, Chen WC, Wang KF, Chan PC. Recurrence after Successful Treatment of Multidrug-Resistant Tuberculosis in Taiwan. PloS one. 2017;12(1):e0170980.

212. Franke MF, Appleton SC, Mitnick CD, Furin JJ, Bayona J, Chalco K, et al. Aggressive regimens for multidrug-resistant tuberculosis reduce recurrence. Clinical infectious diseases : an official publication of the Infectious Diseases Society of America. 2013;56(6):770-6.

213. Blondal K, Viiklepp P, Guethmundsson LJ, Altraja A. Predictors of recurrence of multidrug-resistant and extensively drug-resistant tuberculosis. The international journal of tuberculosis and lung disease : the official journal of the International Union against Tuberculosis and Lung Disease. 2012;16(9):1228-33.

214. Johnson JL, Okwera A, Vjecha MJ, Byekwaso F, Nakibali J, Nyole S, et al. Risk factors for relapse in human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infected adults with pulmonary tuberculosis. The international journal of tuberculosis and lung disease : the official journal of the International Union against Tuberculosis and Lung Disease. 1997;1(5):446-53.

215. Steininger WJ, Howard WL. A study of re-treatment cases vs original treatment cases of pulmonary tuberculosis. Diseases of the chest. 1959;35(5):480-93.

216. Hnizdo E, Singh T, Churchyard G. Chronic pulmonary function impairment caused by initial and recurrent pulmonary tuberculosis following treatment. Thorax. 2000;55(1):32-8.

217. Murray J, Sonnenberg P, Shearer SC, Godfrey-Faussett P. Human immunodeficiency virus and the outcome of treatment for new and recurrent pulmonary tuberculosis in African patients. American journal of respiratory and critical care medicine. 1999;159(3):733-40.

218. Marx FM, Dunbar R, Hesseling AC, Enarson DA, Fielding K, Beyers N. Increased risk of default among previously treated tuberculosis cases in the Western Cape Province, South Africa. The international journal of tuberculosis and lung disease : the official journal of the International Union against Tuberculosis and Lung Disease. 2012;16(8):1059-65.

219. Kim L, Moonan PK, Yelk Woodruff RS, Kammerer JS, Haddad MB. Epidemiology of recurrent tuberculosis in the United States, 1993-2010. The international journal of tuberculosis and lung disease : the official journal of the International Union against Tuberculosis and Lung Disease. 2013;17(3):357-60.

220. Caminero JA. Multidrug-resistant tuberculosis: epidemiology, risk factors and case finding. The international journal of tuberculosis and lung disease : the official journal of the International Union against Tuberculosis and Lung Disease. 2010;14(4):382-90.

221. Marks SM, Flood J, Seaworth B, Hirsch-Moverman Y, Armstrong L, Mase S, et al. Treatment practices, outcomes, and costs of multidrug-resistant and extensively drugresistant tuberculosis, United States, 2005-2007. Emerging infectious diseases. 2014;20(5):812-21.

222. Johnston JC, Khan FA, Dowdy DW. Reducing relapse in tuberculosis treatment: is it time to reassess WHO treatment guidelines? The international journal of tuberculosis and

lung disease : the official journal of the International Union against Tuberculosis and Lung Disease. 2015;19(6):624.

223. den Boon S, van Lill SW, Borgdorff MW, Enarson DA, Verver S, Bateman ED, et al. High prevalence of tuberculosis in previously treated patients, Cape Town, South Africa. Emerging infectious diseases. 2007;13(8):1189-94.

224. Arshad A, Salam RA, Lassi ZS, Das JK, Naqvi I, Bhutta ZA. Community based interventions for the prevention and control of tuberculosis. Infectious diseases of poverty. 2014;3:27.

225. Kranzer K, Afnan-Holmes H, Tomlin K, Golub JE, Shapiro AE, Schaap A, et al. The benefits to communities and individuals of screening for active tuberculosis disease: a systematic review. The international journal of tuberculosis and lung disease : the official journal of the International Union against Tuberculosis and Lung Disease. 2013;17(4):432-46.

226. Chaisson RE, Churchyard GJ. Recurrent tuberculosis: relapse, reinfection, and HIV. The Journal of infectious diseases. 2010;201(5):653-5.

227. Nahid P, Dorman SE, Alipanah N, Barry PM, Brozek JL, Cattamanchi A, et al. Official American Thoracic Society/Centers for Disease Control and Prevention/Infectious Diseases Society of America Clinical Practice Guidelines: Treatment of Drug-Susceptible Tuberculosis. Clinical infectious diseases : an official publication of the Infectious Diseases Society of America. 2016;63(7):e147-e95.

228. Welshman J. Tuberculosis and ethnicity in England and Wales 1950-1970. Sociology of Health and Illness. 2000;22(6):858-82.

229. Watson JM, Moss F. TB in Leicester: out of control, or just one of those things? BMJ (Clinical research ed). 2001;322(7295):1133-4.

230. O'Connor BD, Woltmann G, Patel H, Turapov O, Haldar P, Mukamolova GV. Can resuscitation-promoting factors be used to improve culture rates of extra-pulmonary tuberculosis? The international journal of tuberculosis and lung disease : the official journal of the International Union against Tuberculosis and Lung Disease. 2015;19(12):1556-7.

231. Office for National Statistics. Population Estimates for UK, England and Wales, Scotland and Northern Ireland, Mid-2014. London: ONS 2015.

232. Tuberculosis in the East Midlands: Annual review (2015 data). London, UK: Public Health England: East Midlands; 2016.

233. Office for National Statistics. Ethnic Group statistics: A Guide for the Collection and Classification of Ethnicity Data. London: ONS; 2009.

234. American Diabetes A. (2) Classification and diagnosis of diabetes. Diabetes care. 2015;38 Suppl:S8-S16.

235. National Kidney F. K/DOQI clinical practice guidelines for chronic kidney disease: evaluation, classification, and stratification. American journal of kidney diseases : the official journal of the National Kidney Foundation. 2002;39(2 Suppl 1):S1-266.

236. Van der Walt M, Lancaster J, Odendaal R, Davis JG, Shean K, Farley J. Serious treatment related adverse drug reactions amongst anti-retroviral naive MDR-TB patients. PloS one. 2013;8(4):e58817.

237. Common Terminology Criteria for Adverse Events v4.0 (CTCAE)2009. Available from: https://evs.nci.nih.gov/ftp1/CTCAE/CTCAE_4.03_2010-06-

14_QuickReference_5x7.pdf.

238. Supply P, Allix C, Lesjean S, Cardoso-Oelemann M, Rusch-Gerdes S, Willery E, et al. Proposal for standardization of optimized mycobacterial interspersed repetitive unit-variable-number tandem repeat typing of Mycobacterium tuberculosis. Journal of clinical microbiology. 2006;44(12):4498-510.

239. Bouhlila D, Sellaouti F. Multiple imputation using chained equations formissing data in TIMSS: a case study. Large-scale Assessments in Education. 2013;1(4):1-33.

240. Hosmer D, Lemeshow S, Sturdivant R. Applied logistic regression. 3rd Edition ed. New York: Wiley; 2013.

241. White IR, Royston P, Wood AM. Multiple imputation using chained equations: Issues and guidance for practice. Statistics in medicine. 2011;30(4):377-99.

242. Tu YK, Kellett M, Clerehugh V, Gilthorpe MS. Problems of correlations between explanatory variables in multiple regression analyses in the dental literature. British dental journal. 2005;199(7):457-61.

243. Darlington G. Collinearity. In: Armitage P, Colton T, editors. Encyclopedia of Biostatistics: John Wiley & Sons; 2005. p. 1080-1.

244. Yoo W, Mayberry R, Bae S, Singh K, Peter He Q, Lillard JW, Jr. A Study of Effects of MultiCollinearity in the Multivariable Analysis. International journal of applied science and technology. 2014;4(5):9-19.

245. Vandenbroucke JP, von Elm E, Altman DG, Gotzsche PC, Mulrow CD, Pocock SJ, et al. Strengthening the Reporting of Observational Studies in Epidemiology (STROBE): explanation and elaboration. PLoS medicine. 2007;4(10):e297.

246. Nunn AJ, Phillips PP, Mitchison DA. Timing of relapse in short-course chemotherapy trials for tuberculosis. The international journal of tuberculosis and lung disease : the official journal of the International Union against Tuberculosis and Lung Disease. 2010;14(2):241-2.

247. Leutscher P, Madsen G, Erlandsen M, Veirum J, Ladefoged K, Thomsen V, et al. Demographic and clinical characteristics in relation to patient and health system delays in a tuberculosis low-incidence country. Scandinavian journal of infectious diseases. 2012;44(1):29-36.

248. Rosser A, Marx FM, Pareek M. Recurrent tuberculosis in the pre-elimination era. The international journal of tuberculosis and lung disease : the official journal of the International Union against Tuberculosis and Lung Disease. 2018;22(2):139-50.

249. Uys PW, van Helden PD, Hargrove JW. Tuberculosis reinfection rate as a proportion of total infection rate correlates with the logarithm of the incidence rate: a mathematical model. Journal of the Royal Society, Interface / the Royal Society. 2009;6(30):11-5.

250. Martin A, Herranz M, Serrano MJ, Bouza E, Garcia de Viedma D. Rapid clonal analysis of recurrent tuberculosis by direct MIRU-VNTR typing on stored isolates. BMC microbiology. 2007;7:73.

251. Walker TM, Cruz ALG, Peto TE, Smith EG, Esmail H, Crook DW. Tuberculosis is changing. The Lancet Infectious diseases. 2017;17(4):359-61.

252. Herath S, Lewis C. Pulmonary involvement in patients presenting with extrapulmonary tuberculosis: thinking beyond a normal chest x-ray. Journal of primary health care. 2014;6(1):64-8.

253. Pareek M, Evans J, Innes J, Smith G, Hingley-Wilson S, Lougheed KE, et al. Ethnicity and mycobacterial lineage as determinants of tuberculosis disease phenotype. Thorax. 2013;68(3):221-9.

254. Kruijshaar ME, Abubakar I. Increase in extrapulmonary tuberculosis in England and Wales 1999-2006. Thorax. 2009;64(12):1090-5.

255. Ormerod LP, Green RM, Gray S. Are there still effects on Indian Subcontinent ethnic tuberculosis of return visits?: a longitudinal study 1978-97. The Journal of infection. 2001;43(2):132-4.
256. Moreno-Reyes R, Carpentier YA, Boelaert M, El Moumni K, Dufourny G,
Bazelmans C, et al. Vitamin D deficiency and hyperparathyroidism in relation to ethnicity:
a cross-sectional survey in healthy adults. European journal of nutrition. 2009;48(1):31-7.
257. Weishaar T, Rajan S, Keller B. Probability of Vitamin D Deficiency by Body
Weight and Race/Ethnicity. Journal of the American Board of Family Medicine : JABFM.
2016;29(2):226-32.

258. Nnoaham KE, Clarke A. Low serum vitamin D levels and tuberculosis: a systematic review and meta-analysis. International journal of epidemiology. 2008;37(1):113-9.

Zeng J, Wu G, Yang W, Gu X, Liang W, Yao Y, et al. A serum vitamin D level
<25nmol/l pose high tuberculosis risk: a meta-analysis. PloS one. 2015;10(5):e0126014.
Huyen MN, Buu TN, Tiemersma E, Lan NT, Dung NH, Kremer K, et al.
Tuberculosis relapse in Vietnam is significantly associated with Mycobacterium tuberculosis Beijing genotype infections. The Journal of infectious diseases.
2013;207(10):1516-24.

261. Kumar K, Raza K, Nightingale P, Horne R, Chapman S, Greenfield S, et al. Determinants of adherence to disease modifying anti-rheumatic drugs in White British and South Asian patients with rheumatoid arthritis: a cross sectional study. BMC musculoskeletal disorders. 2015;16:396.

262. Chong E, Wang H, King-Shier KM, Quan H, Rabi DM, Khan NA. Prescribing patterns and adherence to medication among South-Asian, Chinese and white people with type 2 diabetes mellitus: a population-based cohort study. Diabetic medicine : a journal of the British Diabetic Association. 2014;31(12):1586-93.

263. Szczepura A. Access to health care for ethnic minority populations. Postgraduate medical journal. 2005;81(953):141-7.

264. Tuberculosis in England: 2015 Report. London: Public Health England; 2015.
265. Leung CC, Yew WW, Chan CK, Chang KC, Law WS, Lee SN, et al. Smoking adversely affects treatment response, outcome and relapse in tuberculosis. The European respiratory journal. 2015;45(3):738-45.

266. O'Leary SM, Coleman MM, Chew WM, Morrow C, McLaughlin AM, Gleeson LE, et al. Cigarette smoking impairs human pulmonary immunity to Mycobacterium tuberculosis. American journal of respiratory and critical care medicine. 2014;190(12):1430-6.

267. Jeyashree K, Kathirvel S, Shewade HD, Kaur H, Goel S. Smoking cessation interventions for pulmonary tuberculosis treatment outcomes. The Cochrane database of systematic reviews. 2016;1(1):CD011125.

268. Menzin J, Lines LM, Marton J. Estimating the short-term clinical and economic benefits of smoking cessation: do we have it right? Expert review of pharmacoeconomics & outcomes research. 2009;9(3):257-64.

269. Awofeso N. Anti-tuberculosis medication side-effects constitute major factor for poor adherence to tuberculosis treatment. Bulletin of the World Health Organization. 2008;86(3):B-d.

270. Panjabi R, Comstock GW, Golub JE. Recurrent tuberculosis and its risk factors: adequately treated patients are still at high risk. The international journal of tuberculosis and lung disease : the official journal of the International Union against Tuberculosis and Lung Disease. 2007;11(8):828-37.

271. Shin SS, Pasechnikov AD, Gelmanova IY, Peremitin GG, Strelis AK, Mishustin S, et al. Adverse reactions among patients being treated for MDR-TB in Tomsk, Russia. The international journal of tuberculosis and lung disease : the official journal of the International Union against Tuberculosis and Lung Disease. 2007;11(12):1314-20.

272. Zumla A, Malon P, Henderson J, Grange JM. Impact of HIV infection on tuberculosis. Postgraduate medical journal. 2000;76(895):259-68.

273. Jick SS, Lieberman ES, Rahman MU, Choi HK. Glucocorticoid use, other associated factors, and the risk of tuberculosis. Arthritis and rheumatism. 2006;55(1):19-26.

274. Brode SK, Jamieson FB, Ng R, Campitelli MA, Kwong JC, Paterson JM, et al. Increased risk of mycobacterial infections associated with anti-rheumatic medications. Thorax. 2015;70(7):677-82.

275. Ai JW, Zhang S, Ruan QL, Yu YQ, Zhang BY, Liu QH, et al. The Risk of Tuberculosis in Patients with Rheumatoid Arthritis Treated with Tumor Necrosis Factoralpha Antagonist: A Metaanalysis of Both Randomized Controlled Trials and Registry/Cohort Studies. The Journal of rheumatology. 2015;42(12):2229-37.

276. Masia M, Martinez M, Garcia-Sepulcre MF, Saez J, Gutierrez F. Recurrence of active tuberculosis following resumption of anti-TNF-alpha therapy in a patient with Crohn's disease. The international journal of tuberculosis and lung disease : the official journal of the International Union against Tuberculosis and Lung Disease. 2014;18(2):249-50.

277. Mukhopadhyay C, Garg A, Ayyagari A. First documented cure of a suggestive exogenous reinfection in polymyositis with same but multidrug resistant M. tuberculosis. BMC infectious diseases. 2004;4(1):63.

278. Park YS, Choi JY, Cho CH, Chang KH, Song YG, Kim YS, et al. Clinical outcomes of tuberculosis in renal transplant recipients. Yonsei medical journal. 2004;45(5):865-72.

279. He Y. Missing data analysis using multiple imputation: getting to the heart of the matter. Circulation Cardiovascular quality and outcomes. 2010;3(1):98-105.

280. Azur MJ, Stuart Ea Fau - Frangakis C, Frangakis C Fau - Leaf PJ, Leaf PJ. Multiple imputation by chained equations: what is it and how does it work? (1557-0657 (Electronic)).

281. Copeland KT, Checkoway H, McMichael AJ, Holbrook RH. Bias due to misclassification in the estimation of relative risk. American journal of epidemiology. 1977;105(5):488-95.

282. Kostman JR, Rush P, Reginato AJ. Granulomatous tophaceous gout mimicking tuberculous tenosynovitis: report of two cases. Clinical infectious diseases : an official publication of the Infectious Diseases Society of America. 1995;21(1):217-9.

283. Kruijshaar ME, Abubakar I, Dedicoat M, Bothamley GH, Maguire H, Moore J, et al. Evidence for a national problem: continued rise in tuberculosis case numbers in urban areas outside London. Thorax. 2012;67(3):275-7.

284. Ong CW, Elkington PT, Friedland JS. Tuberculosis, pulmonary cavitation, and matrix metalloproteinases. American journal of respiratory and critical care medicine. 2014;190(1):9-18.

285. Riza AL, Pearson F, Ugarte-Gil C, Alisjahbana B, van de Vijver S, Panduru NM, et al. Clinical management of concurrent diabetes and tuberculosis and the implications for patient services. The lancet Diabetes & endocrinology. 2014;2(9):740-53.

286. Cailhol J, Decludt B, Che D. Sociodemographic factors that contribute to the development of extrapulmonary tuberculosis were identified. Journal of clinical epidemiology. 2005;58(10):1066-71.

287. Yang Z, Kong Y, Wilson F, Foxman B, Fowler AH, Marrs CF, et al. Identification of risk factors for extrapulmonary tuberculosis. Clinical infectious diseases : an official publication of the Infectious Diseases Society of America. 2004;38(2):199-205.

288. Sreeramareddy CT, Panduru KV, Verma SC, Joshi HS, Bates MN. Comparison of pulmonary and extrapulmonary tuberculosis in Nepal- a hospital-based retrospective study. BMC infectious diseases. 2008;8:8.

289. Shivakoti R, Sharma D, Mamoon G, Pham K. Association of HIV infection with extrapulmonary tuberculosis: a systematic review. Infection. 2017;45(1):11-21.

290. Pareek M, Innes J, Sridhar S, Grass L, Connell D, Woltmann G, et al. Vitamin D deficiency and TB disease phenotype. Thorax. 2015;70(12):1171-80.

291. Sandgren A, Hollo V, van der Werf MJ. Extrapulmonary tuberculosis in the European Union and European Economic Area, 2002 to 2011. Euro surveillance : bulletin Europeen sur les maladies transmissibles = European communicable disease bulletin. 2013;18(12).

292. The End TB Strategy: Global strategy and targets for tuberculosis prevention, care and control after 2015. Geneva: World Health Organisation; 2013.

293. Moon MS, Kim SS, Moon YW, Moon H, Kim SS. Surgery-related complications and sequelae in management of tuberculosis of spine. Asian spine journal. 2014;8(4):435-45.

294. Cho YH, Ho TS, Wang SM, Shen CF, Chuang PK, Liu CC. Childhood tuberculosis in southern Taiwan, with emphasis on central nervous system complications. Journal of microbiology, immunology, and infection = Wei mian yu gan ran za zhi. 2014;47(6):503-11.

295. Porkert MT, Sotir M, Parrott-Moore P, Blumberg HM. Tuberculous meningitis at a large inner-city medical center. The American journal of the medical sciences. 1997;313(6):325-31.

296. Yasar KK, Pehlivanoglu F, Sengoz G. Predictors of mortality in tuberculous meningitis: a multivariate analysis of 160 cases. The international journal of tuberculosis and lung disease : the official journal of the International Union against Tuberculosis and Lung Disease. 2010;14(10):1330-5.

297. Chakravorty S, Sen MK, Tyagi JS. Diagnosis of extrapulmonary tuberculosis by smear, culture, and PCR using universal sample processing technology. Journal of clinical microbiology. 2005;43(9):4357-62.

298. Singh S, Dey B, Sachdeva KS, Kabra SK, Chopra KK, Chaudhary VK, et al. Challenges in tuberculosis diagnosis and management: recommendations of the expert panel. Journal of laboratory physicians. 2015;7(1):1-3.

299. McNerney R, Cunningham J, Hepple P, Zumla A. New tuberculosis diagnostics and rollout. International journal of infectious diseases : IJID : official publication of the International Society for Infectious Diseases. 2015;32:81-6.

300. Asmar S, Drancourt M. Rapid culture-based diagnosis of pulmonary tuberculosis in developed and developing countries. Frontiers in microbiology. 2015;6:1184.

301. Maynard-Smith L, Larke N, Peters JA, Lawn SD. Diagnostic accuracy of the Xpert MTB/RIF assay for extrapulmonary and pulmonary tuberculosis when testing non-respiratory samples: a systematic review. BMC infectious diseases. 2014;14:709.

302. Tsara V, Serasli E, Christaki P. Problems in diagnosis and treatment of tuberculosis infection. Hippokratia. 2009;13(1):20-2.

303. Hayer KS, Sitch AJ, Dedicoat M, Wood AL. Culture confirmation of tuberculosis cases in Birmingham, UK. Scandinavian journal of infectious diseases. 2013;45(10):746-51.

304. Kidenya BR, Kabangila R, Peck RN, Mshana SE, Webster LE, Koenig SP, et al. Early and efficient detection of Mycobacterium tuberculosis in sputum by microscopic observation of broth cultures. PloS one. 2013;8(2):e57527.

305. Al-Nakeeb Z, Gupta V, Bell C, Woodhead M. Are we missing opportunities to confirm the diagnosis of tuberculosis by microbial culture? Respiratory medicine. 2013;107(12):2022-8.

306. Mukamolova GV, Turapov OA, Young DI, Kaprelyants AS, Kell DB, Young M. A family of autocrine growth factors in Mycobacterium tuberculosis. Molecular microbiology. 2002;46(3):623-35.

307. Cohen-Gonsaud M, Barthe P, Bagneris C, Henderson B, Ward J, Roumestand C, et al. The structure of a resuscitation-promoting factor domain from Mycobacterium tuberculosis shows homology to lysozymes. Nature structural & molecular biology. 2005;12(3):270-3.

308. Mukamolova GV, Murzin AG, Salina EG, Demina GR, Kell DB, Kaprelyants AS, et al. Muralytic activity of Micrococcus luteus Rpf and its relationship to physiological activity in promoting bacterial growth and resuscitation. Molecular microbiology. 2006;59(1):84-98.

309. Turapov O, O'Connor BD, Sarybaeva AA, Williams C, Patel H, Kadyrov AS, et al. Phenotypically Adapted Mycobacterium tuberculosis Populations from Sputum Are Tolerant to First-Line Drugs. Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy. 2016;60(4):2476-83.

310. Hu Y, Liu A, Ortega-Muro F, Alameda-Martin L, Mitchison D, Coates A. Highdose rifampicin kills persisters, shortens treatment duration, and reduces relapse rate in vitro and in vivo. Frontiers in microbiology. 2015;6:641.

311. Vasanthakumari R, Jagannath K, Rajasekaran S. A cold staining method for acidfast bacilli. Bulletin of the World Health Organization. 1986;64(5):741-3.

312. Blodgett R. BAM Appendix 2: Most Probable Number from Serial Dilutions2010. Available from:

http://www.fda.gov/Food/FoodScienceResearch/LaboratoryMethods/ucm109656.htm. 313. El-Hajj HH, Marras SA, Tyagi S, Kramer FR, Alland D. Detection of rifampin resistance in Mycobacterium tuberculosis in a single tube with molecular beacons. Journal of clinical microbiology. 2001;39(11):4131-7.

314. Weniger T, Krawczyk J, Supply P, Niemann S, Harmsen D. MIRU-VNTRplus: a web tool for polyphasic genotyping of Mycobacterium tuberculosis complex bacteria. Nucleic acids research. 2010;38(Web Server issue):W326-31.

315. Vadwai V, Boehme C, Nabeta P, Shetty A, Alland D, Rodrigues C. Xpert MTB/RIF: a new pillar in diagnosis of extrapulmonary tuberculosis? Journal of clinical microbiology. 2011;49(7):2540-5.

316. Lee EC, Whitehead AL, Jacques RM, Julious SA. The statistical interpretation of pilot trials: should significance thresholds be reconsidered? BMC medical research methodology. 2014;14:41.

317. Bossuyt PM, Reitsma JB, Bruns DE, Gatsonis CA, Glasziou PP, Irwig LM, et al. Towards complete and accurate reporting of studies of diagnostic accuracy: the STARD initiative. BMJ (Clinical research ed). 2003;326(7379):41-4.

318. Turapov O, Glenn S, Kana B, Makarov V, Andrew PW, Mukamolova GV. The in vivo environment accelerates generation of resuscitation-promoting factor-dependent mycobacteria. American journal of respiratory and critical care medicine. 2014;190(12):1455-7.

319. Manina G, Dhar N, McKinney JD. Stress and host immunity amplify Mycobacterium tuberculosis phenotypic heterogeneity and induce nongrowing metabolically active forms. Cell host & microbe. 2015;17(1):32-46.

320. Babyak MA. What you see may not be what you get: a brief, nontechnical introduction to overfitting in regression-type models. Psychosomatic medicine. 2004;66(3):411-21.

321. Leung CC, Yew WW, Mok TYW, Lau KS, Wong CF, Chau CH, et al. Effects of diabetes mellitus on the clinical presentation and treatment response in tuberculosis. Respirology (Carlton, Vic). 2017;22(6):1225-32.

322. Leung CC, Yew WW, Chan CK, Chang KC, Law WS, Lee SN, et al. Smoking adversely affects treatment response, outcome and relapse in tuberculosis. The European respiratory journal. 2014.

323. Yew WW, Leung CC, Zhang Y. Oxidative stress and TB outcomes in patients with diabetes mellitus? The Journal of antimicrobial chemotherapy. 2017;72(6):1552-5.

324. Impute missing values using chained equations. 2013 [cited 28th of December 2015]. In: Stata 13 Base Reference Manual [Internet]. College Station, Texas, USA: Stata Press, [cited 28th of December 2015]. Available from:

http://www.stata.com/manuals13/mimiimputechained.pdf.